Old Dominion University ODU Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations in Biomedical Sciences

College of Sciences

Winter 2008

Gene Therapy Using Tet-Repressor System to Modulate Prostate Tumor Microenvironment

Nazita Yousefieh Old Dominion University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/biomedicalsciences_etds Part of the <u>Cell Biology Commons</u>, <u>Medical Immunology Commons</u>, and the <u>Molecular Biology</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Yousefieh, Nazita. "Gene Therapy Using Tet-Repressor System to Modulate Prostate Tumor Microenvironment" (2008). Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), dissertation, , Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/bx7h-4w96 https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/biomedicalsciences_etds/93

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Sciences at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations in Biomedical Sciences by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

GENE THERAPY USING TET-REPRESSOR SYSTEM TO

MODULATE PROSTATE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

by

Nazita Yousefieh M.S. December 1999, Middle Eastern Technical School, Ankara, Turkey B.S. May 1993, Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Eastern Virginia Medical School in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY and EASTERN VIRGINIA MEDICAL SCHOOL December 2008

Approved by:

Richard P. Ciavarra (Director)

Julie A. Kerry (Member)

Richard R. Drake (Member)

Neel K. Krishna (Member)

ABSTRACT

GENE THERAPY USING TET-REPRESSOR SYSTEM TO MODULATE PROSTATE CANCER MICROENVIRONMENT

Nazita Yousefieh Eastern Virginia Medical School and Old Dominion University, 2008 Director: Dr. Richard P. Ciavarra

Prostate cancer is the most commonly diagnosed malignancy in men in the United States and is projected to be the third most frequent cause of male cancer-related deaths in 2007 after lung and skin cancers. The initial treatment for prostate cancer at early stages is prostatectomy or radiation, which usually is curative. However, approximately 20% of patients are not cured by such treatments and their cancer recurs, sometimes with long latencies. In other patients prostate cancer is diagnosed only after the cancer has metastasized and there are no effective therapies at this stage. Therefore immunotherapy seems to be a promising approach to treat metastatic prostate cancer through enhancing tumor-specific T cell responses. In this regard, there is a growing interest in the generation of fully competent dendritic cells (DCs) that are known to be potent antigen presenting cells and capable of activating naïve T cells. While DCs need to acquire a mature phenotype to induce T cell activation, it is known that the microenvironment of many tumors including prostate tumors is immunosuppressive and prevents DC maturation. We used the transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate (TRAMP) model to show that DCs infiltrating

prostate tumors are phenotypically immature and using an *in vitro* assay we showed that TRAMPC2 cells but not granulocytes are the major inducers of this phenotype. We used a well-defined orthotopic prostate cancer model to study chemokine/cytokine vaccines. Expression of secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine (SLC), granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) or CD40 ligand (CD40L) in the TRAMP tumor microenvironment (TME) was chosen to induce co-localization of T cells and DCs and their interaction, expand DCs and induce their maturation. In order to make a clinically relevant model in this study we took advantage of the tetracycline inducible expression system that enabled us to control the expression of the chemokines and cytokines during the course of study. We showed that expression of SLC in the TRAMP TME inhibited tumor growth, decreased metastasis and increased survival of tumor bearing mice. Although CD40L transfected TRAMPC2 cells did not grow in vivo and GM-CSF transfected TRAMPC2 cells failed to grow tumors after *in vitro* passages, using *in vitro* assays we showed that these molecules reversed the inhibition of DC maturation induced by TRAMPC2 cells.

This dissertation is dedicated to my daughter, Mona Hosseini. The big smiles on her beautiful face and her love are never ending and she is the motivation that kept me going. May this dissertation and the effort required to complete it serve as motivation for her own future academic and life endeavors, whatever they may

be.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research project would not have been possible without the support of many people. I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. Richard P. Ciavarra who was abundantly helpful and offered invaluable assistance, support and guidance. Deepest gratitude are also due to the members of my guidance committee, Drs. Julie Kerry, Richard Drake and Neel Krishna without whose knowledge and assistance this study would not have been successful. Special thanks to Dr. Julie Kerry who was always ready to help me with my personal or scientific problems.

I wish to express my love and gratitude to my beloved husband, Dr. Alireza Hosseini and my daughter, Mona Hosseini; for their understanding & endless love, through the duration of my studies.

I would like to thank all my family members and specifically my dear sister, Gita Eslami. She was always there for my daughter and me and helped me to take care of my daughter whenever I needed.

Finally, my special thanks also to all my friends at EVMS, for their continuing support and help in many different ways.

۷

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF TABLES | x |
|-----------------|----|
| | |
| LIST OF FIGURES | xi |

CHAPTER

| I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND | 1 |
|---|-------------------|
| AVAILABLE THERAPIES FOR PROSTATE CANCER | 2 |
| CANCER AND IMMUNOTHERAPY | 2 |
| CLINICAL TRIALS FOR CANCER GENE THERAPY | 5 |
| CHEMOKINES AND CYTOKINES IN THE TREATMENT OF CANCER | 8 |
| ROLE OF T CELLS IN THE TREATMENT OF CANCER | 10 |
| BIOLOGY AND DIFFERENT SUBSETS OF DENDRITIC CELLS AND | |
| THEIR ROLE IN T CELL ACTIVATION | 15 |
| DENDRITIC CELLS IN CANCER | 21 |
| TETRACYCLINE INDUCIBLE MAMMALIAN EXPRESSION SYSTEM | 29 |
| THE TRANSGENIC ADENOCARCINOMA OF MOUSE PROSTATE | |
| (TRAMP) MODEL | 34 |
| ORTHOTOPIC MODEL OF PROSTATE CANCER AND FLT3-L | |
| THERAPY | 35 |
| FLT3-L THERAPY CAUSES REGRESSION OF TRAMPC1P3 TUMOR | |
| IN MICE | 37 |
| | 11 |
| | .41 |
| | <u>4</u> 2 12 |
| SPECIFIC AIM 2 | <u>+</u> 2 //3 |
| SPECIFIC AIM 3 | . 40 |
| | |
| III. MATERIALS AND METHODS | 45 |
| CELL AND CULTURE CONDITIONS | 45 |
| GENERATION OF SUBCUTANEOUS AND INTRA-PROSTATIC | |
| TUMORS | 45 |
| EXCISION AND PROCESSING OF TRAMP TUMORS | 46 |
| FICOLL-HYPAQUE GRADIENT SEPARATION OF TUMOR | |
| INFILTRATING LEUKOCYTES (TILS) | .47 |
| PREPARATION OF SPLENIC CELLS | .47 |
| STAINING FOR FLOW CYTOMETRY | .48 |
| ISOLATION AND PURIFICATION OF GR-1 ⁺ CELLS | .49 |
| MAGNETIC LABELING: | .50 |

vii

| MAGNETIC SEPARATION | 51 |
|---|----|
| DENDRITIC CELL ENRICHMENT USING NYCODENZ | 51 |
| IN VITRO CO-CULTURE ASSAY | 52 |
| GENERATION OF TETRACYCLINE INDUCIBLE EXPRESSION | |
| VECTORS | 52 |
| TRANSFECTION OF TRAMPC TUMOR CELLS | 56 |
| CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY | 57 |
| IDENTIFICATION OF TRAMPC2/TR/CYTOKINE CLONES THAT | |
| INDUCIBLY EXPRESSED THE CYTOKINE | 58 |
| ENZYME-LINKED IMMUNOSORBENT ASSAY (ELISA) | 58 |
| FLOW CYTOMETRY | 59 |
| METHYLATION ASSAY | 59 |
| GM-CSF ELISPOT | 60 |
| DETECTION OF METASTATIC DISEASE | 60 |
| FLOW CYTOMETRIC ANALYSIS OF DNA CONTENT | 61 |
| PERCOLL GRADIENT CENTRIFUGATION | 61 |
| STATISTICAL ANALYSIS | 62 |

| IV. RESULTS | .63 |
|---|-----|
| TO INVESTIGATE THE PHENOTYPE AND FUNCTIONAL STATUS | |
| OF DENDRITIC CELLS INFILTRATING TRAMPC2 PROSTATE | |
| TUMOR IN VIVO AND AFTER EX VIVO CULTURE | .63 |
| PHENOTYPIC ANALYSIS OF DENDRITIC CELLS IN THE TRAMPC2 | |
| TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT | .63 |
| ENRICHMENT OF DENDRITIC CELLS THROUGH ADHERENCE | .67 |
| ENRICHMENT OF DENDRITIC CELLS USING NYCODENZ | |
| GRADIENT CENTRIFUGATION | .69 |
| ENRICHMENT OF DENDRITIC CELLS USING PERCOLL GRADIENT | |
| CENTRIFUGATION | .71 |
| TRAMPC2 CELLS MEDIATE DENDRITIC CELLS IMMATURE | |
| PHENOTYPE | |
| IN VITRO | .73 |
| IMMATURE PHENOTYPE OF DENDRITIC CELLS INDUCED BY | |
| TRAMPC2 CELLS IS CONTACT MEDIATED IN VITRO | .77 |
| GRANULOCYTES DO NOT INDUCE THE IMMATURE PHENOTYPE | |
| OF DENDRITIC CELLS | .80 |
| EVALUATION OF SLC, GMCSF AND CD40L TO INDUCE | |
| DENDRITIC CELL MATURATION IN VITRO USING TRAMPC2 CELL | |
| LINES EXPRESSING THESE CHEMOKINE/CYTOKINES | 82 |
| INDUCTION OF DNENDRITIC CELL MATURATION BY LPS | 83 |

| GENERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF STABLY | |
|---|-----|
| TRANSFECTED TRAMPC1P3 CELLS WITH REGULATED | |
| TRANSGENE EXPRESSION | .87 |
| GENERATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF STABLY | |
| TRANSFECTED TRAMPC1P3 CELLS WITH THE REPRESSOR AND | |
| SLC EXPRESSION VECTORS | .89 |
| ISOLATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF TRANSFECTED | |
| TETRACYCLINE INDUCIBLE TRAMPC2 CLONES WITH HIGH SLC | |
| PRODUCTION IN VITRO | .96 |
| SECONDARY LYMPHOID TISSUE CHEMOKINE SECRETED BY | |
| TRAMPC2 CELLS DOES NOT INDUCE DENDRITIC CELL | |
| MATURATION IN VITRO | .99 |
| ISOLATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF TRANSFECTED | |
| TRAMPC2 CLONES WITH HIGH AND STABLE PRODUCTION OF | |
| CD40L INDUCIBLE WITH TETRACYCLINE IN VITRO1 | 02 |
| CD40L SECRETED BY TRAMPC2 CELLS REVERSED | |
| PREVENTION OF DENDRITIC CELL MATURATION INDUCED BY | |
| TUMOR CELLS IN VITRO1 | 04 |
| ISOLATION AND CHARACTERIZATION OF TRANSFECTED | |
| TRAMPC2 CLONES WITH HIGH AND STABLE AND INDUCIBLE | |
| PRODUCTION OF GM-CSF IN VITRO1 | 07 |
| GRANULOCYTE MACROPHAGE-COLONY STIMULATING | |
| FACTOR SECRETED BY TRAMPC2 CELLS REVERSED | |
| DOWN-REGULATION OF DENDRITIC CELL MATURATION | |
| MARKERS INDUCED BY TUMOR CELLS IN VITRO1 | 09 |
| TO CHARACTERIZE THE TUMOR INFILTRATING LEUKOCYTES | |
| (TILS) IN THE TRAMPC TUMOR EXPRESSING SLC, CD40L OR | |
| GMCSF IN VIVO AND TO EVALUATE THE EFFICACY OF | |
| EXPRESSION OF THESE GENES IN THE TUMOR | |
| MICROENVIRONMENT TO ERADICATE RESIDUAL PROSTATE1 | 12 |
| IN VIVO GROWTH OF TRAMPC1P3 CELLS EXPRESSING THE | |
| REPRESSOR PROTEIN1 | 13 |
| IN VIVO GROWTH OF TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF CLONES | 16 |
| GROWTH CHARACTERISTICS OF A TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L CLONE | |
| <i>IN VIVO</i> 1 | 20 |
| GROWTH CHARACTERISTICS OF SLC-TRANSFECTED TRAMPC2 | ~ ~ |
| TUMOR CELLS INJECTED SUBCUTANEOUSLY | 20 |
| GROWTH CHARACTERISTICS OF TRAMPC2/TR/SLC TUMOR | |
| CELLS FOLLOWING ORTHOTOPIC IMPLANTATION INTO THE | • • |
| MOUSE PROSTATE GLAND1 | 26 |

| IMPACT OF ANTIBIOTIC SELECTION ON TET-INDUCED PRODUCTION OF SLC IMPACT OF SLC PRODUCTION ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ORTHOTOPIC AND METASTATIC PROSTATE TUMORS CHARACTERIZATION OF THE CELLULAR INFILTRATE IN TUMORS THAT EXPRESSED SLC FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT OF THE PROMOTER (CMV) OF THE EXOGENOUS SLC GENE. | . 129 . 131 . 136 . 141 |
|---|----------------------------------|
| V. DISCUSSION | .150 |
| GENE SILENCING THROUGH PROMOTER METHYLATION IN THE | .150 |
| TRANSFECTED CELLS | .154 |
| VIVO AND IN VITRO | .156 |
| | . 158 |
| METASTASIS IN THE MURINE PROSTATE CANCER MODEL | .160 |
| VI. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS | .165 |
| REFERENCES | . 170 |
| APPENDICES A ADDITIONAL REAGENTS | 180 |
| B. ANTIBODIES. | .190 |
| VITA | . 191 |

I

ł

LIST OF TABLES

| Fable | |
|--|-----|
| 1. Restriction enzymes used to determine the ligation of SLC, GMCSF and CD40L into the pcDNA4/TO vector | 55 |
| 2. Five cell lines developed from 20 TRAMPC2/TR/SLC subcutaneous tumors that have small SLC induction after passage <i>in vivo</i> | 122 |
| Frequency of lymph node, lung and pancreas metastasis in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 orthotopic tumor bearing mice treated with doxycycline. | 147 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Fig | jure Page |
|-----|--|
| 1. | Tetracycline inducible expression system |
| 2. | Phenotypic characterization of TRAMPC2 tumor infiltrating DCs66 |
| 3. | Enrichment of DCs through adherence68 |
| 4. | Nycodenz gradient centrifugation enriched for splenic but not tumor- infiltrating dendritic cells70 |
| 5. | Efficacy of dendritic cell enrichment by discontinuous Percoll gradient centrifugation |
| 6. | TRAMPC2 cells partially induce the immature phenotype of tumor infiltrating DCs76 |
| 7. | TRAMPC2 cells prevented maturation of DCs <i>in vitro</i> mainly through direct contact |
| 8. | Granulocytes did not induce immature phenotype of DCs in vitro |
| 9. | Induction of DC maturation by lipopolysaccaride in vitro |
| 10. | Immature DCs in contact with TRAMPC2 cells can still undergo maturation86 |
| 11. | Expression of tetracycline repressor protein in transfected TRAMPC1P3 tumor cells |
| 12. | Expansion of TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC cells <i>in vitro</i> is associated with loss of tet-inducible expression of SLC91 |
| 13. | Loss of tet-inducible expression in subclones derived from TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC cells |
| 14. | Loss of the SLC gene in transfected TRAMPC1P3 cells during expansion in vitro |
| 15. | TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cells maintain regulated expression of SLC in vitro98 |
| 16. | Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine does not induce DC maturation101 |
| 17. | Tet-inducible regulation of CD40-ligand expression in transfected TRAMPC2 cells103 |

Figure

Page

| 18. | Inhibition of DC maturation by TRAMPC2 cells is reversed when CD40L expressed by TRAMPC2 cells <i>in vitro</i> 10 |)6 |
|-----|--|----|
| 19. | Tetracycline-regulated production of GM-CSF in TRAMPC2 tumor cells co- transfected with repressor and GM-CSF vectors |)8 |
| 20. | GM-CSF secreted by TRAMPC2 cells reverses down-regulation of DC maturation markers induced by tumor cells <i>in vitro</i> 11 | 11 |
| 21. | Detection of repressor protein in TRAMPC1P3/TR cells after long-term growth <i>in vivo</i> 11 | 15 |
| 22. | Diminished tet-regulated expression of GM-CSF following intraprostatic growth of TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells11 | 17 |
| 23. | Evidence that TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells lose or silence the GM-CSF gene during clonal expansion11 | 19 |
| 24. | In vivo growth of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones is associated with reduced induction of SLC | 23 |
| 25. | Antibiotics selection increased SLC induction level of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC outgrowth cell lines | 25 |
| 26. | Tet-induced regulation of SLC in TRAMP/TR/SLC tumor cells following orthotopic implantation and growth12 | 28 |
| 27. | Enhanced tet-induced expression following intraprostatic outgrowth TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines following antibiotic selection | 30 |
| 28. | Schematic presentation of the <i>in vivo</i> experiments performed using TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L213 | 32 |
| 29. | Expression of SLC in the prostate tumor microenvironment inhibits tumor growth | 33 |
| 30. | Representative tet-inducible secretion of SLC in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clonal lines derived from tumors exposed to doxycycline <i>in vivo</i> | 35 |
| 31. | Characterization of host cells infiltrating TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors treated with doxycycline | 38 |
| 32. | Characterization of host cells infiltrating TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors treated with doxycycline14 | ŀ0 |

| Figure | Page |
|--|------|
| 33. Detection of SLC gene in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors and methylation status of CMV promoter following growth <i>in vivo</i> . | 143 |
| 34. Inducible expression of SLC in the tumor microenvironment enhances survival in mice bearing orthotopic prostate tumors | 145 |
| 35. SLC does not inhibit growth of established TRAMPC2 tumor | 149 |

.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Metastasis is a fatal step in the progression of cancer, with death from metastases representing 90% of all human cancer mortalities (1). Most cancer patients die from metastases rather than from their primary tumors. Metastasis to lymph nodes, bone and other tissues is a drastic consequence of late diagnosis of prostate cancer. Patients usually die from metastatic disease complications and available treatments for metastatic prostate cancer are not curative. Therefore new and more effective treatments are required for late-stage prostate cancer. Immunotherapy provides a promising systemic approach to treat metastatic prostate cancer. The rationale for using the host immune system to fight prostate cancer is based upon cases of spontaneous remissions of various cancers (2). However, the existence of cancer in a host with an intact immune systems demonstrate the inefficiency of this natural defense against tumors and the ability of cancer cells to evade immune surveillance and rejection. The major objective of immunotherapeutic approaches to prostate cancer therapy is to augment the anti-tumor immune responses against malignant tissues. Studies in a well-characterized preclinical animal model will provide a valuable opportunity

The journal model for this dissertation is the Journal of Experimental Medicine.

1

to explore the efficacy of specific cytokines to modify the tumor microenvironment (TME) and promote the induction of anti-tumor immunity.

Available therapies for prostate cancer

Prostate cancer is the second most common cancer after lung cancer in men in the United States. The American Cancer Society estimates that 218,890 men will be diagnosed with prostate cancer and 27,050 will die from the disease during 2007. Mortality rates for prostate cancer have declined since the early 1990s mostly due to improvements in detection and diagnosis through widespread use of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) testing. For localized prostate cancer, available treatments include surgery and radiotherapy. Unfortunately, up to 30%-40% of patients fail local therapy and later suffer from metastatic disease. The standard of care for patients failing primary therapy is hormone therapy but the majority of patients eventually become hormone refractory (3). Treatments in these cases are limited to aggressive chemotherapies, which can reduce serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA) levels in some patients. However, taxane- and platinum-compound-based chemotherapies produce a survival benefit of only a few months (4). Therefore, it is crucial to develop novel, well-tolerated treatment strategies.

Cancer and Immunotherapy

As a potential treatment for cancer, immunotherapy was initially experimented in the 19th century by William Cohen, who made the observation that in rare cases of spontaneous tumor regression, the patients often suffered from episodes of infections (5). Coley had limited success in attempting to mobilize the body's immune system through the injection of bacterial extracts. However, the concept of treating cancer with the immune system seemed very appealing. This approach has the potential to generate a sustained potent immune response against cancer to prevent disease recurrence. One of the very first vaccination attempts against cancer was activation of the immune system using a bacterial infection. In a very large clinical trail, melanoma patients were treated with bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG). This treatment caused regression of tumors in some patients but no significant difference in overall survival was observed between BCG treated and control group (6).

The next generation of cancer vaccines used cancer cell lysates or cultured cancer cell supernatants that induced a more specific immune response against tumor antigens (7-9). Melanoma patients injected with whole cell lysate of melanoma cell lines showed higher antibody titer against a known melanoma antigen (the ganglioside GM2) than control individuals (9). This study also suggested that melanoma recurrence was delayed in patients developing higher titers of GM2 antibody (9).

It was only in the last 1-2 decades that the molecular nature of antigens recognized by T cells became known (10, 11) and many tumor antigens were identified (12). T cells recognize short peptides in association with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. The presentation of these peptides at the tumor cell surface follows the classical pathways of antigen processing: peptides presented to cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) by MHC class I molecules are derived from intracellular proteins degraded by the proteasome, whereas, peptides presented to CD4⁺ T cells by MHC class II molecules are derived from proteins that have been transported to an endocytic compartment (13).

In general, human tumors are poorly immunogenic and do not trigger an immune response. There are two types of tumor antigens: some tumors have unique antigens (not found on normal cells), called tumor specific antigens (TSA) (14). Tumor specific antigens are present in tumors induced by infectious agents (e.g. EBNA-1 antigen from Epstein Barr virus-induced Burkitt's lymphoma) (15) and mutated genes found only in tumor cells (e.g. mutated caspase-8 enzyme found in head and neck cancer, which is different from the normal caspase-8) (16). However, many tumors have antigens, called tumor associated antigens (TAA), found on normal cells but either modified or produced in greater quantities (17). A number of TSA recognized by melanoma reactive CTLs and T helper cells were identified and vaccines were designed using these peptides (18). Although using these peptides increased the frequency of specific T cells from 0.1% to greater than 2% of circulating CD8⁺ T cells in many cases, low clinical response rates were observed (19). This can be due to the fact that the immune response elicited by the vaccination did not reach the quantitative capacity necessary for tumor regression (20). However, the results of another clinical trial demonstrated that standard high-dose interferon α -2b (a cytokine approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treatment of cancer) therapy for high-risk melanoma was more effective than vaccination against the ganglioside

4

GM2 (21). Therefore new strategies will be needed if vaccination is to be used as an effective therapeutic route to follow for cancer treatment.

Clinical trials for cancer gene therapy

Gene therapy for cancer treatment can be broadly defined as any manipulation of DNA that results in control of growth or death of cancer cells. DNA vaccines provide a stable and persistent source of the encoded antigen leading to a permanent stimulation of the immune system and generation of longlasting immunity (22). The construction of DNA vaccines involves cloning of the gene of interest into a plasmid under the control of a viral promoter and the most important key to the gene therapy process is the vector or the instrument by which DNA (transgene) can be transported into cells (22). Cancer vaccine trials using DNA plasmids injected by the subcutaneous or intramuscular route have been carried out in patients with metastatic melanoma and modest levels of Tcell immunity have been seen in these patients (23, 24). Recently a plasmid that encoded epitopes from the potent melanoma antigen Melan-A/melanoma antigen recognized by T cells (MART)-1 and tyrosinase were used in a phase 1 clinical trial (25). In this study the plasmid was injected into the lymph nodes of the stage IV melanoma patients to improve the immunogenicity of plasmid vaccines by directly targeting an APC-rich environment but the detection of immune responses against this specific epitope occurred only in a subset of patients and regression of melanoma was not observed (25). Therefore, it seems that DNA

vaccines have limited immunogenicity even with intranodal route of injection.

Suicide gene therapy involves the delivery of genes to tumor cells that encode enzymes (most of which are not encoded by mammalian cells) that are capable of converting prodrugs into toxic metabolites that can lead to cell cycle arrest and death. After the systemic administration of the prodrug, the neoplastic cells that express the gene are capable of transforming the drug into a toxic metabolite causing death not only of the cancer cells but also those cells in close proximity. This phenomenon, called the bystander effect, is the basis of the remarkable efficacy in tumor destruction of this system. One suicide gene therapy system is the herpes simplex virus thymidine kinase (HSV-tk) and the prodrug used in this system is ganciclovir (GVC). After extensive preclinical testing of this system in vitro and in vivo, a phase I clinical trial was conducted on prostate cancer patients by intraprostatic injection of a replication-deficient adenovirus (ADV) containing the HSV-tk gene, followed by intravenous administration of the prodrug GCV. Significant prolongation of the median serum prostate-specific antigen (PSA) doubling time from 2.9 to 6.2 months was detected. In five out of eight patients, a clear decrease of PSA values was observed. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis also showed no influence on phenotypic distribution in peripheral blood samples, except for an increasing trend of CD8⁺ after therapy (26). However, This study only confirmed the safety profile and the possibility of clinical response to HSV-tk gene therapy for hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Therefore, new approaches in the development of effective therapeutic cancer vaccines are required. Promising

new strategies have included the use of gene modified tumor vaccines and DCs based vaccines (27).

Since the original concept of gene therapy was to create a patient specific vaccine Salgia et al., conducted a phase I clinical trial using single cell suspensions prepared from resected metastases of 35 patients with non-smallcell lung cancer (NSCLC). Tumor cells were infected with a replication-defective adenoviral vector encoding granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), irradiated and administered intradermally and subcutaneously. Vaccines were successfully manufactured for 34 (97%) of 35 patients. Toxicities were restricted to grade 1 to 2 local skin reactions. Nine patients were withdrawn early because of rapid disease progression. Vaccination elicited DCs. macrophage, granulocyte, and lymphocyte infiltrates in 18 of 25 assessable patients. Metastatic lesions resected after vaccination showed T lymphocyte and plasma cell infiltrates in three of six patients. This study indicated that vaccination with irradiated autologous NSCLC cells engineered to secrete GM-CSF enhanced anti-tumor immunity in some patients with metastatic NSCLC (28). However, this process proved to be expensive and time consuming, the end product was of variable quality, and the concept was not a realistic option for large-scale production.

Dendritic cell based immunotherapy is another promising approach to augment tumor antigen-specific T cell responses in cancer patients. Often malignant growth is a slow and silent process that fails to provide necessary signals for the activation of the immune system. The goal of DC vaccination is to provide these signals with *ex vivo* and appropriately activated and loaded DCs with tumor antigens. In a study with 33 metastatic melanoma patients vaccination with autologous tumour lysate-loaded DC resulted in a slightly higher response rate compared to peptide-pulsed DC (3 versus no partial remissions, respectively) (Hersey P, Menzies, Cancer Immunol Immunother 2004;53:125–34). Although results from different phase 1 trials indicate that DC-based immunotherapy is feasible, safe, and well tolerated, clinical results are often inconclusive. The subjects enrolled in these trials had an advanced-stage disease and the lack of product standardization, results in phenotypic and functional differences in administered therapeutic DC products and therefore inconclusive clinical results.

Chemokines and Cytokines in the treatment of cancer

In spite of recent progress in understanding cancer biology and achievements in novel treatment options, the success rate for cancer therapy remains dismal. Since its initial discovery, cytokine-based immunotherapy has been extensively investigated for cancer treatment as cytokines can be easily purified and injected and therefore used as cancer treatment agents (29, 30). Growth, differentiation and function of immune cells are regulated by cytokines and chemokines that can be secreted or remain membrane bound. Cytokines regulate both the innate immune system [natural killer (NK) cells, macrophages and neutrophils] and the adaptive immune system (T cells and B cells). Cytokines have the capacity to alter the interaction between the body's immune system and cancer cells to boost, direct or restore the body's ability to fight disease. Some cytokines have direct effect on the tumor cells like interleukin-6 that inhibits the growth of the majority of melanoma cell lines from early stages of tumors (31). Some other cytokines fight tumors through indirect mechanisms like granulocyte macrophages-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) that induces the differentiation and proliferation of myeloid precursor cells and eventually development of dendritic cells (DCs) (32). In some cases, cancer cells can take advantage of cytokines secreted by the host cells that promote growth, inhibit apoptosis and facilitate invasion and metastasis. For example, interleukin-1 α that is secreted by macrophages stimulates the growth of breast cancer cells in nude mice (33). Interleukin-8 (IL-8) secreted from monocytes and macrophages has been shown to act as a growth factor in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (34). Furthermore, IL-8 has also been reported to have proinflammatory and angiogenic activities that enhance tumor growth and metastatic potential of human gastric carcinoma cells and human non-small cell lung cancer (35, 36). Loberg et al. showed that monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (CCL2), a chemokine expressed by human bone marrow endothelial cells, is a potent chemoattractant of prostate cancer epithelial cells (PC-3 and VCaP) and can a play role in bone metastasis in prostate cancer patients (37). PC-3 and DU145 and LnCaP prostate cancer cell lines express the receptor (CXCR4) for stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF1) (a chemokine expressed by osteoblasts and endothelial cells in the bone marrow) and it has been shown that SDF-1 supported the invasion of prostate carcinoma cell lines into reconstituted

9

basement membranes (38). This suggests the possibility that prostate cancers use the SDF-1/CXCR4 pathway during their metastasis to bone.

Cytokine therapy [e.g. IL-3, GM-CSF, interferon (IFN)- α] has been approved for treatment of specific cancers by the FDA. Disadvantages associated with cytokine therapy are frequent injections and most importantly the high rates of side effects leading to discontinued use of the treatment (39, 40). Interleukin-3 and GM-CSF have growth stimulatory effects on normal hematopoietic progenitor cells and clinical trials using these cytokines after bone marrow transplantation for various malignancies including lymphomas are frequently conducted (40). In one such a clinical trial 37 patients (20 patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and 17 patients with Hodgkin's disease) were treated with IL-3 and GM-CSF before bone marrow transplantation. Side effects included nausea, fever, diarrhea, vomiting, rash, edema, chills, abdominal pain and tachycardia and three patients had to stop the treatment because of these side effects. The median time for platelet recovery was 15 days after transplantation that was about 30 days with either of the cytokines alone (40). Overall, the systemic administration of cytokines is associated with significant side effects that bear a certain resemblance to a state of overwhelming infection and has only achieved modest therapeutic benefits that perhaps reflect the failure of this approach to treat cancer (41).

Role of T cells in the treatment of cancer

All current approaches to immunotherapy have failed to match expectations

and recent studies have been directed to activation of antigen-specific T cells (42). T cells that have never encountered antigens are indicated as naïve T cells. Adaptive immunity relies on each naïve T cell bearing a unique prototype antigen receptor recognizing antigens presented to them by other cells. Cells involved in innate immunity, such as DCs, directly recognize a limited set of antigens and are responsible for the initial trapping of the antigen in the periphery and its presentation to T cells in the proximal lymph nodes (43). Upon first encounter with its specific antigen, a naïve T cell is arrested in the lymph node where it undergoes intense proliferation and acquires further differentiation markers and distinct functional capabilities.

Activated T cells fall into two major classes that have different effector functions and they are distinguished by the expression of the cell surface proteins CD4 and CD8. $CD4^+$ T cells (T helper cells) can bind to MHC class II antigens and $CD8^+$ T cells (cytotoxic T cells or CTLs) can bind to MHC class I antigens. T helper cells fall into two general classes: Th1 cells produce several characteristic cytokines, most notably IL-2 and IFN- γ , whereas Th2 cells produce a set of cytokines, most notably IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. In turn, IL-2 and IFN- γ promote the development of strong cell-mediated immunity, whereas the type 2 cytokines promote allergic responses effective in eliminating parasites (44).

It has been suggested that the activation of naïve T cells is determined by the combination of two signals provided by antigen presenting cells (APCs) (45). The first signal functions through the antigen-specific T cell receptor complex. Foreign antigens (tumor antigens) are presented to T cells on the surface of APC in complex with MHC molecules and are recognized by the T cell receptor (46). A small number of circulating T cells have the receptor that can recognize the specific MHC/antigen complex. The second signal is provided by interaction with the co-stimulatory molecules (B7.1 and B7.2) on APC and their receptors on T cells (CD28) (47). These interactions activate T cells to undergo a number of mitotic divisions that is referred to clonal expansion and enables a significant increase in the number of T cells that recognize the antigen.

Cytotoxic T lymphocytes are the key components of cell-mediated immunity and activated and expanded CTLs target cells that express foreign antigens. However, a successful immune response requires the presentation of MHC class-l immunogenic peptides by both APCs and the tumor itself. Dendritic cells activate T cells by presenting them with peptide antigen in a complex with MHC molecules and then activated T cells identify target cells that express the same antigen/MHC complex. It has been shown that many human tumors have limited expression of MHC antigens and co-stimulatory molecules (48, 49). Restifo et al. showed that three human small cell lung carcinomas failed to transport MHC class-I antigens from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell surface (48). Fluorescence activated cell-sorting (FACS) analysis also showed low expression of MHC class-I antigens in D7RM-1 prostate cancer cells (49). However, Goldszmid et al. showed that DCs co-cultured with apoptotic tumor cells induced protective immunity against B16 melanoma cells that express low levels of MHC class-I antigens. Eighty percent of the vaccinated mice remained tumor-free 12 weeks following challenge with B16 cells and the immunity was mediated by both $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells (50).

Recognition of the same MHC/antigen complex by activated CTLs on tumor cells sets off a cascade of events that ultimately leads to the destruction of tumor cells by programmed death cell or apoptosis (51). The destruction of target cells by CTLs occurs by two major pathways. The first pathway involves release of granules containing performs that damage the cell membrane. Various granzymes and possibly other granules are secreted along with perforins by CTLs. These granzymes are proteases that enter the target cell through the pores generated by perforins and induce apoptosis by activation of caspases (52). The second pathway requires the interaction of Fas ligand (FasL) on CTLs and Fas molecule on the target cell that induces activation of caspases and induction of apoptosis (51). CD8⁺ CTLs have been described to play crucial roles in host defense against malignancies in both mouse and human studies. For example, the adoptive transfer of CMS4 sarcoma specific CTLs resulted in nearly complete regression of 3-day established experimental lung metastases in a mouse model. Moreover, under conditions of extensive metastatic disease (day 10 tumor-bearing mice), the adoptive transfer of CTLs resulted in reduction of average detectable lung nodules from >150 at the time of transfer to 30-35 nodules 2 or 3 weeks post-CTLs transfer (53). They also showed that FasL pathway has a significant role in tumor regression of experimental CMS4 lung metastases by adoptive transfer of antigen-specific CTLs (53).

Tumor cells can avoid the adaptive immune response and being killed by antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells through impaired antigen presentation (54).

However, natural killer (NK) cells of the innate immune system kill MHC class Ideficient cells that can be missed by CTLs (55). The activity of NK cells is controlled by a balance of positive and negative signals. Engagement of inhibitory receptors by MHC class I molecules blocks activation signals (56). However, in the absence of inhibitory signals NK cell cytotoxicity must be activated by a set of triggering receptors (57). Upon activation NK cells enhance their ability to adhere to and recognize target cells, leading to a broader killing activity against tumor cells that essentially takes place as (58): 1) perforin/granzyme-dependent necrosis of target cells, involving cell adhesion and granule release (59); and 2) apoptosis of target cells, which involves cell adhesion and is mediated by surface TNF ligand family members like FasL or TNF- α that interact with specific receptors on the target cell surface (60).

Although CTLs may be important for the elimination of established disseminated tumors, studies using purified functional subsets of immune T cells have suggested that CD4⁺ T helper cells are necessary and sufficient for tumor eradication in some cases (61). T cell deficient ATXBM B6 mice (adult, thymectomized, irradiated, T cells depleted and bone-marrow reconstituted mice) inoculated with FBL-3 tumor cells (a Friend virus-induced erythroleukemia of B6 origin) were adoptively transferred with spleen cells depleted of B6/CD8⁺ T cells (sensitized *in vivo* by injection of irradiated FBL-3 tumor cells) were tumor free for about 80-100 days after tumor inoculation when they were sacrificed. However, mice treated with spleen cells depleted of T helper cells died after about 40-45 days (61). In another study, mice were vaccinated with irradiated B16 melanoma

cells that were transduced to secrete GM-CSF (B16-GM-CSF). Seven to fourteen days after vaccination, mice were challenged with live non-trancduced tumor cells. All vaccinated mice were tumor free for 100 days, whereas control mice died 35-40 days after tumor challenge (62). Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells were required for effective vaccination, since depletion of either T-cell subset by administration of specific antibodies before vaccination abrogated the development of systemic immunity, whereas depletion of NK cells had little or no effect (62). Furthermore, Hung et al. showed that CD4 knockout mice vaccinated with irradiated B16-GM-CSF cells failed to prime a systemic immune response capable of rejecting live tumor cells injected 2 weeks after vaccination. However, similarly immunized CD8 knockout mice mounted a successful tumor rejection (63). Using INF- γ and IL-4 knockout mice they also showed that the protective immunity against B16 melanoma challenge was mediated mostly by INF- γ and to lesser extent by IL-4 secreted by activated Th1 and Th2, respectively (63). Therefore the optimal tumor antigen-specific vaccine should incorporate a panel of dominant tumor antigens recognized by both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells.

Biology and different subsets of dendritic cells and their role in T cell activation

Activation of T cells depends on tumor-associated antigen presentation to T cells by antigen presenting cells (APCs) like DCs that leads to stimulation of an immune response. Probst *et al.* used CD11c-DTR/GFP transgenic mice that allowed conditional depletion of DCs with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus

(LCMV), which infects all types of APCs and elicits a vigorous CTLs response, to show that priming of LCMV-specific CTLs was crucially dependent on DCs (64). Norbury et al. provided direct evidence that virus infected DCs primed naïve CD8⁺ T cells in vivo (65). They showed that following local infection, vaccinia virus infected macrophages and DCs were found in draining lymph nodes. But, only DCs presented antigen to naïve CD8⁺ T cells as determined by direct visualization of sectioned lymph nodes using confocal microscopy. The presentation occurred about 6 hours after inoculation (65). In vitro and in vivo studies have shown that bone marrow-derived DCs are the most effective APCs at activating naïve CD4⁺ T cells. This efficiency is thought to be related to the fact that DCs express high levels of class II MHC and co-stimulatory molecules (66). Confocal microscopy was used to show the physical interaction of DCs and naïve CD4⁺ T cells in vivo (67). In this study fluorescent dye-labeled DCs and naïve T cell receptor transgenic CD4⁺ T cells specific for an ovalbumin peptide/IA^d complex were shown to co-localize in the lymph nodes after adoptive transfer into syngeneic recipients. They also demonstrated that DCs caused proliferation and differentiation of CD4⁺ T cells and production of IL-2 by these cells (67). However, other evidence has suggested that macrophages and in some cases B cells can act as APCs in vivo. B cells are the most potent APCs in inducing the proliferation of differentiated T helper type 2 (Th2) cells and splenic macrophages are APCs for differentiated T helper type 1 cells (Th1) (68). It has also been suggested that peritoneal macrophages are favored APCs for both Th1 and Th2 cells (69). However, B cells can function as APCs for Th1 cells, but not for Th2

cells, in an IL-1-dependent pathway (69).

The most important property of DCs is unquestionably their ability to activate naïve T cells in vivo. The antigen sampling and migratory capacities of DCs effectively allows naïve T cells to come into contact with peripheral antigens that they would otherwise not have encountered (70). The process that is used by DCs to sample the environment for the benefit of lymphocytes is called DC maturation. DCs have two functional states, immature and mature, with only a mature DC having the ability to prime an immune response (70). The immature state of DCs is characterized by a high phagocytic capacity and low expression of molecules such as CD40, CD83, CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) (71). CD40 engagement induces maintenance of high levels of MHC class II antigens and up-regulation of CD80 and CD86 molecules that provide the required signals for T cell activation (72). Both CD40 and its ligand (CD40L) belong to the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNF-R) and TNF family (73). CD40 has no kinase domain itself, but CD40L binding to this molecule activates several second messenger systems. These include several protein tyrosine kinases (such as: lyn, syk and Jak3), phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI-3 kinase), serine-threonine kinases and phospholipase $C\gamma 2$ (73). Inhibition of p38 stress-activated protein kinase (a PI-3 kinase) significantly reduced the LPS-induced up-regulation of CD80, CD83, and CD86 but did not significantly affect the endocytotic capacity of human monocyte-derived DCs that is a characteristic of immature DCs (74). In addition, JAK3 inhibition with a JAK3 specific inhibitor prevented the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and production of IL-12, arresting the DCs at an

immature state (75). CD40 has also been shown to interact with members of TNF-Receptor associated factors like TRAF3 that is expressed in almost all cell types. These events lead to activation of transcription factor NF κ B that in monocytes eventually activates the expression of genes involved in DC maturation (76) and cytokine (such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, TNF- α , MIP-1 α) secretion by these cells (73, 77).

Depending on origin, function and localization, murine DCs are divided into at least two populations: myeloid and lymphoid DCs, which have been distinguished by the expression of CD8 (78). CD8⁺ lymphoid DCs were first identified in the thymus of mice but DCs with the same phenotype have been identified in spleen, lymph nodes and Payer's patch (79). Myeloid and lymphoid subsets of murine DCs that have been directly isolated from spleen are different in their ability to activate T cells. The myeloid related CD8⁻DCs induce more intense and prolonged proliferation of naïve T cells than do lymphoid related CD8⁺ DCs despite similar expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules (80, 81). However, only the CD8⁺ DC subset, demonstrates cross-priming ability in vivo (82). In this cross-presentation pathway, DCs take up cell-associated antigens and present them in the context of their own major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecules to CD8⁺ T cells. This process has been shown to be important in initiating MHC class I restricted responses to peripheral self, viral, bacterial and tumor antigens (83-86). Whereas myeloid related DCs derived from monocytes produce a large amount of IL-12 and preferentially induce Th1 development, lymphoid DCs produce lower amounts of IL-12 and preferentially

induce Th2 development (87). A third minor population of DCs was originally identified in human blood. CD11c DCs that are also called plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) are morphologically and functionally immature (88). These DCs are found in the T cell zones of lymphoid organs and in the thymus and blood and were also described as plasmacytoid T cells or plasmacytoid monocytes (89, 90). The mouse equivalent of human plasmacytoid DCs has low expression of CD11c, CD11b and MHCII and high expression of B220 and Ly6C (detected with Gr-1 antibody). These DCs do not have high expression of CD123 and some of them express CD8 but activated mouse pDCs have high expression of CD8 and like their human counterparts, they represent in vivo a specialized type I interferon producing cell (91). The role of plasmacytoid DCs that are the major producer of type I interferons upon viral infection, in tumor biology is unknown (92). Human DCs do not express CD8 so a human equivalent of murine CD8⁺ DCs has not been found. But CD8⁻ DCs found in humans function similarly to their murine counterparts (93).

Several factors can induce DC maturation including pathogen-associated molecular patterns-containing components of bacteria, viruses and parasites, such as lipopolysaccharides, peptidoglycans and CpG motifs that induce toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathways (94). The mammalian TLR family consists of 10 members. Expression of TLRs by DCs is different among their subsets. Myeloid DCs express TLR1, 2, 4, 5, and 8, and plasmacytoid DCs exclusively express TLR7 and TLR9, although there are some reports that TLR7 is also expressed in myeloid DCs (95). Toll like receptors have a conserved intracellular

domain called Toll-IL-1-resistance (TIR) domain, which mediates recruitment of the TIR domain-containing adaptor molecule, myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88), a critical adaptor molecule used by all TLRs (96). The recruitment of MyD88 to TIR domains of activated TLRs allows for the interaction and activation of the IL-1R-associated kinase (IRAK) family members and the subsequent activation of TNF receptor-associated factor (TRAF)-6 (97). These events, at a minimum, result in activation of transcription factor NF- κ B (98). While most of the TLRs seem to be absolutely dependent on the expression of MyD88 for all of their functions, TLR3 and TLR4 are unique in their ability to activate both MyD88dependent and MyD88-independent responses (99). A feature of MyD88independent signaling is the induction of the type 1 interferon (IFN- β) (100). Whereas all TLRs activate NF-kB and ATF2-c-Jun transcription factors, not all TLRs induce IFN-β because not all TLRs induce interferon regulatory factor (IRF-3) activation. Thus, TLR3 and TLR4 appear to activate gene expression pathways and trigger antiviral responses by a mechanism involving the coordinate activation of NF- κ B and IRF-3 (100).

The CD11c and MHC class-II (IA) molecules are expressed at high levels on all mature DCs in mice and co-expression of both markers is used to define mature DCs phenotypically (101). Mature DCs migrate to local lymph nodes and settle near the T lymphocyte rich regions. This selective migration allows the DCs to interact with vast numbers of T lymphocytes, thus enhancing T lymphocyte priming and activation (102). Hugues *et al.* showed that maturation of DCs is crucial for T cell activation and resulted in prolonged contacts between DCs and T lymphocytes (103). Stable and prolonged contact between DCs and T cells primes T cells *in vivo*, whereas brief contacts may contribute to the induction of T cell tolerance (103). Maturation of DCs is important for the initiation of a specific anti-tumor T cell response.

Dendritic cells in cancer

Majority of both circulating and tumor infiltrating DCs from cancer patients appear to be phenotypically and/or functionally defective (104-108). Tumor infiltrating DCs from breast carcinoma have been found to be immature in all of 32 samples that were tested by immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence, however, DCs from peri-tumoral area were mature in 20 of the samples (108). Tumor infiltrating DCs (TIDCs) in renal cell carcinoma were described as mature DCs since they express high levels of MHC antigens and the B7.2 co-stimulatory molecule (104). But the failure of these patients to mount an anti-tumor immune response despite the presence of professional APCs in the tumor tissue suggests that TIDCs are suppressed *in situ*. The suppression of DCs may be due to the expression of IL-10 in the human renal cell-carcinoma TME as IL-10 is a potent suppressor of DCs (109).

As mentioned earlier DCs are the most potent APCs capable of activation of T cells. Therefore, expansion of DCs and recruitment of DCs and T cells to the tumor site may be essential for generating sufficient and specific anti-tumor immune response. Owing to their capacity to activate and regulate T cells, DCs have been used for vaccination trails in cancer therapy (110). Mayordomo *et al.* directly assessed the ability of vaccines consisting of DC carrying tumor peptides to elicit protective anti-tumor immune responses in 4 different murine models (111). In this study mice were injected with bone marrow-derived DCs pulsed with synthetic tumor-associated peptides that were known to be expressed by C3 sarcoma, M05 melanoma, Lewis lung carcinoma and Meth A sarcoma tumor cells. Animals vaccinated in this manner were resistant to challenge with tumor cells expressing the relevant tumor antigen in each of four different tumor models tested (111). Furthermore, in a clinical study that the readout was the expansion of CD8⁺ T cells, 12 patients with metastatic melanoma were vaccinated with tumor antigen-pulsed DCs that led to expansion of melanoma-specific cytolytic CD8⁺ T cell precursors in several patients. In this study the lack of melanomaspecific T cells was observed in three patients, all of which experienced early disease progression with appearance of new lesions. The results were assessed by measuring the cytotoxic function of CTLs after vaccination against multiple targets expressing melanoma antigens in a standard 4hr ⁵¹Cr release assay (112). However, a major limitation for the clinical use of DCs is the availability of sufficient cell numbers. In humans, DCs represent 0.5% of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (113). Therefore, various groups have explored culture conditions to improve expansion of DCs ex vivo. Culturing of bone marrowderived cells in the presence of the ligand for the receptor fms-like tyrosine kinase 3 (flt3-L) has been shown to result in a sufficient expansion of DCs (114). Flt3-L is a hemopoeitic growth factor that promotes the differentiation and expansion of hematopoeitic stem cells and progenitors. It has also been shown

22
that in vivo administration of flt3-L dramatically increases the numbers of hematopoietic progenitors in the bone marrow, peripheral blood and spleen (115, 116). Treatment of mice with human flt3-L has been shown to lead to the expansion of DCs subsets in multiple tissues and peripheral blood (117). Alterations in dendritic cell development and function are associated with tumor escape from immune-mediated surveillance (118). Therefore, using flt3-L to expand DCs to initiate and maintain antigen-specific immune responses seemed a rational choice for cancer immunotherapy. The administration of flt3-L to mice with established tumors resulted in some regression and inhibition of a variety of tumors including melanoma (119), fibrosarcoma (120), colon cancer (118, 121), lymphoma (119) and prostate cancer (122). Daily administration of flt3-L with established colon carcinoma tumors delayed tumor growth as long as the ligand was administered. However, tumor growth resumed as soon as flt3-L injections were stopped, and they grew with a similar rate that was observed in untreated animals (118).

It has been shown by us and others that flt3-L mobilized DCs *in vivo* display primarily an immature phenotype and therefore they are not capable of activating T cells (123, 124). Mosca *et al.* demonstrated that multiple signals are required to induce DCs maturation *ex-vivo* (125). They demonstrated that flt3L-mobilized DCs purified from cancer patients require a sequence of specific signals for maturation, which included initial treatment with granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor followed by a combination of maturation signals such as CD40L and IFN-γ. Flt3L-mobilized DCs matured in this manner

showed higher expression of co-stimulatory molecules than DCs matured with either cytokine alone (125). Davis *et al.* showed that blood dendritic cells generated with flt3-L and matured with soluble CD40 ligand (CD40L) primed CD8⁺ T cells efficiently in melanoma patients (126). Therefore, although flt3-L expands the number of DCs these DCs are functionally immature and need additional signals to undergo maturation that makes them capable of antigen presention.

Accordingly, maturation of flt3-L expanded DCs may be induced by expression of CD40L in the TME. CD40L is expressed by activated T cells (73) and its receptor, CD40, is an integral membrane protein that is expressed throughout B-cell development. CD40 is also expressed on mature DCs, hematopoietic progenitor cells, epithelial cells and carcinomas (77). Dendritic cell CD40/CD40L interactions seem to be a critical step in the maturation of these cells into fully competent antigen presenting cells. Interaction of CD40 with CD40L has been demonstrated in vivo as being responsible for T cell-dependent B cell activation and class switching, facilitating germinal center reactions (77), activation of macrophages and DCs (73, 127), and establishment of memory CTLs (128). CD40 ligation of DC also has the capacity to induce high levels of the cytokine IL-12, which polarizes CD4+ T cells toward a T helper 1 (Th1) type. enhances proliferation of CD8+ T cells (129). Since CD40/CD40L interaction induces DC maturation that consequently may cause T cell activation, Cella et al. studied induction of DC maturation with CD40L transfected tumor cells in vitro. Indeed, CD40L caused up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules B7.1 and B7.2

and adhesion molecules (CD54 and CD58) on DCs and enhanced their efficiency to present antigens to T cells (130). They also performed allogeneic mixed lymphocyte reactions to show that T cell stimulatory capacity of DCs was dramatically enhanced by CD40L (130). Significant slower tumor growth rate and less metastasis were observed following administration of CD40L plasmid into the mice with orthotopic pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Tumors of treated mice were infiltrated with T cells and DCs. Dendritic cells were mature and of myeloid origin. Tumor infiltrating lymphocytes were tumor-specific as shown by IFN- γ ELISpot assays (131). Since maturation of DCs plays an important role in the activation of T cells, expression of CD40L in the TRAMP TME infiltrated with immature DCs after flt3-L therapy can play a critical role in the induction of antitumor immune response.

Another cytokine that is a good candidate for expression in TME to provide required signals for CTLs activation is granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), because of its capability to cause DC expansion and maturation (132). GM-CSF is a 23-kDa glycoprotein with remarkably diverse effects on immune and non-immune cells (133). GM-CSF induces differentiation of granulocyte, macrophage, and eosinophil precursor cells. When suspensions of mouse bone marrow are cultured in the presence of GM-CSF, three types of myeloid cells expand in numbers: non-adherent neutrophils, firmly adherent macrophages and DCs that arise from cellular aggregates that are attached to the marrow stroma (132). Proliferation of monocyte, macrophages, T lymphocytes, keratinocytes, and endothelial cells is also stimulated by GM-CSF (133). The receptors for human GM-CSF are expressed on the surfaces of myeloid cells and also non-hematopoietic cells like endothelial cells (134). Furthermore, GM-CSF can induce functional maturation of DCs. Mach *et al.* studied the expression of co-stimulatory molecules on flt3-L and GM-CSF expanded DCs. The level of B7.1 expression was dramatically increased on DCs stimulated by GM-CSF as compared with flt3-L treatment. GM-CSF also stimulated more uniform, high level expression of B7.2, CD40, and MHC class II molecules than flt3-L, although these differences were less striking (135).

In view of the fact that GM-CSF can induce DC expansion and maturation, Dranoff et al. studied the ability of this cytokine to stimulate systemic anti-tumor immunity in vivo (62). Vaccination with irradiated melanoma B16 tumor cells engineered to secrete GM-CSF stimulated the recruitment of a large numbers of antigen presenting cells to the tumor site that suggest the involvement of this cytokine in the augmentation of tumor-antigen presentation. The systemic immunity was long lasting in that the majority of vaccinated mice were subsequently challenged with non-transduced cells and remained tumor free several months after vaccination (62). Soiffer et al. conducted a phase I clinical trial investigating the biologic activity of vaccination with irradiated GM-CSF secreting melanoma cells in patients with metastatic melanoma. Immunization sites were intensely infiltrated with T lymphocytes, DCs, macrophages, and eosinophils in all 21 patients and metastatic lesions removed after vaccination were densely infiltrated with T lymphocytes and plasma cells and showed extensive tumor destruction (136). However, these anti-tumor immune responses failed to induce clinical regression; rather, the necrotic tumor masses were largely replaced by inflammatory cells, edema, and extensive fibrosis (136). However, GM-CSF has the potential to cause expansion and maturation of DCs in the *tr*ansgenic *a*denocarcinoma of *m*ouse *p*rostate (TRAMP) model and induce long-term immunity through activation of T cells.

Co-localization and therefore interaction of DCs and naïve T cells is essential for activation of T cells. We have shown that TRAMP tumors are infiltrated with a very small population of T cells (137). Moreover, Bai et al. showed that the initial activation of tumor specific T cells takes place in the lymphoid organs and then activated T cells infiltrate the tumor and undergo clonal expansion within this site (138). Therefore secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine (SLC) that strongly attracts both mature DCs and naïve T cells through binding to its receptor chemokine C receptor 7 on these cells (139) may facilitate their interaction and promote T cell activation and tumor immunity. This chemokine is expressed by high endothelial venules and in the T cell zone of spleen and lymph nodes. Gunn et al. showed that in mice lacking SLC expression, homing of T cells and DCs to secondary lymphoid organs was significantly decreased (140). Dendritic cells express CCR7 upon induction of maturation (141) and CCR7 is essential for migration of naive T cells into lymph nodes and splenic white pulp cords (141). After T cell activation and differentiation, expression of CD62L and CCR7 is lost on T cells (142). Since colocalization and interaction of DCs and T cells are important factors for induction of an immune response, the ability of SLC to chemoattract both T cells and DCs

justified testing this chemokine in cancer immunotherapy (143, 144). It has been shown that SLC expression by C26 colon tumor cells caused strong recruitment of DCs that expressed an immature phenotype and were refractory to activation with a combination of stimuli like LPS, IFN- γ , and anti-CD40 agonist antibody (144). However, DCs were activated by intratumoral injection of a combination of CpG immunostimulatory sequence and IL-10 receptor antibody (144). Intratumoral injection of SLC caused a significant reduction in tumor volumes with complete tumor eradication in 40% of the mice in both line 1 alveolar carcinoma and Lewis lung carcinoma that are known to be weakly immunogenic lung cancer models (143). In these cases, SLC mediated anti-tumor responses were CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell dependent (143). Splenocytes and lymph nodederived cells from SLC-treated tumor-bearing mice that were co-cultured with irradiated tumor cells secreted significantly increased levels of IFN- γ (13- to 28fold), GM-CSF (3-fold, spleen only) and IL-12 (1.3- to 4-fold) compared to carrier treated animals. It is known that GM-CSF and INF- γ are secreted by activated T cells and IL-12 is secreted mainly by B cells and to a lesser extent by activated T cells. Moreover, intratumoral SLC administration led to enhanced lymph nodederived CTL activity against the parental tumor cells (143).

The expression of SLC by transfected tumor cells may be helpful for the induction of the immune response by homing DCs and T cells to the TME where there should be sufficient tumor antigen for immune recognition. We have previously shown that DCs infiltrating TRAMP tumors are phenotypically immature (124). Furthermore, we demonstrated that flt3-L therapy induced a

pronounced mixed (macrophage, DC, granulocyte) myeloid infiltrate into TRAMP tumors. It has also been shown that myeloid cells infiltrating human and mouse tumors actually helped tumor development by providing molecules and factors essential for tumor growth. For example, IL-1β that is produced mainly by activated monocytes and macrophages promotes tumor growth of Lewis Lung carcinoma by induction of angiogenic factors by stromal cells (145). Myeloid cells also exerted a profound inhibitory activity on both tumor-specific and nonspecific T cells by altering the balanced production of cytokines like IL-2 and IL-12 in the tumor microenvironment (TME) (146). We hypothesize that SLC expression in the TRAMP TME will attract a significant numbers of mature DCs and naïve anti-TRAMP T cells which will facilitate T cell/DC interaction to induce T cell activation. We further speculate that this interaction will overcome the inhibitory activity of infiltrating myeloid cells.

In summary, flt3-L therapy caused tumor regression in the mouse model of prostate cancer but this therapy was not curative. This could be due to the immature phenotype of DCs in the TRAMP TME and consequently their inability to activate T cells infiltrating these tumors. We propose that expression of SLC, CD40L or GM-CSF will provide required additional signals for maturation of DCs leading to T cell activation and anti-tumor immunity.

l

Tetracycline inducible mammalian expression system

The ability to control the spatial and temporal expression of a transgene, either in cell culture or in transgenic animals, is a valuable tool in gene function

studies. Constitutive over-expression of a transgene over long periods in culture or in animals may have several undesired effects that are not functional characteristics of that gene product. Therefore, regulated expression systems are invaluable for studying gene function. These systems offer advantages of dosage-dependent and temporally defined gene expression, and limit possible clonal variation when toxic or pleiotropic genes are over-expressed. Many methods have been described and used for regulated expression of transgene in mammalian cells. Some of these methods involve the use of endogenous mammalian proteins. These include the use of heat shock proteins, the glucocorticoid receptor, the estrogen receptor, the progesterone receptor and the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (147-150). In all these systems the expression of the transgene can be modulated but the problems associated with these systems are the generalized physiologic or toxic effects of the inducers and/or high basal transcriptional activity from the inducible promoter that limits their utility. The expression of Cyp1a-1 gene, whose product, aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase, is induced by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Cyp1a-1 enhancer elements and promoter region have been used to inducibly express the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) reporter gene in transgenic mice. Treatment of transgenic mice with the inducer 3-methylcholanthrene (3-MC) caused a profound increase in transgene expression (>1,000-fold) in many tissues including liver, adrenal, kidney and intestine. Very high background was observed in some tissues (spleen and bowel) (151). However, the most important problem with this system is that 3-MC is known as a carcinogen (152). The

30

tetracycline-mediated method is one of the most commonly used since it has several advantages over other systems. For example, mammals do not express an endogenous tetracycline repressor and systemic administration of this antibiotic to animals over long periods is harmless (153, 154). The expression of the transgene in transgenic animals is exclusively dependent on the administration/absence of tetracycline or tetracycline derivatives (155). This system provides a very tight control of gene expression in mammalian cells. The tetracycline inducible system was very efficient in regulating the oncogene HER2 expression in transfected cell lines (NIH3T3 and MCF7) both in vitro and when the cell lines were injected in mice (155). The function of any gene product can be studied during selected developmental windows or at critical stages of disease using tetracycline inducible system (156). For example, transgenic mice were generated by Lee et. al that developed spontaneous cardiac arrhythmias in vivo by tetracycline regulated expression of the diphtheria toxin A (DTA) gene that was targeted to the hearts of adult mice. The expression of DTA caused cell loss in hearts of these animals that may have lead to the observed arrhythmias (156). Priscilla *et. al* used the tetracycline inducible system to express a transgene (luciferase) in mice. The basal luciferase activity tested in eleven different tissues was close to basal level in most of the transgenic mice tested (total of 19 mice). Administration of tetracycline activated the transgene in most tissues (over 1000 fold induction in some cases) (157). This system was also used by Manfra et. al for tetracycline-dependent expression of flt3-L in transgenic mice. Tetracycline treatment induced expression of the transgene in several tissues and also

induced dramatic changes in blood levels of flt3-L, which were, on the average, 200-fold higher than the values non-treated transgenic mice. The expression of flt3-L caused the relative number of DCs in peripheral blood to increase from 8 to 40%. Cessation of flt3-L induction led to normalization of DCs numbers in blood (117).

The T-Rex system (Invitrogen, CA) has been employed in this study to control the expression of genes of interest (SLC, CD40L or GM-CSF) in TRAMPC cell lines. The T-Rex system includes two vectors: the repressor vector (pcDNA6/TR) and the expression vector (pcDNA4/TO) (Fig. 1). The repressor vector expresses the tetracycline repressor protein (TR) that binds effectively the TetO₂ sites on the expression vector and blocks transcription initiation. When tetracycline is added to the culture media it binds to, and changes the conformation of the TR protein, so TR can no longer bind to TetO₂ sites. The result is transcription initiation and eventually expression of the gene down stream from the complete CMV promoter on the expression vector.



Figure 1. Tetracycline inducible expression system.

The repressor vector encodes repressor protein that binds to the operator region $(TetO_2)$ of the expression vector and blocks the protein expression from this vector. Tetracycline binds to the repressor protein and induces conformational changes in this protein. Then, release of repressor protein from expression vector is followed by the protein expression from this vector.

The *t*ransgenic *a*denocarcinoma of *m*ouse *p*rostate (TRAMP) model

To study new therapeutic approaches such as gene therapy, animal models of human prostate cancer with metastatic behavior are required. In this regard the TRAMP model was developed by Greenberg et al (158). The initiation and progression of human prostate is a multi-step process and it develops in the secretory epithelial cells of the prostate gland. In TRAMP mice, expression of SV40 T antigen was targeted to the epithelial cells of the prostate gland of C57BL/6 mice using the rat probasin promoter. Interaction of SV40 T antigen with p53 and retinoblastoma tumor suppressor genes can cause transformation of cultured cells (159). By 12 weeks of age, TRAMP mice histologically display mild to severe hyperplasia. Severe hyperplasia and adenocarcinoma is observed by 18 weeks of age. By 24-30 weeks of age, all TRAMP mice display primary tumors and metastasis is commonly detected in the lymph nodes and lungs and less frequently in the bone, kidney and adrenal glands (158). TRAMP mice have a number of advantages over existing models. The transgene is specifically expressed in the epithelial cells of the prostate. Tumor arises in all mice and the disease progresses from mild to sever hyperplasia and adenocarcinoma that metastasizes to the lymph nodes, lungs and occasionally bones (160). The disadvantage of this model is its relative high expense, related to requirements for breeding and housing the animals. Tumors develop late in the animals' life span (24-30 weeks) so it is also relatively slow. Furthermore, Phenotypic

variability in pathologic progression has been observed in the TRAMP model. Three different cell lines (TRAMPC1, TRAMPC2 and TRAMPC3) were established from a primary tumor of a TRAMP mouse. TRAMPC1 and C2 are tumorigenic when injected subcutaneously into the flank of mice, whereas, TRAMPC3 grows *in vitro* but does not form tumors *in vivo* (160). Although the TRAMPC1 cell line is not metastatic, TRAMPC2 metastasizes to regional lymph nodes, submandibular salivary gland and lungs (161).

Orthotopic model of prostate cancer and flt3-L therapy

In order to develop a more clinically relevant orthotopic prostate cancer model, the non-metatstatic TRAMPC1 cell line was injected into the prostate and after 3 months a palpable tumor was excised and cultured *in vitro*. The cell line derived from this tumor was injected back into the prostate and after 3 passages, a metastatic cell line was derived that consistently grew in the prostate gland and produced reproducible and predictable metastases to the draining lymph nodes (DLNs). This cell line was designated as TRAMPC1P3 (122).

We had previously established that orthotopic implantation of TRAMPC1P3 cells in immunocompetent C57BL/6 mice produced clinically detectable prostate tumors within 30 days with periaortic lymph node metastasis in almost all animals (162). This model was used to assess the utility of flt3-L in tumor progression. Although some animals remained tumor free for 2-3 months, after termination of flt3-L therapy, disease recurrence was invariably observed

suggesting that flt3-L treated tumor-bearing mice did not develop sufficient antitumor immunity. Parental TRAMPC1 cells were initially developed by the expression of SV40 T antigen in these cells but they do not express this gene at either mRNA or protein level (160). Thus, the tumor-bearing host cannot mount an immune response to the T antigen (162). However, TRAMPC1 cells express Wilm's tumor gene encoded transcription factor (WT1) protein that has been studied as a candidate tumor antigen. Immunization with WT1 peptide did not prevent TRAMPC1 tumor growth in mice although CTLs pulsed with this peptide could lyse TRAMPC1 tumor cells in vitro (163). WT1 is an internal protein and should be processed and presented by MHC class I molecules on the tumor cells. The failure to protect mice by WT1 may reflect low expression of MHC class I antigen by TRAMPC1 cells. In a very recent study Fasso et al., identified the first "stimulators of prostatic adenocarcinoma-specific" (SPAS) tumor antigen called SPAS-1 using T cells from mice immunized with a GM-CSF-expressing TRAMP cells in combination with in vivo CTLA-4 blockade. They showed that vaccination of TRAMPC2 tumor bearing mice with SPAS-1 pulsed DCs resulted in a statistically significant delay in tumor growth indicating that this protein was indeed a target for anti-TRAMP tumor T cell response in vivo (164). Therefore, SPAS-1 tumor antigen represents the first-identified tumor rejection antigen on TRAMP tumor cells. Spas-1 expression was not limited to the prostate but was found in other tissues, with the highest level of expression in the heart. The expression level of Spas-1 increased in older TRAMP tumors (27 weeks) compared to normal prostate tissue or prostate tumor from 21 week old TRAMP

mouse. The broad expression pattern of *Spas-1* found in mice raises the question of possible autoimmune side effects in the setting of active immunotherapy that remains to be determined.

Flt3-L therapy causes regression of TRAMPC1P3 tumor in mice

In our previous studies we evaluated the effectiveness of flt3-L therapy to inhibit prostate tumor growth (122). We injected mice orthotopically with TRAMPC1P3 cells and started flt3-L therapy one week after tumor injection to allow tumor cells to establish their immunosuppressive microenvironment. During therapy, mice were injected subcutaneously with either flt3-L or carrier. Flt3-L therapy inhibited prostate tumor growth but all the treated mice eventually died from disease after termination of the therapy. Characterization of cellular composition of TILs isolated from flt3-L treated compared to carrier treated mice showed that flt3-L did not have an impact on infiltration of natural killer cells or B cells. At the same time tumor was infiltrated by macrophages, DCs and granulocytes. By the end 30-day therapy, TRAMPC1 tumors were mainly infiltrated by F4/80⁺, CD11c⁺ and Gr-1⁺ cells but not T cells (122). The population of DCs that appeared in TRAMPC1P3 tumor during flt3-L therapy was mostly CD8⁻. CD8⁺ DCs that are capable of antigen cross presentation (82) only appeared 20 days after the end of the therapy and by this time all carrier treated mice died. It appeared that flt3-L induced infiltration of TRAMP tumor by mostly myeloid cells (DCs, macrophages and granulocytes).

Dendritic cells are thought to be the major APCs in the host and therefore play an essential role in the anti-tumor immune response. In view of this function, TRAMPC1P3 tumor infiltrating DCs (and splenic DCs) were analyzed in order to determine their maturational status since DCs must be mature to function optimally as APCs. Flt3-L treated TRAMPC1P3 tumors were infiltrated with a substantial number of DCs (CD11c⁺ cells, 23%). TRAMPC1C3 infiltrating DCs (TIDCs) were CD8⁻, a subtype not capable of antigen cross presentation. TIDCs showed very low expression of MHC class II antigen (IA^b) and they expressed different levels of co-stimulatory molecule B7.2 during tumor growth but the coexpression of IA^b and B7.2 was usually very limited, whereas mature DCs of normal spleen showed high level of IA^b and B7.2 co-expression. The low expression of class II antigens on TIDCs represents the immature state of DCs that could have been induced by the TME. However, injection of TRAMPC1P3 tumor bearing mice with soluble CD40L, known to induce DCs maturation, along with flt3-L did not have any further inhibitory effect on tumor growth compared to mice only treated with flt3-L and mice treated with CD40L alone died at a comparable rate as untreated mice. These results suggested that CD40L did not increase the efficacy of flt3-L. Evaluation of draining lymph nodes immediately after termination of immunotherapy indicated that the majority of periaortic lymph nodes from carrier and CD40L treated mice had metastatic disease. Whereas DLNs obtained from mice treated with either fit3-L alone or in combination with CD40L were disease free as assessed by in vitro outgrowth of aneuploid cells. Analyzing the maturational status of DCs during immunotherapy showed that flt3L only expanded DCs that failed to express class II antigens and costimulatory molecules. Combination therapy using flt3-L and CD40L did not induce maturation of DCs in TRAMPC1P3 tumor bearing mice.

Therefore, flt3-L immunotherapy induced tumor regression of MHC⁻ prostate cancer implanted in the prostate. This therapy alone was not successful and did not induce long-term immunity because disease relapse occurred after the termination of treatment. Therefore, combination therapy may be required to induce DCs maturation and consequently drive clonal expansion/differentiation of tumor-specific T cells and the development of a memory response. In this regard, we propose to transfect prostate cancer cells with cytokines and chemokines and control their expression using tetracycline responsive promoter. Intra-tumoral secretion of chemokines/cytokines that are known to expand DCs and induce their maturation and also cause co-localization of DCs and T cells by transfected TRAMP cells may overcome impaired antigen presentation within the TME. In this thesis research, regulated expression of chemokines/cytokines by prostate cancer cell lines has been used to modulate the TME. It is predicted that this modification will enhance tumor immunity and inhibit primary tumor growth and metatstatic disease. It is important to evaluate immunotherapy in the animal with preexisting disease to have more clinically relevant model. The tetracyclineregulated gene expression system can provide tight control over the expression of the genes of interest (SLC, CD40L, GM-CSF). Transgenes can be expressed in established tumors and their efficacy monitored by tumor regression and

prevention of metatstatic disease. This model therefore reflects clinical realities as patients seek treatment after they were diagnosed with the disease.

CHAPTER II

SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

Prostate cancer is the most frequent cancer in males and is the second leading cause of cancer death among men in western countries. There is no curative treatment available for patients with metastatic prostate cancer or with disease relapse after radical prostatectomy. Cancer immunotherapy aims at generating an efficient and long-lasting cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) immune response for treatment of residual and metastatic disease. CTLs are activated by DCs that are professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). Mature DCs express both high levels of MHC molecules needed for specific antigenic peptide presentation to T cells, and high levels of co-stimulatory molecules for subsequent T cell activation. Previous work demonstrated that intra-tumoral DCs displayed an immature phenotype suggesting altered DC function. In view of this observation, it is anticipated that modifying the TME by the regulated expression of distinct cytokine/chemokine-expressing tumor cells will induce DC infiltration and maturation and promote accumulation of tumor-infiltrating T cells. This will fundamentally change the cellular composition of the TME and promote the development of an intra-tumoral immune response and tumor rejection.

Hypothesis

Proper interaction of immune cells and activation of host effector immune cells plays a very critical role in the induction of tumor specific immune response. We hypothesize that TRAMPC prostate tumors establish a microenvironment that suppresses the activation of immune effector cells. We further hypothesize that the TRAMPC tumor microenvironment prevents DCs maturation. Therefore, Modification of the tumor microenvironment to induce DCs maturation and their interaction with T cells can induce a sufficient immune response to enable the host to remove residual cancer cells.

Specific aim 1

To investigate the phenotype and functional status of dendritic cells infiltrating TRAMPC2 prostate tumor *in vivo* and after *ex vivo* culture.

Cytotoxic T cells are among the most characterized effector cells of the immune system. It has been shown that the presence of intra-tumoral T cells correlates with improved clinical outcome in certain human cancers during the natural immune response against tumors (158). Furthermore, DCs that are antigen-presenting cells are known to be the most powerful activators of tumor-specific cytotoxic T cells (159). Cytokine and chemokines can potentially help target tumor antigen to DCs and induce maturation of these antigen-presenting cells, attract immune effector cells expressing different cytokine/chemokine receptors and drive cellular immune response towards

activation of CTLs. The ability of SLC to co-localize T cells and DCs (136), GM-CSF to induce expansion and maturation of DCs (48, 128) and CD40 ligand (CD40L) to induce DCs maturation (48) formed the rationale to evaluate these cytokine/chemokines in the cancer immunotherapy.

Specific aim 2

To evaluate the efficacy of the SLC, CD40L or GM-CSF to induce dendritic cells maturation *in vitro* using TRAMPC cell lines expressing these genes.

Maturation is the terminal differentiation process that transforms immature DCs specialized for antigen capture into cells specialized for T cell stimulation (160, 161). Maturation results in increased expression of MHC, adhesion and costimulatory molecules on DCs (123, 162). Mature DCs can prime T cells in the secondary lymphoid tissues like lymph nodes and spleen to expand and differentiate into effector cells (117). We have previously shown that DCs infiltrating TRAMPC1P3 tumor microenvironment are mainly immature (163). SLC (130), CD40L (123) and GMCSF (164) are known to induce differentiation and maturation of DCs. We hypothesize that TRAMPC tumor cells induce downregulation of MHCII and co-stimulatory molecules on DCs. Mature DCs cultured with transfected TRAMPC tumor may show down-regulation of MHC antigens and co-stimulatory molecules. Expression of SLC, CD40L or GM-CSF by TRAMPC2 cells using the inducible system that we have developed is predicted to cause maturation of DCs and expression of MHC and co-stimulatory molecules that are required for antigen presenting function of DCs.

Specific aim 3

To characterize the tumor infiltrating leukocytes (TILs) in the TRAMPC tumor expressing SLC, CD40L or GMCSF *in vivo* and to evaluate the efficacy of expression of these genes in the tumor microenvironment to eradicate residual prostate cancer.

Our previous studies show that flt3-L therapy of mice bearing TRAMPC1P3 tumors caused tumor growth inhibition but disease relapse occurred in all the animals and eventually they died from urogenital complications within 4-5 weeks after transplantation (155). We have shown that TRAMPC1P3 tumors treated with flt3-L are infiltrated with DCs with low expression of MHCII, B7.1 and B7.2 molecules that are not capable of sufficient tumor specific T cell activation (163). We hypothesized that immature phenotype of host DCs causes the failure of the flt3-L therapy in TRAMP model. Expression of SLC in the TME after flt3-L therapy might help co-localization of DCs and T cell and hence activation of T cells. Expression of CD40L or GMCSF in the TME can cause maturation of already mobilized DCs by flt3-L. These alterations in the prostate TME may enhance the immune response mediated by T cells resulting in the eradication of residual tumor after flt3-L therapy and preventing the disease relapse after termination of the therapy.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell and culture conditions

TRAMP (TRAMPC1P3 and TRAMPC2) cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modification of Eagle's Medium (DMEM) 1X with 4.5g/L glucose and sodium pyruvate and without L-glutamine (Cellgro) supplemented with 5% FBS (Hyclone), 10⁻⁸ Dihydrotestosterone (Sigma), 2mM L-glutamine (Cellgro), 5% Nu serum IV Culture Supplement (BD Biosciences), 2.5mg/ml insulin (Sigma) and 25µg/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco BRL). Cells were cultured in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C.

B16-FL cells are H-2^b mouse melanoma cells that were transfected with the trimerized form of the flt3-L gene. These cells secrete flt3-L, thus the spleens of tumor-bearing mice are enlarged and are greatly enriched for myeloid cells. B16-FL cells were cultured in 90% DMEM (Cellgro), 10% FBS (Hyclone), 25µg/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco BRL) and 2mM L-glutamine (Cellgro). Cells were cultured in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C.

Generation of subcutaneous and intra-prostatic tumors

To establish a subcutaneous tumor, 5x10⁶ TRAMPC1P3, TRAMPC2 or B16-FL cells were injected under the skin into the flank of 6-8 week old male C57BL/6 mice. To establish an orthotopic tumor mice prostate glands were surgically exposed and injected with 0.05ml of media containing 5X10⁵ TRAMPC2 tumor cells. Mice were regularly monitored for tumor growth. All animal protocols were conducted in accordance with National Institute of Health guidelines and were reviewed and approved by the Institute Animal Care and Use Committee of Eastern Virginia Medical School.

Excision and processing of TRAMP tumors

After approximately 30 days, the mice were euthanized in 100% carbon dioxide, and the tumor was excised aseptically. All the skin and connective tissue was removed, and the tumor was rinsed in RPMI (Cellgro) to remove any animal hair. The tumor was cut into 2mm pieces using sterile scalpels and then the pieces were placed into a small beaker and covered with 10-15ml of digestion solution (Appendix A). The tumor pieces were stirred for 45min at 37°C. After the 45min incubation, the tumor pieces were mashed through a screen and collected in a 50ml conical tube. To remove any remaining large chunks of tumor or tissue, the supernatant was passed through a 40µm nylon cell strainer (BD Biosciences) and collected in a separate 50ml tube. To stop the digestion process, RPMI/10%FBS was added to the tube. The cells were then centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) for 8 minutes. After centrifugation, the media was decanted and ~10ml of RPMI was added to the tube. A cell count was obtained using the Coulter Counter.

Ficoll-hypaque gradient separation of Tumor infiltrating leukocytes (TILs)

Using a 22G needle on a 10ml syringe, ~3.0ml of Isolymph (Gallard-Schlesinger Industries, Inc) solution was added to the bottom of polystyrene tubes (Fisher Scientific). Then, 4×10^7 cells were layered on top of the Isolymph and the cells centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) in an IEC Centra-8 Centrifuge for 20 minutes with no brake. After centrifugation, the layer of cells at the interface between the Isolymph and the tissue culture media was removed using a glass pipette. The layer of cells was placed in a separate 50ml conical tube with RPMI and 1% goat serum (Sigma). Finally, this tube was centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes. A cell count was obtained using a Coulter Counter. After the gradient separation, typically ~10⁷ leukocytes/tumor were recovered. Cells were kept on ice until further use.

Preparation of splenic cells

The enzymatic digestion solution for spleen cells with collagenase D (Roche Diagnostics) was prepared as follows: 400U/ml and 100U/ml of collagenase D was prepared in RPMI. Using a 22G needle on a 10ml syringe, 1ml of 100U/ml collagenase D was placed into a 100mm petri dish with RPMI. Spleen(s) were sterilely removed from mice euthanized in a CO₂ chamber and placed in the petri dish. Using the syringe and sterile forceps, 1ml of 100U/ml collagenase D was injected into the spleen. Next, sterile spatulas were used to

tear apart and tease the spleen. The supernatant was collected in a 50ml conical tube. With the remaining spleen fragments, 1ml of 400U/ml collagenase D was added to the petri dish, and the dish was placed in the CO₂ incubator for 30-90 minutes. After incubation, the spleen fragments were mashed through a screen over a petri dish. The solution that passed through the screen was collected and added to the 50ml tube containing the supernatant. To remove any remaining large chunks of spleen or tissue, the supernatant was passed through a 40µm nylon cell strainer (BD Biosciences) and collected in a separate 50ml tube. Next, the tube was centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes. The supernatant was decanted and 3-4ml of Red Blood Cell lysis buffer (Appendix A) was added and allowed to incubate for ~5 minutes at room temperature. To stop the lysing process, RPMI/10%FBS was added to the tube. The tube was centrifuged again at 1500rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes, and the cells were counted using a Coulter Counter. Typically, $\sim 10^7 - 10^8$ total cells were recovered. Cells were kept on ice until further use.

Staining for flow cytometry

2x10⁶ cells were placed into a flow cytometer tube. Cells were blocked by adding 10µl of normal goat serum (Sigma) to each tube. The tubes were incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Then, the recommended amount of primary antibody was added (see Appendix B for optimum antibody concentration). The tubes were incubated at 4°C in the dark for 20 minutes. After incubation, 2ml of cold wash buffer (Appendix B) was added to the cells and centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes. The supernatant was then decanted and the wash repeated. The pellet was re-suspended in 200µl of wash buffer. If secondary antibodies were required for the staining protocol, they were added after the primary antibody at the appropriate concentrations, with additional 4°C incubation in the dark for 20 minutes. Unbound secondary antibodies were removed by repeating the wash step above and re-suspended in 200µl of wash buffer. Typically, the cells were immediately used for flow cytometric analysis. Occasionally, the cells were fixed by addition of 500µl of 1% paraformaldehyde, stored in dark at 4°C and then were washed before flow analysis.

Isolation and purification of Gr-1⁺ cells

Spleen Preparation:

C57BL/6 mice were subcutaneously injected with 5x10⁶ B16-FL tumor cells. After ~3 weeks, the mice were euthanized in 100% carbon dioxide. Spleen(s) were harvested using sterile technique and placed in a 100mm petri dish with RPMI. Using forceps, the spleen was gently teased apart so that the capsule was left behind. With a pasteur pipette, the clumps were broken up and placed into a 50ml conical tube. The tube was allowed to sit for 5 minutes at room temperature for the debris to settle out. After 5 minutes, the supernatant was removed and placed into a 15ml conical tube leaving the debris behind. The tube was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 1500rpm (280xg). After centrifugation, the supernatant was decanted and 3ml Red Blood Cell lysis buffer (Appendix A) was added to the tube and allowed to incubate for 2 minutes at room temperature. Next, 15ml of RPMI /10%FBS was added to the tube. The tube was centrifuged again for 10 minutes at 1500 rpm (280xg). Then, the supernatant was decanted and 5ml of RPMI was added. Again, the clumps were allowed to settle out for 5 minutes and the supernatant was removed and placed into another 15ml tube. These cells were counted using a Coulter Counter, centrifuged and re-suspended in 200µl RPMI.

Magnetic Labeling:

Using the single cell suspension prepared from the B16-FL tumor-bearing spleen, the cells were labeled with biotin-conjugated Gr-1 antibody at the optimum concentration and allowed to incubate at 4°C in the dark for 20 minutes. After incubation, the cells were washed with 2ml MACS buffer (PBS pH 7.2 supplemented with 0.5% BSA and 2mM EDTA) and centrifuged at 1500 rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes. The wash was repeated, and the cells were re-suspended in 800µl MACS buffer. Next, 200µl anti-biotin microbeads/10⁸ total cells (Miltenyi Biotec) were added and allowed to incubate at 4°C for 20 minutes. After incubation, the cells were washed with 2ml MACS buffer and re-suspended in 500µl/10⁸ total cells.

Magnetic Separation:

The MS magnetic column (Miltenvi Biotec) can be used for up to 10^7 positive cells and up to 2x10⁸ total cells or the LS magnetic column (Miltenyi Biotec) for up to 10^8 positive cells and up to $2x10^9$ total cells. The LS separation column was placed in the magnetic field. Then, the column was washed with 3ml of MACS buffer. The magnetically labeled cell suspension was added to the column. The column was washed three times with 3ml MACS buffer. The total flow through from the column was collected as the negative fraction. Finally, the column was removed from the magnet and 5ml of MACS buffer was added. A plunger was depressed forcefully through the column, washing off the cells into the collection tube. These were positively selected cells for the stained antibody, thus they were Gr-1⁺ cells. The separation was repeated on a freshly prepared column to increase the purity of the positive fraction. The cells were then washed in MACS buffer and centrifuged at 1500rpm (280xg) for 5 minutes. A cell count was obtained using a Coulter Counter and re-suspended in 1ml MACS buffer. Cells were kept on ice until further use.

Dendritic cell enrichment using Nycodenz

A single cell suspension of splenocytes was prepared as explained above. Splenocytes were centrifuged and resuspended in a 13.5% (wt/vol) Nycodenz isotonic solution (Sigma). Then the cell suspension was overlaid with RPMI/2mM EDTA and centrifuged for 15 minutes at 1700g (4°C). Low-density cells were collected from the interface, thoroughly washed in PBS/0.5% BSA and a cell count was obtained using a Coulter Counter. Cells were kept on ice until further use.

In vitro co-culture assay

The cellular composition of the *in vitro* co-culture assay employed Nycodenz enriched DCs and/or magnetic bead-enriched Gr-1⁺ cells from flt3-L treated mouse spleens and TRAMPC2 cells. The purified cell types were added to tissue culture dishes according to the ratios explained in each experiment. After overnight incubation at 37°C 5% CO2 incubator the cells were collected and washed with PBS. Then the cells were labeled for flow cytometric staining according to the procedure(s) above.

Generation of tetracycline inducible expression vectors

We generated tet-inducible SLC, GMCSF and CD40L vectors (pcDNA4/TO/SLC, pcDNA4/TO/GMCSF and pcDNA4/TO/CD40L) using the T-Rex system that was purchased form Invitrogen. Plasmids containing the open reading frames for these specific cytokines were purchased from Invivogen. The cytokine genes were amplified using specific primers. The sequence of the primers used to amplify these genes is listed below. In some cases a restriction site (bold letters) was inserted into the primer to be used for cloning. SLC primers: (*BamHI* site: GGA TCC)

Forward 5'-GCG CGG GAT CCC ATG GCT CAG ATG ATG AC-3'

Reverse 5'-TCA TGT CGA GCT AGC GGG CTC CAG GCG-3' GMCSF primers: (*BamHI* site: GGA TCC)

Forward: 5'-CAT TCA **GGA TCC** ATC ACC GGT AGA GG-3'

Reverse: 5'-TAT CAT GTC GSG CTA GCT GGG CTT CC-3'

CD40L primers: (*HindIII* site: AAG CTT)

Forward: 5'-CCG CGA AGC TTC ATG GCC ATA GAA ACA TAC-3'

Reverse: 5'-TTA TCA TGT CGA GCT AGC GAA GAC TGC CAG-3'

The PCR reactions were performed using 2.5 units of *Pfuturbo* DNA polymerase (stratagene), 0.25mM of each dNTPs (Biorad), 250ng of each primer and 50ng of plasmid template. The following conditions were used to amplify the cytokine genes: after initial denaturation at 95°C for 2 min, 4 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 42°C for 30 seconds, extension at 72°C for 2 minutes, and then another 35 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 57°C for 30 seconds, extension at 72°C for 2 minutes, and then another 35 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 57°C for 30 seconds, extension at 72°C for 2 minutes, and final extension at 72°C for 5 minutes program.

Amplified SLC and GM-CSF genes were digested with *BamHI* and *NheI* (New England Biolabs) restriction enzymes. The DNA sequence generated by *NheI* enzyme is complementary to the sequence generated by *XbaI* that is in the multiple cloning site of the pcDNA4/TO expression plasmid. This sequence can be used for ligation of the cytokine gene into the expression vector. The amplified CD40L gene was digested with *HindIII* (New England Biolabs) and *NheI* restriction enzymes. The pcDNA4/TO plasmid was also digested with the appropriate enzymes for each ligation (in case of SLC and GM-CSF with *BamHI*)

and *Xbal* and in case of CD40L with *HindIII* and *Xbal* (New England Biolabs), *Xbal* can be ligated to *Nhel* as they produce compatible cohesive ends. Then SLC, GM-CSF and CD40L genes were ligated into the digested pcDNA4/TO plasmid using T4 ligase (New England Biolabs) to generate pcDNA4/TO/SLC, pcDNA4/TO/GM-CSF and pcDNA4/TO/CD40L. Then XL-1 blue competent cells were transformed with each plasmid separately. Colonies of transformed bacteria were selected and grown in ampicillin containing Luria-Bertani (LB) broth. The plasmids were extracted from the bacterial culture using plasmid miniprep kit (Qiagen) and tested for presence of the ligated gene using different restriction enzymes based on Table 1: Table 1. Restriction enzymes used to determine the ligation of SLC, GMCSF and CD40L into the pcDNA4/TO vector.

| plasmids | Enzymes used | Expected bands (base pair) |
|------------------|--------------|----------------------------|
| pcDNA4/TO/SLC | Ncol | 3811, 1400, 390, 220 |
| pcDNA4/TO/GM-CSF | Ncol | 3440, 1810, 220 |
| pcDNA4/TO/CD40L | Ncol, BamHl | 3440, 1659, 514, 220 |

In order to confirm the integrity of the generated expression vectors, they were sequenced using the primers provided by Invitrogen in the T-Rex system.

Transfection of TRAMPC tumor cells

Different transfection reagents were tested in order to find one that shows high transfection efficiency with TRAMPC1P3 cells. The transfection reagents that included superfect (Qiagen), Lipofectin (Invitrogen), lipofectamine (Invitrogen), metafectene (Biontex), all showed efficiency of less than 1% (0.001 to 0.01%) using the green fluorescent protein expression vector. Next we tried calcium phosphate and electroporation methods. Electroporation of TRAMPC1P3 cells in the optimized condition showed about 1-2% efficiency. TRAMPC1P3 cells were transfected with the T-Rex system repressor vector using this method. TRAMPC1P3 cells that were in the log phase were harvested and incubated with the repressor vector in PBS for 10min on ice and then electroporation was performed at 800uF and 300V (low resistance) using a Biorad gene pulser (Model: 1652076). Cells were incubated on ice for 15min after electroporation and then they were cultured in fresh TRAMP media. After 48hrs, cells were passed into blasticidine containing media and antibiotic resistant clones were selected and tested for the expression of the repressor protein using immunofluorescence confocal microscopy.

Finally, we tried transfection of TRAMPC2 cells with FuGENE 6 transfection reagent (Roche) based on the protocol provided. Briefly, 2x10⁵ TRAMPC2 cells per well were seeded in a 6 well plate in 2ml of media. The following day 5ul of FuGENE 6/well was diluted with 90ul of RPMI. After a 5minute incubation at room temperature, 2ug of DNA/well was added to the FuGENE 6 mixture. To generate the tetracycline inducible cell lines TRAMPC2 cells were transfected with two different plasmids: the tet-inducible expression vector and the repressor vector. The ratio of the tet-inducible expression vector to repressor vector was 3:1 for transfection. After a brief vortex the mixture was incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. This mixture was added dropwise to the cells. After 48 hours of incubation the cells were passed into the antibiotic containing media to select for stably transfected cells. Zeocin (220ug/ml) and blasticidine (5ug/ml) are the antibiotic resistance genes on the tet-inducible expression vector and repressor vector, respectively.

Confocal Microscopy

TRAMPC1P3 cells (20000) were cultured in Lab-tek II tissue culture chambered cover glass (4 wells/slide) in 0.8ml of TRAMP media. The following day the media was removed and cells were fixed in 4% parafolmaldehyde for 15min at room temperature. Cell were washed with PBS 2 times for 5 min and then permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min. Then cells were blocked with 10% normal goat serum for 10min. Anti-Hsp70 (Stressgen) or anti-tet repressor (MoBiotech) (1ug each) or no antibody was added to each well and incubated for 30min. After 2 washes with PBS, Alexa fluor 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (Molecular Probes) was added and incubated for 30 min. After washing the secondary antibody cells were visualized using confocal microscope.

Identification of TRAMPC2/TR/cytokine clones that inducibly expressed the cytokine

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

In order to identify TRAMPC2/TR/SLC and TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF clones that expressed high levels of SLC and GM-CSF respectively and had low background expression, we performed ELISA using kits from R and D systems. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC or TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells (1 x 10⁵) were seeded in 12 well plates in duplicates in 1ml media. The following day media was replaced with fresh media with or without 2ug/ml of tetracycline and the cells were incubated for 24 hours. The assay was performed on the third day. Briefly, the wells of a 96 well plate (Costar EIA) were coated with 100ul of 4ug/ml of capture antibody and incubated overnight at room temperature. After washing the wells with wash buffer (0.05% Tween20 in PBS), the wells were blocked for 1 hour with 100ul of 1% BSA, 5% sucrose and 0.05%NaN₃ in PBS. Then the samples and the standards were added to the wells and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. The wells were washed a few times with wash buffer before adding 100ul of horseradish peroxidase conjugated detection antibody (50ng/ml). After 2 hours of incubation the wells were washed, 100ul of 1/200 dilution of strepavidin horseradish peroxidase was added to each well and incubated for 20min. At the end of the incubation the wells were washed and 100ul of substrate solution (R and D systems) was added to each well. At the end of 20 min incubation 50ul of
2N sulfuric acid was added to each well and the optical density of each well was determined using a microplate reader set to 450nm.

Flow cytometry

We performed flow cytometry to identify TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L clones that expressed high levels of CD40L and had low background expression.

TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cells (100,000) were seeded in 12 well plates in duplicates in 1ml media. The following day the media was replaced with fresh media with or without 2ug/ml of tetracycline and the cells were incubated for 24 hours. The cells were harvested using trypsin, blocked with 5ul of goat serum and washed with wash buffer (1%goat serum in PBS solution). PE-conjugated CD40L antibody (1ug, eBiosciences) was added to each tube and incubated for 20min in dark at 4°C. Then cells were washed twice with wash buffer and analyzed with flow cytometer.

Methylation assay

To assess whether the CMV promoter had been silenced, we assessed the methylation status of the promoter using a DNA methylation kit from Zymo research. DNA was extracted from either 3X10⁶ cells or 15mg of tissue (prostate tumor) using GenomicPrep cells and tissue DNA isolation kit (Amersham Biosciences). Bisulfite conversion was performed using 20ug of DNA according to the manufacturer's protocol. Bisulfite-treated DNA (5ul) was prepared for hot-start PCR amplification, using a pair of primers complementary to a region of

CMV promoter not containing methylation sites (oligos 1) (forward: 5'-TAT TGT TAT TAT GGT GAT GTG G; reverse: 5'-TTA CCC TAA AAA ATT TTA CAA CAT TA) or a pair of primers complementary to a region of the CMV promoter which contains methylation sites (oligos 2) (forward: 5'-TTA TCG TTA TTA TTA TGG TGA TGC G; reverse: 5'-GCC CTA AAA AAT TTT ACA GCA TTA T). Amplification conditions involved initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 45 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 30 seconds and elongation at 72°C for 2 minutes with a final elongation at 72°C for 10 minutes. An aliquot of PCR products (5ul) were run on an agarose gel and the DNA visualized using Gel Star (Lonza Bioscience).

GM-CSF ELISPOT

To estimate the frequency of TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells secreting mouse GM-CSF we performed ELISPOT assays using a kit from R and D systems. TRAMPC2/TR/GMCSF cells were placed in quadricate in the wells of a PVDF-bottom microplate in TRAMP media and incubated overnight at 37°C 5%CO₂ incubator. Tetracycline (2ug/ml) was added to two wells from four of each clone. The media was removed after overnight culture and assay was performed based on the provided protocol. Spots were quantified using a dissection microscope.

Detection of metastatic disease

To detect metastatic disease in mice with TRAMP tumors, different tissues (lymph nodes, lungs, pancreas) were harvested using sterile techniques. Tissues were diced with scalpels into 1-2 mm³ fragments, explanted into 6-well tissue culture dishes, allowed to attach for 5-10 min at 37°C and cultured in 0.5 ml/well of growth medium at 37°C in a humidified chamber. Growth medium was replaced every 3-4 days and cells from explanted outgrowths expanded for further analysis (155). In some cases prostate tumors were cultured using the same technique and cells from explanted outgrowths expanded for re-injection into the prostate gland.

Flow cytometric analysis of DNA content

Derived cell lines dissociated by trypsinization were fixed in cold 70% ethanol and stained with 0.5 ml propidium iodide (PI, Sigma) and RNAse A (100 U/ml) for minimum of 30min to overnight at 4°C and analyzed on a BD FACScan cytometer. DNA histograms were created using MODFIT software. Mouse splenocytes were used as an internal diploid control by spiking the samples before fixation and PI staining to ensure identical exposure to PI for both sample cells and splenocytes.

Percoll gradient centrifugation

Stock Percoll solution (GE healthcare biosciences) was prepared by mixing 9ml Percoll and 1ml 10X PBS. Then 70%, 40% and 20% Percoll was prepared from stock solution using 1X PBS. Single cell suspension of TILs and spleens were prepared as described before and resuspended in 70% Percoll. A volume of 2ml was placed at the bottom of 15ml conical tube and then layered with 2ml 40% Percoll and 2ml of 20% Percoll and 2ml PBS on the top. Tubes were centrifuged for 45min at 1200g at 20°C. Interface cells were removed separately, washed, counted and used for further analysis.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis in these studies was performed using the PRISM 4 statistical software package (GraphPad Software, Inc.). This package was used to perform Student's *t*-test. The software provided P values that were statistically significant, which was when a P value was <0.05. Any significant differences were noted in the text and figures corresponding to the data.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

To investigate the phenotype and functional status of dendritic cells infiltrating TRAMPC2 prostate tumor *in vivo* and after *ex vivo* culture.

The function of a DC is highly influenced by its level of maturation. Immature DCs are capable of antigen uptake and processing but cannot present antigen to T cells and activate them (165). The following experiments were designed to evaluate the maturation status of DCs infiltrating TRAMP tumors. Initially TRAMP tumor infiltrating dendritic cells (TIDCs) were phenotyped using monoclonal antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometer. Since the majority of the TRAMP TIDCs were immature, we tried to identify the cell type responsible for induction of such a phenotype *in vitro* using co-culture technique. In order to study the functional status of TRAMP TIDCs we tried to purify these cells using common methods like adherence, Nycodenz and percoll gradient centrifugation.

Phenotypic analysis of dendritic cells in the TRAMPC2 tumor microenvironment

Dendritic cells play a very essential role in the generation of both innate and adaptive T cell-mediated immune responses *in vivo*; as noted previously, acquisition of APC function is a maturational process that manifests itself, at least

in part, by the up-regulation of distinct cell surface molecules essential for T cell activation. Therefore, we assessed whether intra-tumoral DCs expressed these essential molecules within the prostate TME. Figure 2 shows the phenotypic analysis of splenic and tumor infiltrating DCs using a CD11c (a marker for DCs) gate (panel Aa). The majority of DCs infiltrating TRAMPC2 tumors fail to express class II antigen (IA^b) and B7.2 co-stimulatory molecules. More than 44% of DCs from spleen of normal mice express IA^b (B-a), whereas 34% of DCs from spleen of tumor bearing mice (B-b) and only 16% of tumor infiltrating dendritic cells (TIDCs) express IA^b (B-c). Similarly, the percentage of B7.2 positive DCs was reduced from 44% in normal spleen (B-a) to 23% for intratumoral DCs (B-c). CD40 expression was also impaired by the TME as 36% of normal splenic DCs expressed this molecule (B-d) but only 16% of the tumor bearing splenic (B-e) and TIDCs expressed CD40 (B-f). Most of the TIDCs appeared to be myeloid DCs because most of these cells did not express CD8 α (B-g, h and i). Class I antigen (H2D^b) expression did not seem to be suppressed by the TME as almost all normal spleen DCs as well as tumor bearing spleen DCs and TIDCs expressed this antigen at equivalent levels (Fig. 2, B-d, e and f). The coexpression of B7.2 and IA^b by CD11c⁺ cells was reduced from 28% in normal spleen (B-a) to 4% in TILs (B-c). For clarity, the data presented in panel A and B has been plotted in as bar graphs in panels C and D. Surprisingly, the expression of B7.1 co-stimulatory molecule on TIDCs was not inhibited by the TRAMPC2 TME (panel C). The expression of the chemokine receptor CCR7 was also suppressed in the TME relative to normal spleen. In contrast, DC

expression of PDL2 was elevated on intra-tumoral DCs relative to normal splenic DCs (10 versus 3%, respectively). Thus, these data suggest that intra-tumoral DCs are immature because they fail to express a number of cell surface markers associated with DC maturation.



Figure 2. Phenotypic characterization of TRAMPC2 tumor infiltrating DCs.

Mice were transplanted with TRAMPC2 tum or cells and tumors were excised about 30 days later when tumor reached about 1cm in diameter. Single cell suspension from normal and tumor bearing (TB) spleens and TILs were prepared. Normal, TB spleen cells and TILs were stained with indicated mAbs and evaluated by 4-color flow cytometry. A: A single color analysis (forward scatter vs. log fluorescent intensity) of CD11c⁺ DCs of normal spleen (a) and TILs isolated from TRAMPC2 tumors (R1 shows the CD11c⁺ gate) (b). B: Gated CD11c⁺ cells from each population were assessed for expression of B7.2, IA^b, H2D^b, CD40 and CD8a molecules. The values in each quadrant indicate the percentage of cells in the CD11c⁺ gate that stained with the indicated mAbs. Panel C and D: Further phenotypic characterization of TIDCs displayed as bar graphs. These results are representative of 3 independent experiments.

Enrichment of dendritic cells through adherence

Although TRAMP TIDCs are phenotypically immature, the functional status of these cells is unknown. Purification of TIDCs is an important step for performing functional assays. We therefore tested the efficacy of several different methods to isolate intra-tumoral DCs. The most common procedure to enrich for DCs is based on the selective adherence of DCs to tissue culture plates (166). Dendritic cells will initially adhere to plastic but unlike macrophages, become detached after incubation overnight. Panels in Figure 3 show the gates for splenic and tumor infiltrating CD11c⁺ DCs. This method resulted in about two-fold enrichment of splenic DCs from 5% to 9% as shown in Figure 3, panels a and b. However the same method only enriched TIDCs from 4% in the unfractionated sample (3-c) to 5% in the non-adherent cells (3-d).



Figure 3. Enrichment of DCs through adherence.

Single cell suspension of normal spleens and TILs isolated form TRAMPC2 tumors were prepared as discussed in the Material and Methods. Fresh spleen cells and TILs were stained with CD11c antibody for comparison (panels a and c). Cells were cultured and allowed to adhere for about 4-5 hours. Then non-adherent (lymphocytes) cells were decanted and cells were cultured overnight with fresh media. The following day non-adherent cells isolated from spleen (panel b) and TRAMPC2 tumors (panel d) were harvested and stained with CD11c mAb and analyzed by flow cytometry. The numbers in each box shows the percentage of CD11c⁺ DCs in each population.

Enrichment of dendritic cells using Nycodenz gradient centrifugation

In view of the failure of adherence to enrich for DCs, we next evaluated another commonly used procedure to purify DCs, namely, Nycodenz gradient centrifugation. Single cell suspensions of spleen and TRAMPC2 tumor were therefore prepared and subjected to Nycodenz gradient centrifugation as explained in the Material and Methods. The cells in the interface were stained with CD11c antibody to identify DCs. Figure 4 (panels a and b) shows that using this procedure DCs isolated from spleens of B16FL tumor bearing mice were enriched from 34% to 82%. Performing the same procedure did not result in enrichment of TIDCs (panels c, d).



Figure 4. Nycodenz gradient centrifugation enriched for splenic but not tumorinfiltrating dendritic cells.

A single color analysis (forward side scatter vs. log fluorescent intensity) of CD11c⁺ cells of B16FI spleen (a and b) and TILs isolated from TRAMPC2 tumors (c and d) is shown. Single cell suspensions were prepared of spleen from B16FI bearing mice and TRAMPC2 tumor. Cells were stained with anti-CD11c mAb to determine the percentage of DCs before enrichment in spleen (a) and in TILs (c). Then, the remaining cells were centrifuged on a Nycodenz gradient. The interface cells were harvested and stained with the same mAb to determine the purity of DCs in B16FI spleen (b) and TILs (d). The values in each panel show the percentage of CD11c⁺ DCs in each population.

Enrichment of dnedritic cells using Percoll gradient centrifugation

As a final approach to enrich for intratumoral DCs, we evaluated discontinuous Percoll gradient centrifugation that has been used to enrich leukocytes. Spleen cells and TILs were re-suspended in 70% Percoll, topped with layers of 40%, 20% and 0% Percoll in PBS and then centrifuged. As shown in Figure 5 panels A and B almost all of the leukocytes (other than T cells) from the spleen floated to the 70/40 interface. T cells were mostly found in the 40/20interface and were enriched from 20% in un-fractionated spleen cells to 40% after Percoll gradient. There were almost no cells in the 20/0 interface in the spleen. On the other hand, most of the leukocytes of TIL fraction including DCs were found in the 40/20 interface. Although DCs were slightly enriched in the 40/20 interface of TILs, this fraction still contains major contamination by other cells like macrophages (CD11b⁺) and granulocytes (Gr-1⁺). There were almost no cells in the 70/40 and 20/0 interface in TILs. This experiment clearly shows that leukocytes and specifically DCs isolated from the TME behave abnormally relative to their splenic equivalents.



Figure 5. Efficacy of dendritic cell enrichment by discontinuous Percoll gradient centrifugation.

Single cell suspensions were prepared from spleen of tumor bearing mice and TRAMPC2 tumors. Cells were resuspended in 70% Percoll and placed at the bottom of the tubes and layered on top with 40%, 20% and 0% of Percoll in PBS and centrifuged. Some cells were stained with indicated antibodies before fractionation of TILs and splenocytes for comparison. A: distribution pattern of spleen cells and TILs in a discontinuous Percoll gradient. B and C: percentage of different cell types found in the indicated interfaces when spleen cells (panel B) or TILs (panel C) were fractionated on Percoll.

TRAMPC2 cells mediate dendritic cells immature phenotype in vitro

Dendritic cell maturation is essential for the generation of an effective antitumor immune response. As demonstrated above and in agreement with findings by other groups, we showed that DCs isolated from TRAMPC2 tumors display an immature phenotype that may contribute to the ability of this tumor to grow progressively in the immunocompetent host. Bell et al. observed numbers of immature DCs in the tumor microenvironment of breast carcinoma to be much higher than in normal breast epithelium, suggesting increased homing and infiltration (101). High expression of HLA-DR class II (human leukocyte antigen-DR class II) and low expression of B7.1 and B7.2 molecules on TIDCs in colon carcinoma sections have been described (98). Gabrilovich et al. showed that mature DCs from 3T3 fibroblast tumor bearing mice are not effective antigen presenting cells (167). Furthermore, We showed that DCs in the TRAMP TME do not behave as expected as we tried to purify them using different methods. Condensation of cytoplasm and shrinkage of the cell, membrane blebbing, chromatin condensation and nuclear fragmentation that are typical features of apoptosis has been reported when DCs were co-cultured with different tumor cells (168). Although causes of defects in the morphology and function of DCs are unknown it has been shown that granulocytes from cancer patients co-purify with low density peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) on a density gradient rather than sediment, as expected, to the bottom of the gradient (169). Since we were unable to purify DCs from TRAMP tumors we performed a series

of co-culture studies in an attempt to identify the cell type responsible for induction of this immature phenotype displayed by DCs infiltrating TRAMPC2 tumors. Purified DCs from spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice were stained fresh with specified antibodies and after overnight culture alone, with 5X or 10X TRAMPC2 cells. As shown in Figure 6, 14% of fresh DCs were IA^b positive. The percentage of IA^b positive cells increased to 38% after overnight culture. The addition of TRAMPC2 cells to the culture seemed to inhibit the expression of IA^b *in vitro* as the presence of 5X and 10X TRAMPC2 caused the IA^b expression to drop to 29 and 19% respectively. Interestingly the reduction of IA^b expression seemed to be dose response effect in the presence of tumor cells. Fresh DCs were essentially devoid of B7.1 expression but overnight culture resulted in a strong up-regulation of this co-stimulatory molecule. This induction was suppressed in the presence of TRAMPC2 tumor cells in a dose-dependent fashion. A similar pattern of induction and inhibition was observed for B7.2 and CD40 with the exception that basal levels of these molecules were higher than B7.1. As shown in panel B when a CD11c gate was defined the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1 and IA^b/B7.2 increased when DCs were cultured (from 8 and 18% to 25 and 44%, respectively). Co-culture of DCs with TRAMPC2 cells prevented the up-regulation of these molecules to some extent compared to DCs cultured alone. The co-expression of H2D^b/CD40 molecules increased only about 5% when DCs were cultured alone; however the presence of TRAMPC2 cells inhibited the up-regulation of these molecules. These studies suggest that the immature phenotype of DCs in the TRAMP TME could be induced at least

partially by tumor cells.



Figure 6. TRAMPC2 cells partially induce the immature phenotype of tumor infiltrating DCs.

Dendritic cells were purified from spleen of B16FI tumor bearing mice by Nycodenz gradient centrifugation. Purified DCs were stained fresh with indicated antibodies for comparison (a, e, I, m). Purified DCs (X) were cultured alone (b, f, g, n), with 5X (c, g, k, o) and 10X (d, h, I, p) TRAMPC2 cells overnight. The following day DCs were harvested and stained with indicated antibodies and analyzed using 4-color flow cytometry. Panel A: The co-expression of CD11c and IA^b (pane a-d), B7.1 (panels e-h), B7.2 (i-I) or CD40 (m-p). Panel B: A CD11c⁺ gate was defined and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1; IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 by DCs in each condition was plotted. These are the results of 3 independent experiments.

В

Immature phenotype of dendritic cells induced by TRAMPC2 cells is contact mediated *in vitro*

TRAMPC2 cells prevent DCs to express maturation markers in vitro. This effect could be via direct contact or through the release of soluble factors such as IL-10 (170) and TGF- β (171). In order to address this issue, DCs were cultured with or without TRAMPC2 cells in tissue culture dishes with transwells to prevent cell-cell contact. As shown in Figure 7 the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DCs seemed to be mainly contact mediated. For example, no more than 11% of fresh DCs (panel a) were IA^b positive and that increased to 71% when DCs were cultured alone in media (b). When 10X TRAMPC2 cells (panels c) were added to the cultured DCs, the expression of class II antigen was inhibited as the percentage of IA^b positive DCs was only 44%. However, when TRAMPC2 cells were not in contact with DCs (panel d) the expression of IA^b was 72% that was similar to DCs cultured alone. Similarly, fresh CD11c⁺ cells were 3% B7.1⁺ (panel e) and this increased to 55% when $CD11c^+$ cells were cultured alone (panel f). TRAMPC2 cells inhibited the expression of B7.1 molecule by DCs (panel g) as only 20% of cultured CD11c⁺ cells in the presence of TRAMPC2 cells were B7.1 positive, however, 34% of DCs cultured with TRAMPC2 cells in transwell expressed B7.1. Similar results were obtained for the expression of B7.2 molecules by DCs and the expression of this molecule was inhibited when DCs were in contact with TRAMPC2 cells (panels j, k and i). However, CD40 expression seemed to be inhibited through soluble factors as its expression by

DCs was inhibited whether DCs were in contact with TRAMPC2 cells or not (panel o and p). As shown in Figure 7 panel B the percentage of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 molecules co-expression decreased compared to DCs cultured alone when DCs were cultured in contact with TRAMPC2 cells. The percentage of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 molecules co-expression did not decrease when DCs were cultured in transwells separated from TRAMPC2 cells. The coexpression of H2D^b/CD40 on the other hand decreased both when DCs were in contact or not with TRAMPC2 cells compared to DCs cultured alone which means that the expression of CD40 molecules by DCs could be inhibited by TRAMPC2 cells through soluble factors.



Β



Figure 7. TRAMPC2 cells prevented maturation of DCs *in vitro* mainly through direct contact.

A: Dendritic cells were purified from spleen of B16FI tumor mice by Nycodenz gradient centrifuge. Fresh DCs were stained with indicated antibodies to establish basal levels of expression (a, e, I, m). 2X10⁶ (X) DCs were placed in the upper chamber of transwells. 5X (c, g, k, o) or 10X (d, h, l, p) or 0 (b, f, g, n) TRAMPC2 cells were added to the lower chamber in TRAMP media and cultured in 37°C, 5% CO₂ incubator overnight. Dendritic cells were harvested the following day, stained with indicated antibodies and analyzed by four-color flow cytometer. B: A CD11c⁺ gate was defined and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 or H2D^b/CD40 molecules by DCs in each condition has been plotted. These are the results of 2 independent experiments.

Granulocytes do not induce the immature phenotype of dendritic cells

Although TRAMPC2 cells can inhibit culture-induced DC maturation, large numbers of tumor cells are required for this effect in vitro. This raises questions about the physiological relevance of these observations. As noted previously, TRAMPC2 tumors are infiltrated by large numbers of myeloid cells that could express immunosuppressive factors. For example, granulocytes are a major cell type found infiltrating TRAMPC2 tumors (130) and have been shown to have immunosuppressive activity (172). Therefore, we used an in vitro system to investigate whether Gr-1⁺ cells play any role in the inhibition of DC maturation in the TRAMPC2 TME. In this experiment we cultured DCs purified from spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice alone, with purified Gr-1⁺ cells or with both Gr-1⁺ and TRAMPC2 cells. As shown in Figure 8 (panel A) 27% of fresh DCs (a) expressed IA^b but when they were cultured in just media class II induction was evident (panel b). The addition of GR-1⁺ cells inhibited this maturation modestly (panel c), whereas, IA^b expression was more dramatically inhibited in the presence of both tumor and Gr-1⁺ cells (panel d). The addition of Gr-1⁺ cells did not appear to inhibit the expression of any of the other maturation markers used in this study (panels e-p). As shown in panel B, co-expression of IA^b/B7.1; IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 was down-regulated by Gr-1⁺ cells but the mixture of Gr-1⁺ and TRAMPC2 cells caused down-regulation of IA^b, B7.1 molecules compared to the co-expression of these molecules by DCs cultured alone.



Figure 8. Granulocytes did not induce immature phenotype of DCs in vitro.

A: Dendritic cells were purified from spleen of B16FI tumor mice by Nycodenz gradient centrifuge. Fresh DCs were stained with indicated antibodies for comparison (a, e, i, m). Granulocytes were purified from spleen of B16FI tumor bearing mice using magnetic beads. 2X10⁶ (X) DCs were cultured alone overnight (b, f, j, n). Dendritic cells were also cultured with 5X Gr-1⁺ cells overnight (c, g, k, o) or both with 5X Gr-1⁺ and 2.5X TRAMPC2 cells (d, h, I, p). Dendritic cells were harvested the following day, stained with indicated antibodies and analyzed by four-color flow-cytometer. Panel B: A CD11c⁺ gate was defined and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1; IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 by DCs in each condition was plotted. These are the results of 2 independent experiments.

The data presented here demonstrate that DCs infiltrating TRAMPC2 tumors have an immature phenotype defined by low levels of expression of class II antigens and co-stimulatory molecules. Furthermore we showed that TIDCs do not behave normally in a variety of fractionation protocols and this prevented purification for functional analysis. Based on studies utilizing an *in vitro* co-culture protocol, TRAMPC2 cells appeared primarily responsible for the immature phenotype displayed by TIDCs. Moreover, this activity appeared to be contactdependent because expression of MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules was not inhibited by TRAMPC2 cells when tumor cells were separated from DCs in transwell plates.

Evaluation of SLC, GMCSF and CD40L to induce dendritic cell maturation *in vitro* using TRAMPC2 cell lines expressing these chemokine/cytokines

It has been shown that TIDCs in several transplantable and transgenic mouse tumor models uniformly had an immature phenotype and were refractory to activation with a combination of microbial and T cell-derived stimuli (137). Therefore experiments were designed to first establish that maturation of purified immature DCs isolated from spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice can be induced using bacterial stimuli and then using co-culture method to study whether maturation of the immature DCs can be induced in the presence of TRAMPC2 tumor cells. Furthermore, we wanted to study whether the cytokines that are known to induce DC maturation were able to do so when expressed by TRAMPC2 cells and whether these cytokines were able to reverse the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 tumor cells on DCs. Therefore, we generated prostate cancer cell lines that inducibly could express specific cytokine and chemokines and these cell lines were used to perform these studies.

Induction of dendritic cell maturation by LPS

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is the major component of gram-negative bacterial cell wall and is known to induce DC maturation both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (134, 173). As mentioned in the background section SLC, GM-CSF and specifically CD40L are also known to cause up-regulation of DC maturation markers. Lipopolysaccharide-induced DC maturation would be considered the maximum achievable under our experimental conditions. Immature DCs were therefore cultured with or without (2 μ g/ml) LPS overnight. Lipopolysaccharide caused a very modest up-regulation of IA^b from 23 to 36% (Fig. 9, panels a, b), but a more pronounced induction of B7 family members of B7.1 (Fig. 9, panels c, d), and B7.2 (Fig. 9 panels e, f). A significant induction was also observed for CD40 expression (Fig 9, panels g, h).



Figure 9. Induction of DC maturation by lipopolysaccaride *in vitro*. Immature DCs purified from spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice were cultured alone (panels a, c, e, and g) or with 2 μ g/ml LPS (panels b, d, f and h) overnight. Dendritic cells were harvested the following day, stained using optimal concentration of indicated antibodies for 20 min at 4°C and analyzed by 4-color flow cytometer. A forward and side scattered gate has been set up. Panels a through h show flow cytometric dot plots demonstrating co-expression of the indicated molecules on CD11c⁺ cells.

We showed here that DCs infiltrating TRAMP tumors were phenotypically immature and majority of them did not express the molecules required for T cell activation. The ultimate goal of this study is to induce maturation of DCs using different cytokines and chemokines in vivo. Therefore, first we wanted to determine whether immature DCs could be activated by LPS in the presence of TRAMP tumor cells. Purified immature DCs were cultured alone, with 2ug/ml of LPS and with 10 times more TRAMPC2 cells along with 2ug/ml LPS overnight (Fig. 10). Dendritic cells were harvested and stained with indicated monoclonal antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometer. Cultured DCs were 47% IA^b positive while addition of LPS caused up-regulation of IA^b to 74%. In the presence of both TRAMPC2 cells and LPS immature DCs still up-regulated IA^b (51%) although not to the extent that LPS had caused in the absence of TRAMPC2 tumor cells (Fig. 10, panels a, b and c). While only 1% of cultured DCs expressed B7.1, DCs cultured with LPS were 7% B7.1 positive and addition of TRAMPC2 cells caused higher percentage of DCs to express B7.1 (20%) (panels d, e and f). The same results were observed with B7.2 and CD40 molecules. These data showed that although TRAMPC2 cells prevented DC maturation but the immature DCs that were exposed to tumor cells were still capable of upregulation of class II antigens and co-stimulatory molecules.



CD11c

Figure 10. Immature DCs in contact with TRAMPC2 cells can still undergo maturation.

Purified immature DCs (X) were cultured alone, with LPS (2ug/ml) and with LPS (2ug/ml) in the presence of TRAMPC2 (10X) overnight. Dendritic cells were harvested the following day, stained using optimal concentration of indicated antibodies for 20 min at 4°C and analyzed by 4-color flow cytometer. Panels a through h show flow cytometric dot plots demonstrating co-expression of the indicated molecules on CD11c⁺ cells.

Generation and characterization of stably transfected TRAMPC1P3 cells with regulated transgene expression

To generate TRAMP cell lines with regulated expression of cytokines of interest, TRAMPC1P3 cells were first transfected with the repressor protein by electroporation. After about 3 weeks of selection in blasticidine, antibiotic resistant clones were screened for the expression of the repressor protein by confocal microscopy using a monoclonal antibody against the tet repressor protein (TR) protein. Figure 11A shows that ~80% of the cells displayed constitutive expression of TR protein in the cytosol and nucleus of TRAMPC1P3 cells. In Figure 11B a mAb against heat shock protein 70 was used as positive control.



Figure 11. Expression of tetracycline repressor protein in transfected TRAMPC1P3 tumor cells.

TRAMPC1P3 tumor cells were transfected with the pcDNA6/TR vector by electroporation. Cells were subsequently stained with mAbs against either TR (A) or murine heat shock protein 70 (B).

In the course of maintaining transfected cells for further transfection with different expression vectors, we observed that with continuous passage, expression of the repressor protein diminished (data not presented). We therefore considered the possibility that TR protein expression may have reflected episomal activity of the vector. To minimize this possibility, we performed several additional transfection experiments using linearized pcDNA6/TR DNA. However, transfection with linearized vector did not prevent diminished TR protein expression during maintenance of this cell line *in vitro* (data not shown). One way to explain our inability to detect repressor protein in transfected clones after *in vitro* passages was very low expression of the repressor protein. This could happen through different mechanisms like losing the gene or silencing the gene's promoter.

Generation and characterization of stably transfected TRAMPC1P3 cells with the repressor and SLC expression vectors

Previous experiments showed that when TRAMP cells were transfected with the repressor vector the repressor protein could be detected by confocal microscopy using a mAb against TR. However, after a few *in vitro* passages it seemed that these cells did not have high enough concentration of the repressor protein to be detected by confocal microscopy. However the amount of the repressor protein could be enough to prevent the expression of the gene of interest from the expression vector. As an alternative approach we tried to co-

transfect TRAMPC1P3 tumor cells with TR vector and SLC expression vector (pcDNA4/TO/SLC) and screen for the expression of SLC protein in the absence and presence of tetracycline. Therefore, we co-transfected TRAMPC1P3 cells with the repressor vector and SLC expression vector using Fugene 6 that showed higher transfection efficiency for TRAMP cells than electroporation. Cells were passed into media containing antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine) and antibiotic resistant clones were maintained for 3-4 weeks before they were tested for the expression of SLC. We performed an ELISA using the supernatant of TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC cells when they were cultured with or without 2ug/ml of tetracycline for 24hr. Figure 12 shows two different TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones that were tested for inducible expression of SLC. Clone #3 when it was initially tested (passage 1) showed a relatively high SLC expression with tetracycline (about 180pg/ml) and low background (30pg/ml). After three additional in vitro passages (passage 4) SLC expression by clones #3 was lower (131 pg/ml) and had higher background (58 pg/ml). When Clone #4 was tested for the first time it expressed 130 pg/ml of SLC when induced with tetracycline and had no detectable background expression. However, clone #4 expressed about 84 pg/ml of SLC without tetracycline induction at passage 4 and expressed 90 pg/ml when induced. It seemed that in vitro passages resulted in increased "leakiness" of the clones and lowered expression levels following induction by tetracycline (Fig. 12).



Figure 12. Expansion of TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC cells *in vitro* is associated with loss of tet-inducible expression of SLC.

TRAMPC1P3 cells were co-transfected with TR and SLC expression vectors and two tet-inducible clones expanded *in vitro* in the presence of antibiotics. The concentration of SLC in the supernatant was determined after 24 hr of induction in the presence of 1ug/ml of tetracycline. After 4 passages the same clones became "leaky" and were less inducible by tetracycline.

Next we sub-cloned TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones that showed some level of SLC expression in order to isolate cells that expressed higher levels of SLC with low background expression. In another series of transfection experiments, two representative tet-inducible clones were sub-cloned by limiting dilution in an attempt to isolate stable transfectants. Two out of 62 sub-clones had negligible background and relatively high induction level; however, after 3 passages the induction level diminished and then became undetectable after several additional passages (Fig. 13 and data not presented). TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC 2-19 (Fig. 13), a sub-clone derived from clone 2, had no background expression with an induced level of SLC expression of 206 pg/ml when it was first tested. After three additional passages, the same cell line had higher background (64 pg/ml) and lower tetracycline inducible level of SLC expression (123 pg/ml). When TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones were tested again after a few more passages, no SLC expression was detected (data not shown).



Figure 13. Loss of tet-inducible expression in subclones derived from TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC cells.

TRAMPC1P3 cells were transfected with TR and SLC expression vectors and two positive clones (2 and 5) were identified by ELISA. After several passages, both lines showed high background expression and possessed minimal induction with tet. These lines were sub-cloned by limiting dilution method and then screened for SLC induction. Three positive sub-clones derived from either clone 2 (2-19) or clone 5 (5-4, 5-42) that had low background and high initial SLC induction. After three additional passages, tet induction either diminished or became undetectable.

The fact that all TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones shown in Figure 13 lost the expression of SLC after passages *in vitro* may reflect loss of the SLC gene. To assess this possibility, PCR primers were designed that could amplify the transfected SLC gene but not endogenous SLC gene. Genomic DNA was extracted from TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones 2-19 and 5-4 (Fig. 13) and transfected SLC gene was amplified by PCR. This analysis indicated that the transfected SLC gene was not detectable by PCR in either of the two previously positive sub-clones (Fig. 14).


Figure 14. Loss of the SLC gene in transfected TRAMPC1P3 cells during expansion *in vitro*.

Genomic DNA was extracted from TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC sub-clones (2-19 and 5-4) that originally had displayed tet-inducible SLC production. The transfected SLC gene was amplified by PCR using primers specific for the SLC gene and tetracycline operator sequences present in the vector. Using these primers, no product was detected using parental TRAMPC1P3 DNA (data not shown). Lane 1 contains molecular weight markers and lanes 2 and 3 were loaded with DNA from sub-clones 2-19 and 5-4. PcDNA4/TO/SLC expression vector was used as positive control for the PCR reaction (lane4).

Isolation and characterization of transfected tetracycline inducible TRAMPC2 clones with high SLC production *in vitro*

The difficulty in isolating stable transfectants of TRAMPC1P3 cells expressing inducible cytokines prompted us to evaluate TRAMPC2 tumor cells. The TRAMPC2 cell line was derived from the same TRAMP tumor as TRAMPC1 and is very similar to TRAMPC1 (153). There is one major difference between these two TRAMP lines: TRAMPC2 is metastatic when injected subcutaneously. whereas, TRAMPC1 is locally invasive but not metastatic (115, 174). We therefore transfected both TRAMPC2 and TRAMPC1P3 cell lines with TR and pcDNA4/TO/SLC expression vectors using Fugene 6 transfection reagent. Transfected cells then were selected in antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine) for about 3 weeks. The antibiotic resistant clones were expanded and tested for inducible expression of SLC by ELISA. Six TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones were isolated that possessed low constitutive expression of chemokine and an impressive 12- to 60-fold induction of SLC in the presence of tetracycline (Fig. 15, panel A). Two of the TRAMPC1P3/TR/SLC clones showed a 5-6-fold induction of SLC similar to what was observed in the previous experiments (data not presented). To test if TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines would maintain tet-inducible expression, cells were re-tested after 3 and 6 additional passages. Three of clones still had a remarkable induction with tetracycline (Fig. 15 panel B). These clones also had a very low constitutive level of SLC expression (Fig. 15, note scale change). As shown in Figure 15 clone #6 had low background (100 pg/ml)

and 1800pg/ml tet induced level of SLC. After 3 and even 8 in vitro passages clone #6 still showed low level of background but the level of tet induced SLC decreased to about 700 pg/ml after 3 passages and to 500pg/ml after 8 passages. Clones #4 and 5 had high level of SLC induction at passage 1 (1900 and 1000 pg/ml, respectively). At passage 3 the level of inducible expression of clones #4 and 5 dropped to 1300 and 600 pg/ml. But after 8 passages the level of tet inducible expression of clones #4 and 5 increased to 3500 and 3200 pg/ml (panel C). These two clones maintained very low background through all the passages. Although these clones had variable levels of SLC induction they maintained the expression of SLC after *in vitro* passages.



Figure 15. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cells maintain regulated expression of SLC *in vitro*.

TRAMPC2 cells were transfected with the repressor and SLC expression vectors using Fugene 6 transfection reagent. Two days after transfection cells were passed into antibiotics containing media. A: After about three weeks of selection in antibiotics the antibiotics resistant clones (TRAMPC2/TR/SLC #4, 5 and 6) were tested for SLC expression with and without 2ug/ml of tetracycline by ELISA. ELISA was performed after 3 (B) and 8 (C) passages to test whether these clones maintained the inducible expression of the transgene.

Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine secreted by TRAMPC2 cells does not induce DC maturation *in vitro*

Having established TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cell lines we next studied the impact of SLC on DC maturation when secreted by transfected TRAMPC2 cells in vitro. In this experiment DCs (X number) purified from the spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice were cultured alone, with 10X TRAMPC2 and 10X TRAMPC2/TR/SLC (in the presence of 2ug/ml tetracycline) overnight and stained with the indicated antibodies the next day. Fresh DCs were also stained for comparison. The concentration of CCL21 in the lymph node has been estimated to be 11-12 ug/ml, and is likely considerably higher within the T cell zones (175). The concentration of SLC in the media of cultured DCs was about 2ug/ml. As shown in Figure 16 only 6% of fresh CD11c⁺ cells expressed IA^b (panel a) whereas 39% of cultured CD11c⁺ cells express $|A^{b}|$ (panel b). TRAMPC2 cells prevented $|A^{b}|$ expression by DCs to about 18% (panel c) that was only increased to 20% when TRAMPC2 cells expressed SLC (panel d). This was still lower than IA^b expression when DCs were cultured alone (39%). While only 3% of fresh DCs expressed B7.1 (panel e), 15% of cultured DCs expressed this molecule (panel f). When DCs were cultured with 10 times more TRAMPC2 cells the percentage of B7.1 positive DCs dropped to 8% (panel g), which increased slightly (11%) when SLC was expressed byTRAMPC2 cells (panel h). Fresh DCs were 5% B7.2 positive (panel i) and cultured DCs were 26% B7.2 positive (j). The percentage of B7.2 positive DCs decreased when DCs were cultured with

TRAMPC2 cells to 10% (k) and it increased very modestly 13% when TRAMPC2 cells expressed SLC (panel I). The co-expression of IA^b and co-stimulatory molecules increased after over night culture compared to fresh DCs and TRAMPC2 cells caused down-regulation of these molecules as shown in Figure 16B. Expression of SLC in the culture by TRAMPC2 cells caused a very moderate increase in the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1 and IA^b/B7.2 by DCs although this up-regulation did not overcome the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DCs. Although H2D^b/CD40 co-expression decreased when DCs were cultured with TRAMPC2 cells compared to DCs cultured alone, SLC did not cause an increase in the co-expression of these molecules. Although SLC has been shown to induce DC maturation but it is not as potent as GM-CSF and CD40L.These results show that SLC could not reverse the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 tumor cells on DC maturation and did not cause maturation of immature DCs in the presence of tumor cells.

Α

Β



Figure 16. Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine does not induce DC maturation.

Panel A: DCs were purified from spleen of B16fl tumor bearing mice using Nycodenz gradient centrifugation. Fresh DCs were stained for comparison (a, e, i and m). Dendritic cells were cultured alone (b, f, j and n), with 10X TRAMPC2 (c, g, k and o) or 10X TRAMPC2/SLC (d, h, I and p). Cultured DCs were harvested, stained with indicated antibodies the following day and analyzed with 4-color flow cytometer. Panel B: A CD11c gate was defined fro the data presented in panel A and the percentage of CD11c+ cells that co-express IA^b/B7.1; IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 in each population (Fresh DCs, cultured DCs, DCs/TRAMPC2 and DCs/TRAMPC2/SLC) has been plotted.

Isolation and characterization of transfected TRAMPC2 clones with high and stable production of CD40L inducible with tetracycline *in vitro*

In view of the fact that TRAMPC2 tumors are infiltrated with immature DCs we used the tetracycline inducible system to express CD40L in TRAMPC2 tumor microenvironment. It has been shown that CD40L in a potent inducer of DC maturation (65). We transfected TRAMPC2 cells with the repressor vector and the pcDNA/TO/CD40L expression vector. The transfected cells were selected with two antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine). Antibiotic resistant clones were then isolated, expanded and tested for induction of CD40L expression after incubation with tetracycline. We isolated a single TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L clone that when induced with tetracycline more than 50% of the cells expressed CD40L compared to 11% background expression of CD40L without induction (Fig. 17).



Figure 17. Tet-inducible regulation of CD40-ligand expression in transfected TRAMPC2 cells.

TRAMPC2 cells were transfected with repressor and pcDNA4/TO/CD40L expression vector. Transfected cells were selected in antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine) containing media. Cells from an antibiotic resistant clone were seeded into 12 well plates (10⁶/ml) in duplicate. The next day media was replaced with 1ml fresh media with or without 2ug/ml of tetracycline. Cells were harvested the following day, blocked with normal goat serum and then stained with a FITC-conjugated mouse anti-CD154 (CD40L) or FITC-conjugated hamster IgG (negative control). Following a final wash step, cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Quadrants were drawn based on the isotype control. Plotted are CD40L staining versus side scatter (SSC) on cells incubated in the absence (left panel) or presence of tetracycline (right panel).

CD40L secreted by TRAMPC2 cells reversed prevention of dnedritic cell maturation induced by tumor cells *in vitro*

Activation of the CD40 receptors is one of the critical signals that allow the full maturation of DCs into potent APCs (165). Dendritic cell maturation signals may be delivered by an antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell when it recognizes antigen on the surface of the DC and signals the DC through CD40-CD40L interaction (176). Dendritic cell maturation may also be induced by exposure to cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β) (177-179), bacterial components (LPS) (180), CpG containing DNA (181, 182) or double-stranded RNA (183). In addition, the T-cell-mediated maturation of DC may be mimicked by artificial CD40 triggering through anti-CD40 antibodies (184) or CD40L transfected cells (65). Therefore we studied whether CD40L expressed by TRAMPC2 cells can overcome the suppressor effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DCs in vitro. Purified immature DCs were cultured alone, with TRAMPC2 cells or stably transfected TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cells (in the presence of tetracycline) and stained with the indicated mAbs the following day (Fig. 18). Fresh DCs were also stained for comparison. Fresh DCs were 8% IA^b positive (panel a) that increased to 29% when DCs were cultured (panel b). The presence of TRAMPC2 induced a reduction of IA^b positive DCs to 12% (panel c) and this was not considerably increased by CD40L expression on TRAMPC2 (panel d). TRAMPC2 cells reduced B7.1 and CD40 expression to 4 and 3%, respectively (panels g and o), whereas, 7 and 9% of DCs were positive for these molecules when cultured in media (panels f and n). The expression of

B7.1 and CD40 molecules by DCs was moderately up-regulated when DCs were cultured with TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L (10 and 12% respectively, panels h and p). While 2% of fresh DCs were B7.2 positive (panel i), cultured DCs were 13% B7.2 positive (panel j). TRAMPC2 cells decreased the number of B7.2 positive DCs to 8% (panel k) and expression of CD40L by TRAMPC2 caused up-regulation of this molecule to 14% (panel I). In Figure 18, panel B a CD11c gate was defined and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 by DCs in each condition was studied. The co-expression of IA^b/B7.1 and IA^b/B7.2 increased after over night culture of DCs compared to fresh DCs. The co-expression of IA^b/B7.1 and IA^b/B7.2 was decreased by addition of TRAMPC2 cells to the culture. CD40L expression by TRAMPC2 cells caused an increase in the coexpression of IA^b/B7.2 and IA^b/B7.1. The level of IA^b/B7.1 expression by DCs in the presence of TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L was as high as the cultured DCs. TRAMPC2 cells caused down-regulation of H2D^b/CD40 co-expression compared to cultured DCs however, expression of CD40L by TRAMPC2 cells caused upregulation of these molecules but not even to the same level as cultured DCs. Therefore CD40L that has been shown to induce DC maturation, when expressed by TRAMPC2 cells could reverse the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells. Although CD40L was not very potent inducer of DC maturation when secreted from TRAMPC2 cells but prevention of inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells can be enough to induce sufficient immune response to inhibit tumor growth.



Figure 18. Inhibition of DC maturation by TRAMPC2 cells is reversed when CD40L expressed by TRAMPC2 cells *in vitro*. Panel A: DCs were purified from spleen of B16FL tumor bearing mice using Nycodenz gradient centrifugation. Fresh DCs were stained for comparison (a, e, i and m). DCs were cultured alone (b, f, j and n), with 10X TRAMPC2 (c, g, k and o) or 10X TRAMPC2/CD40L (d, h, I and p). Cultured DCs were harvested, stained with indicated antibodies the following day and analyzed with 4-color flow cytometer. Panel B: A CD11c gate was defined for data presented in panel A and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 by DCs in each condition (Fresh DCs, cultured DCs, DCs/TRAMPC2 and DCs/TRAMPC2/CD40L) was plotted.

106

Isolation and characterization of transfected TRAMPC2 clones with high and stable and inducible production of GM-CSF *in vitro*

Expression of GM-CSF has been shown to stimulate the recruitment of antigen-presenting cells (DCs and macrophages) to the tumor site, suggesting the involvement of GM-CSF in the augmentation of tumor-antigen presentation (76). Moreover, GM-CSF induces the maturation of these DCs (128). In humans immature DCs require exposure to GM-CSF to undergo differentiation into mature antigen presenting cells (118). We speculated that murine DCs may also require exposure to this chemokine before maturation can be induced with CD40L and IFN-γ. Therefore, to examine the role of GM-CSF in DC maturation particularly within the TME, we co-transfected TRAMPC2 cells with the repressor and pcDNA4/TO/GM-CSF vectors. Antibiotic resistance clones were isolated and tested for induction of GM-CSF expression after incubation with tetracycline. Figure 19 illustrates a typical experiment where three isolated clones demonstrate tet-induced production of GM-CSF.

107



Figure 19. Tetracycline-regulated production of GM-CSF in TRAMPC2 tumor cells co-transfected with repressor and GM-CSF vectors. TRAMPC2 lines were co-transfected with TR vector and pcDNA4/TO/GM-CSF expression vector. Antibiotic resistant clones were isolated and expanded *in vitro*. Cells from each clone were then seeded into 12 well plates in duplicate. The next day media was replaced with 1 ml fresh media with or without 2ug/ml of tetracycline. Supernatants were harvested the following day and tested by ELISA for GM-CSF expression.

Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor secreted by TRAMPC2 cells reversed down-regulation of dendritic cell maturation markers induced by tumor cells *in vitro*

Immature DCs enlarge, express more MHC, co-stimulatory and adhesion molecules when they are cultured with GM-CSF (185), characteristics of mature DCs. Therefore, we cultured purified immature DCs with TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF (in the presence of 2ug/ml of tetracycline) to study whether GM-CSF can induce DC maturation in the presence of TRAMPC2 (Fig. 20). As demonstrated in Figure 20, 10% of fresh DCs (panel a) and 25% of cultured DCs (panel b) expressed IA^b. When TRAMPC2 cells were added to the culture, the percentage of IA^b positive DCs decreased to 6% (panel c) that was partially reversed when cultured with transfected TRAMPC2 cells (panel d). Similar to class II antigens, the expression B7.1, B7.2 and CD40 increased when fresh DCs were cultured in vitro relative fresh DCs [compare fresh DCs (panels e, i and m) to cultured DCs (panels f, j and n)]. TRAMPC2 cells in culture caused a reduction of B7.1, B7.2 and CD40 expression by DCs (panels g, k and o). When GM-CSF was secreted from TRAMPC2/GM-CSF cells the percentage of B7.1, B7.2 or CD40 positive DCs increased almost to the same level as cultured DCs [compare cultured DCs (panels f, j and n) to DCs cultured with TRAMPC2/GM-CSF (panels h, I and p)]. Therefore, It seems that GM-CSF when expressed by TRAMPC2 cells can reverse the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DC maturation in vitro but it could not induce further maturation of DCs. Figure 20 panel B shows that when

gated on CD11c⁺ cells the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 decreased when DCs were cultured with TRAMPC2 cells compared to cultured DCs. Although expression of GM-CSF by TRAMPC2 cells did not cause markedly high expression of the class II antigens and co-stimulatory molecules but at least in some cases it partially and in some other cases completely overcame the inhibitory effect of TRAMPC2 cells. Although the effect of GM-CSF was not very striking *in vitro* this could be very important in the initiation of a potent immune response *in vivo*.



Figure 20. GM-CSF secreted by TRAMPC2 cells reverses down-regulation of DC maturation markers induced by tumor cells *in vitro*.

Panel A: DCs were purified from spleen of B16fl tumor bearing mice using Nycodenz gradient centrifugation. Fresh DCs were stained for comparison (a, e, i and m). DCs were cultured alone (b, f, j and n), with 10X TRAMPC2 (c, g, k and o) or 10X TRAMPC2/GM-CSF (d, h, I and p). Cultured DCs were harvested, stained with indicated antibodies the following day and analyzed with 4-color flow cytometer. Panel B: A CD11c gate was defined for data presented in panel A and the co-expression of IA^b/B7.1, IA^b/B7.2 and H2D^b/CD40 by DCs in each condition (Fresh DCs, cultured DCs, DCs/TRAMPC2 and DCs/TRAMPC2/GM-CSF) was plotted.

To characterize the tumor infiltrating leukocytes (TILs) in the TRAMPC tumor expressing SLC, CD40L or GMCSF *in vivo* and to evaluate the efficacy of expression of these genes in the tumor microenvironment to eradicate residual prostate

It is known that GM-CSF, CD40L and SLC induce DC maturation and SLC causes co-localization of DCs and T cells. We also showed that GM-CSF and CD40L when expressed from TRAMPC cells could reverse the inhibitory effect of tumor cells of DC maturation in vitro. These results prompted us to study the effect of expression of these cytokines on tumor growth in vivo. Even if the expression of these cytokines could cause maturation of a part of DCs infiltrating TRAMP tumor this can be enough to induce a potent immune response and prevent tumor growth. Although SLC could not induce DC maturation in vitro but it can still induce a potent immune response through co-localizing DCs and T cells. Since we used the tetracycline inducible expression system, first we wanted to make sure the repressor protein was not immunogenic and therefore we injected mice with the TRAMPC1P3 cells stably transfected with the repressor vector. Next, we designed experiments to inject TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L, TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF or TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cells into mice and study the effect of cytokine/chemokine expression on the tumor growth, metastasis and survival of the tumor bearing mice.

In vivo growth of TRAMPC1P3 cells expressing the repressor protein

The possibility exists that any host that has a competent immune system will reject tumor cells that express a foreign (bacterial) protein. This is a serious complication for a project evaluating novel immunotherapies where a competent immune system is a necessity. It has been shown that the expression of membrane-bound heat shock protein (mbHSP70) on the surface of the mouse mastocytoma cell line P815 enhanced immunogenicity of tumor cells (186). In this study the *in vivo* effect of mbHSP70 was evaluated by comparing the growth of mbHSP70 transfected cells to that of mock-transfected cells in DBA/2 mice. Fifty percent of mice rejected mbHSP70 transfected cells while 100% mice developed tumors in the control group (186). Furthermore, we had already experienced this problem when we injected mice with TRAMPC1 cells that were transfected with green fluorescent protein (TRAMPC1/GFP). TRAMPC1/GFP cells grew efficiently in athymic nude mice and remained GFP⁺ even after several months of growth in vivo; however, these cells never produced tumors in immunocompetent C57BL6 mice (data not shown). They were also not transplantable into the prostate glands of syngeneic mice, a site considered immunologically "privileged". To address this issue, TRAMPC1P3/TR cells were transplanted subcutaneously into 4 mice. Control mice received the parental TRAMPC1P3 tumor. All mice that received TRAMPC1P3/TR tumor cells developed tumors at rates indistinguishable from mice that received parental

113

TRAMPC1P3 cells (data not shown). After several months of growth, tumors were excised, cut into small pieces and cultured in TRAMP media. Cells from the developed cell line were stained with an anti-TR monoclonal antibody and visualized by confocal microscopy. Three out of four tumors had sufficient TR protein levels in the cytosol and nucleus to be detected by this technique (Fig. 21). These data suggest that the TR protein is either not immunogenic or not sufficiently immunogenic to induce an immune response that alters the growth properties of TRAMPC1P3/TR tumor cells.



Figure 21. Detection of repressor protein in TRAMPC1P3/TR cells after long-term growth *in vivo*.

Mice received either 5×10^6 TRAMPC1P3 or TRAMPC1P3/TR cells subcutaneously and then were monitored for tumor growth twice weekly. Tumors were excised when they were ≥ 100 cm², grown in tissue culture chambers and then stained with either an isotype matched control or anti-TR protein antibody. TR protein was detected in TRAMPC1P3/TR cells incubated with the anti-TR antibody (B) but not with the isotype control antibody (A). Similarly, no staining was detected in TRAMPC1P3 cells stained with anti-TR protein antibody (data not shown). Fluorescence images were visualized by confocal microscopy and analyzed using Metamorph software.

In vivo growth of TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF clones

TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells clone 3, 5 and 6 (Fig. 19) were pooled and injected into the prostate of 7 mice, 6 of them grew tumors that were removed, diced and cultured without antibiotics. From 74 explants we developed cell lines that were tested by ELISA for inducible expression of GM-CSF. Explants from two tumors were not inducible by tetracycline and were not studied further. Cells derived from the four remaining tumors were inducible with tetracycline but manifested relatively low production of GM-CSF. A representative example is presented in Figure 22, panel A. Because cell lines from individual tumors were similar in terms of GM-CSF production, we pooled clones derived from each tumor and subjected them to antibiotic selection. After this selection step cell lines were expanded and tested for tet-induced production of GM-CSF. Although this process enhanced GM-CSF production, most lines had high constitutive GM-CSF production and displayed only a modest induction with tetracycline (panel B).



Figure 22. Diminished tet-regulated expression of GM-CSF following intraprostatic growth of TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells.

Cells from TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF clones 3, 5 and 6 were pooled (Fig. 19) and injected into prostate glands of syngeneic mice. When tumors were palpable they were excised and explants incubated in vitro in tissue culture media in the absence of antibiotic selection. Panel A: Individual clones were isolated, expanded and then induced with tetracycline. The following day supernatants were tested by ELISA for GM-CSF expression. Shown are representative data from clones derived from two tumors from mouse #1 and #7 (M1, M7). Panel B: Clones derived from individual tumors were pooled, subjected to antibiotic selection and then expanded in vitro. Aliquots were incubated with tetracycline and the following day supernatants evaluated for GM-CSF production. Shown are data from tumor cells obtained from four individual mice (M1, M2, M3, M7).

To determine the cellular basis for low GM-CSF production, pooled TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells (clones 3, 5, 6) were grown under limiting dilution conditions. We identified clones producing GM-CSF by ELISA and then performed an ELISPOT assay (R&D, Minneapolis, MN) to estimate the number of cells producing GM-CSF. This study revealed that few cells produced GM-CSF in the absence of tet (Fig. 23, left panel). However <10% of TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells secreted GM-CSF when induced in the presence of tet (right panel). Since these cells represent the progeny of a single cell, these data demonstrate that TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells either lose or silence the transgene during clonal expansion.



Figure 23. Evidence that TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF tumor cells lose or silence the GM-CSF gene during clonal expansion.

TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells were grown under limiting dilution conditions and clones producing SLC identified by ELISA. Cells producing this chemokine were expanded and then subsequently incubated overnight in the absence (left panel) or presence of tetracycline (right panel). The following day the percentage of cells producing GM-CSF was estimated by ELISPOT assay. Shown are individual wells from an ELISPOT plate containing 1000 input TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells.

Growth characteristics of a TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L clone in vivo

A TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L clone (from over 50 clones tested) that expressed CD40L after induction with tetracycline (Fig. 17) was tested for *in vivo* growth. To assess whether this cell line was still tumorigenic *in vivo* and maintained inducible CD40L expression, five mice were implanted ectopically with TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cells. None of these mice developed ectopic (subcutaneous) tumors three months post implantation.

Next we tested whether TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cells would grow in the prostate gland. We orthotopically injected five mice with TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L tumor cells and monitored these mice for tumor growth. None of these mice grew tumors during 3 months that they were monitored. This can be due to the leakiness and therefore the background CD40L expression of these cell lines.

Growth characteristics of SLC-transfected TRAMPC2 tumor cells injected subcutaneously

In order to develop a TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cell line that grows *in vivo* and maintains the regulated expression of SLC 20 mice were injected subcutaneously with 5 different TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines (table 2; cell lines #4, 5, 8, 12 and 31). Seventeen of 20 mice grew tumors (table 2). These tumors were removed, diced into small pieces and cultured in TRAMP media without antibiotics. 180 clonal cell lines were isolated and tested by ELISA for inducible

expression of SLC individually as explained in Material and Methods section. Five outgrowth cell lines (A18, B13 and B3, M9 and R3) from subcutaneous tumors had low induction level of SLC after exposure to tetracycline (Fig. 24) relative to the parental cell line. For example A18 (Fig. 24) had about 220pg/ml of SLC expression with no background expression. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC 4 parental cell line that A18 was generated from had an average induction level of 3200 pg/ml with background level below 400 pg/ml (Fig. 15).

| Mice | Clone | Tumor incidence | # of outgrowth cell lines * | # of inducible cell lines † |
|-------|-------|-----------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| A-F | 4 | 5/6 | 63 | 3 (A18, B3, B13) |
| G-H | 5 | 2/2 | 25 | 0 |
| I-L | 8 | 3/4 | 26 | 0 |
| M-P | 12 | 1/4 | 15 | 1 (M9) |
| Q-T | 31 | 4/4 | 51 | 1 (R3) |
| Total | | 17/20 | 180 | 5 |

Table 2. 5 cell lines developed from 20 TRAMPC2/TR/SLC subcutaneous tumors that have small SLC induction after passage *in vivo*.

Mice A through T were injected with different TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones as indicated in the second column. Tumors were removed, diced and cultured in TRAMP media without antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine). Different numbers of outgrowth cell lines were generated from each tumor (*). All these cell lines were tested for tet-inducible expression of SLC. 1X10⁵ cells from each cell line were seeded in duplicates (with or without 2ug/ml tetracycline) and the next day the supernatants were tested by ELISA. Only five cell lines were identified with very low induction levels (†).



Figure 24. *In vivo* growth of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones is associated with reduced induction of SLC.

Different TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones were injected subcutaneously in mice. Some mice grew tumors that were removed, diced and cultured in TRAMP media without selection in antibiotics. The developed cell lines were then tested for regulated expression of SLC. Only cell lines with regulated SLC induction are presented.

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC outgrowths shown in Figure 20 that had some SLC induction were expanded and subjected into antibiotic selection for about three weeks. All the cells of the first three cell lines (A18, B3 and B13) died. The other two lines (M9 and R3) were expanded and tested again for SLC induction (Fig. 25).



Figure 25. Antibiotics selection increased SLC induction level of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC outgrowth cell lines.

Different TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones were injected subcutaneously in mice. Some mice grew tumors that were removed, diced and cultured in TRAMP media without selection in antibiotics. The developed cell lines were then tested for regulated expression of SLC and had low level of SLC induction compared to the parental cell line. These cell lines then were selected in antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine). All the cells from three of these cell lines died during the selection process. R3 and M9 outgrowths were tested again for inducible SLC expression after they were expanded in the selection media. These two cell lines showed improved SLC induction after they were expanded in the presence of antibiotics.

Even after selection in antibiotics, SLC induction levels of

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines was much lower than the parental cell lines that were injected into the mice (Fig. 25, R3) or they had much higher background (Fig 25, M9). For example, the parental cell line of R3 had induction levels between 1800 and 3500pg/ml (Fig. 15, clone #4), whereas, R3 produced 300pg/ml SLC after selection in antibiotics (Fig. 25). Similarly, the parental cell line from which the M9 clone was isolated constitutively produced low levels of SLC (10-50pg/ml, data not shown) and approximately 2000 pg/ml SLC in the presence of the inducer. In contrast, M9 showed high background level of SLC expression (Fig. 25, 700pg/ml) even after antibiotics selection. Although these cell lines (R3 and M9) maintained SLC expression after *in vivo* passage they did not survive antibiotics selection for more than 5 weeks. It seems that these cell lines were not genetically stable and as they were passaged *in vitro* they lost the antibiotic resistant gene or turn it off and therefore did not survive the antibiotic selection.

Growth characteristics of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor cells following orthotopic implantation into the mouse prostate gland

The observation that most clonal outgrowths did not secrete SLC may indicate that cells secreting this chemokine were eliminated by an immunological mechanism(s). We therefore tested the notion that tumor growth in the "immunologically privileged" prostate gland may allow for the growth of cells with inducible expression of SLC. To that end, TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor cells (clone #4, Fig. 18) were implanted into the prostate gland of nine mice. One mouse died without evidence of a palpable prostate tumor. Six mice developed palpable tumors approximately 2 months after implantation. These six tumors were excised and clonal outgrowths were obtained in TRAMP media without selection antibiotics. Outgrowths from two tumors were no longer tet-inducible and were not further studied (data not shown). Seventy clonal outgrowths were obtained from the remaining four tumors of which ten were inducible for SLC expression (Fig. 26). Clonal outgrowths derived from mouse 1 (M1) generally had low constitutive SLC levels but relatively weak induction for SLC. The remaining outgrowths demonstrated higher tet-induced SLC secretion but were "leaky" (high constitutive levels).



Figure 26. Tet-induced regulation of SLC in TRAMP/TR/SLC tumor cells following orthotopic implantation and growth.

Syngeneic mice were implanted orthotopically with TRAMP/TR/SLC tumor cells (5×10^5) . After several months following implantation, palpable tumors were excised, diced and explants cultured in vitro. Clonal outgrowths were then isolated, expanded and tested for tet-induced secretion of SLC by ELISA. Four tumors were evaluated from individual mice (M1-4).

Impact of antibiotic selection on tet-induced production of SLC

Because the clonal outgrowths from intraprostatic tumors were isolated and grown in the absence of selection media, the relatively modest of SLC production or high background may indicate that TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor cells lost or silenced the SLC or the repressor gene during *in vivo* growth. To study whether the SLC gene was lost and to enrich for tumor cells with stable tetinducible expression of SLC, clonal outgrowths from mouse 1 (M1.1-1.19) were pooled to generate TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L1. The remaining lines were also pooled to produce TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2. Both transfected populations were then subjected to antibiotic selection. Figure 27 demonstrates that growth in selection media enhanced SLC production by TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L1 cells (Line 1) approximately 5-fold without increasing constitutive SLC levels. Although TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 (Line 2) cells had higher background expression relative to Line 1, tetracycline induced much higher levels of SLC production. These data indicate that both these lines have the capacity to grow both in vitro and in vivo in an orthotopic location. Therefore these cell lines that maintain stable and tetinducible expression of SLC will be used for in vivo studies to investigate the effect of expression of SLC in TRAMP TME on tumor growth, survival and metastasis.

129



Figure 27. Enhanced tet-induced expression following intraprostatic outgrowth TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines following antibiotic selection. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC lines (L1 and L2) were expanded in vitro in the presence of

zeocin and blasticidin. Samples from antibiotic resistant lines were then incubated in the absence (no tet) or presence (+tet) of tetracycline. The following day supernatants were evaluated for SLC levels by ELISA.
Impact of SLC production on the establishment of orthotopic and metastatic prostate tumors

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clones (L1 and L2) displayed high levels of tetinducible expression of SLC and had demonstrated the ability to grow in vivo. We therefore wanted to test the extent to which SLC expression in the TME influences tumor growth and metastatic disease. To that end, we implanted TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 orthotopically for the second time into a total of 18 animals in two separate experiments (8 mice in experiment 1 and 10 mice in experiment 2, Fig. 28). In each experiment the mice were divided into two groups and one group were given doxycycline (Dox), a more stable derivative of tetracycline, in their drinking water one day after implantation. All the mice (control and treated) were sacrificed when the mice in the control group had ruffled fur, hunched up back and therefore were considered sick. The tumor weight and volumes were measured to determine if expression of SLC in the prostate TME alters these parameters. One of the mice given Dox in the first experiment and two from the control group in the second experiment died shortly after tumor implantation and therefore were excluded from this analysis. Tumors grew in all mice irrespective of whether they received Dox in their drinking water. However, tumors excised from mice that received Dox in their drinking water were smaller in size and weighed less than TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 tumors removed from control mice (Fig. 29). Therefore expression of SLC in the TRAMP TME inhibited tumor growth and treated mice lived longer.



Figure 28. Schematic presentation of the *in vivo* experiments performed using TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2.

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells were injected into 18 mice in two independent experiments. 8 mice in experiment 1 and 10 mice in experiment 2 were divided into two groups and one cohort in each experiment received doxycycline in their drinking water. Mice in both experiments were sacrificed when the control group mice were sick. In experiment 1, tumor weights and volumes were measured, TILs of treated and control groups were phenotyped and SLC expression by tumor outgrowth cell lines was determined. In experiment 2, tumor weights and volumes were determined and metastasis to lymph nodes, lungs and pancreas was studied.



Figure 29. Expression of SLC in the prostate tumor microenvironment inhibits tumor growth.

Mice (total of 18, experiment 1 and 2) were given an orthotopic injection of 5x10⁵ TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells. One cohort was given doxycycline in their drinking water after surgery and one group served as control. One mouse from doxycycline treated group and two from control group died a week after surgery without any tumor. Tumor growth was monitored by palpation and approximately two months after implantation, tumors were excised, weighed (panel A) and tumor volumes (Panel B) were measured.

A small piece of each tumor from experiment 1 was diced, cultured in TRAMP media and the derived outgrowth cell lines selected in antibiotics (zeocin and blasticidine) were tested for tetracycline-induced SLC secretion. Figure 30 illustrates that even the best clonal derivatives had very modest induction of SLC (<10% of parental line 2, see Fig. 27) following exposure to tetracycline. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells that were injected orthotopically into mice had about 1200pg/ml of induced SLC expression (Fig. 27) with no background expression. However, after *in vivo* passage the tetracycline-induced level of SLC expression of M5.4 line that had the highest inducible level of expression among the generated cell lines was only 450pg/ml (Fig. 30). All these cell lines eventually lost inducible expression after a few *in vitro* passages. This experiment showed that even after two *in vivo* passages the generated cell lines were genetically unstable and lost the regulated expression of SLC.



Figure 30. Representative tet-inducible secretion of SLC in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC clonal lines derived from tumors exposed to doxycycline *in vivo*. TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells were implanted orthotopically into 8 mice (experiment 1). One cohort received doxycycline in their drinking water after surgery. Two months later, tumors were excised, diced and cultured in tissue culture media containing antibiotics. An aliquot (10⁶ cells) of each clonal outgrowth was incubated in the absence or presence of tet (2ug/ml) overnight and the following day evaluated for SLC expression by ELISA.

Characterization of the cellular infiltrate in tumors that expressed SLC

The data above indicated that expression of SLC inhibited primary prostate tumor growth. This may have resulted from changes in the inflammatory response as a result of expression of SLC in the TME because SLC is an attractant primarily for DCs and T cells. Therefore we also pooled cells from the spleen and tumors from both untreated and doxycycline treated groups of mice (+Tet) in experiment 1 and stained them with the indicated monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) (Fig. 31). Viable cells were gated and then phenotyped by multiparameter flow cytometry. The panel of mAbs used for this study detected the presence of DCs (CD11c), macrophages (F4/80), B cells (B220), T cells (CD3e) and granulocytes (Gr-1). Spleens from normal or tumor bearing mice were used as controls. Since SLC is known to attract DCs and T cells, we expected to detect higher percentages of these cells in tumors from mice treated with doxycycline. However, we did not detect any major difference between the doxycycline treated and untreated groups (Fig. 31, panel A). There was an increase in the number of B cells (B220⁺) in the tumor of treated mice, but the role played by B cells in cancer biology is complex and somewhat controversial. Previous studies using genetically engineered mice suggest that B cells may be immunosuppressive and inhibit tumor rejection. However, the effects of B-cell depletion employing an antibody in mice bearing solid tumors has not been tested owing to difficulties in making an effective antimouse CD20 antibody (187). We also analyzed DCs for the expression of MHC class I and II antigens

and the co-stimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 (Fig. 31, panel B). These molecules are indicative of DC maturation and are important for optimal antigen presenting function. Expression of CD40 on DCs is an important receptor for maturation signals delivered by CD40-ligand usually expressed on activated CD4⁺ T cells. However, doxycycline treatment did not influence the maturational state of intratumoral DCs at least based on the cell surface expression of these molecules (panel B).



Figure 31. Characterization of host cells infiltrating TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors treated with doxycycline.

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 was injected into the prostate of 8 mice (experiment 1). On the day after the surgery, half the mice received water that contained doxycycline (20 ug/ml). Tumors were removed 60 days post implantation and single cell suspensions from each group (treated or not treated) were pooled for flow cytometric analysis. Tumor bearing spleens (TBS) and normal spleen (NS) were used as control. Panel A. Phenotype of tumor infiltrating leukocytes (TILs). Panel B. A CD11c⁺ gate was defined and expression of the indicated molecules was determined on CD11c⁺ cells.

Calculating the absolute number of each cell type per spleen or tumor showed that doxycycline treatment did not have any affect on the number of any cell type in the spleen (Fig. 32A) other than B cells (B220⁺ cells) compared to spleen of untreated mice. The number of B cells was lower in the spleen of doxycycline treated mice $(1.3 \times 10^7 \text{ cells/spleen})$ than in untreated mice $(1.9 \times 10^7 \text{ cells/spleen})$ cells/spleen). As shown in Figure 32B there was actually more B cells in the tumor of treated mice $(4x10^5 \text{ cells/tumor})$ than untreated mice $(1x10^5 \text{ cells})$ cells/tumor). The number of all other cell types was actually lower in the tumor of treated mice than untreated mice, particularly T cells and Gr-1 cells. We also compared the number of DCs from treated and untreated mice that express IA^b, B7.1, B7.2 and CD40 molecules (Fig. 32 C and D). The number of splenic DCs that expressed IA^b, B7.2, CD40 was slightly higher when mice were treated with doxycycline. In the tumor the number of CD11c⁺ B7.1⁺ cells was higher in the treated mice than untreated mice (panel D). Although treated mice had smaller tumors there was not any major difference between the number or the percentage of the cells infiltrating tumors. This can be due to the fact that these mice were sacrificed when they had progressed disease and although treatment slowed down the progression of the disease it did not prevent it. It is possible that major differences in the TILs could be detected at earlier time points of the tumor progression.



Figure 32. Characterization of host cells infiltrating TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors treated with doxycycline.

TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 was injected into the prostate of 8 mice (experiment 1). On the day after the surgery, half the mice received water that contained Dox (20 ug/ml). Tumors were removed 60 days post implantation and single cell suspensions from each group (treated or not treated) were pooled for flow cytometric analysis. Tumor bearing spleens (TBS) and normal spleen (NS) were used as control. Panels A and B: Phenotypic analysis of spleen cells from normal mice and mice treated or not with Dox (A) and of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 TILs of mice treated or not with Dox (B). Panels C and D: A CD11c⁺ gate was defined and expression of the indicated molecules was determined on DCs from normal spleen and spleens of mice treated or not with Dox (C) and DCs infiltrating TRAMP/TR/SLC-L2 tumor treated or not with Dox (D).

Functional assessment of the promoter (CMV) of the exogenous SLC gene

It is apparent from the data presented above that TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor cells displayed very weak induction of SLC following ectopic and orthotopic implantation. Two possibilities were considered: loss of the transgene or alternatively, silencing of the promoter. We therefore next tested whether the poor induction with tetracycline reflected loss of the transgene. DNA was extracted from the outgrowth cell lines derived from TRAMPC2/TR/SLC line 2 tumors and PCR was performed using specific primers to amplify SLC transgene. It is apparent from Figure 33 panel A that outgrowths obtained from orthotopic TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors still contained the SLC transgene. The absence of a product in the control mouse DNA confirmed that the primers did not amplify endogenous SLC (lane 9). To test the possibility that the promoter was silenced by methylation, we evaluated the methylation pattern of the CMV promoter. To perform this assay, DNA isolated from tumor pieces or outgrowth cell lines were bisulfite treated. PCR reactions were performed using primers complementary to a region of CMV promoter not containing methylation sites (oligos 1) or a pair of primers complementary to a region of CMV promoter which contains methylation sites (oligos 2). If the promoter is not methylated, a PCR product forms with both primers, whereas, a single product is only detected with oligos 1 if the promoter is methylated (188). Figure 33B demonstrates that when the pcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid was tested following bisulfite conversion, PCR reactions with both primers produced a product indicating that the original plasmid DNA was not

methylated (TO/SLC, oligos 1 and 2). In contrast, when DNA was extracted from two excised TRAMPC2/SLC-L2 tumors (prior to *in vitro* expansion), promoters appeared to be methylated because there were no signals when oligos 2 were used, whereas a PCR product was formed with oligos 1 (tumor M1 and M2, oligos 1 snd 2). When a clonal outgrowth derived from one of these tumors (line M1, oligos 1 and 2) was tested, PCR products formed with both primers suggesting that the section of tumor excised for clonal expansion had a functional promoter (not methylated). These data indicate that during tumor growth in the prostate gland, the promoter is variably methylated. Thus, in some sections of the tumor, the promoter may still be functional. This may explain why we detected some low-grade induction of SLC in some clonal outgrowth in vitro of explants of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor (Fig. 30). We did not investigate the expression of repressor protein but the repressor protein is also expressed from a CMV promoter and therefore in the cell lines that with methylated promoter the repressor gene CMV promoter was also silenced.



Figure 33. Detection of SLC gene in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors and methylation status of CMV promoter following growth *in vivo*.

A: DNA extracted from outgrowth cell lines derived from TRAMPC2/TR/SLC line 2 tumors were tested for the presence of transfected SLC gene by PCR reactions using primers specific for the transfected SLC gene. PcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid used for transfection was included as a positive control and mouse DNA was used as negative control. Lanes: 1-7 represent PCR products obtained when DNA from two TRAMPC2/TR/SLC Line 2 tumors were amplified by PCR. Lanes 8 and 9 represent the PCR products obtained when pcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid 9 and mouse DNA were used, respectively. B: DNA extracted from TRAMPC2/TR/SLC line 2 tumors (M1 and M2) and a cell line derived from tumor M1 were tested for methylation status of SLC gene promoter. PcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid used for transfection was used as negative control. Lane 1- tumor M1, oligo 1; lane 2- tumor M1, oligo 2; lane 3- M1.2 line, oligo 1; lane 4- M1.2 line, oligo 2; lane 5- pcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid, oligo 1; lane 6- pcDNA4/TO/SLC plasmid, oligo 2; lane 7- tumor M2, oligo 1; lane 8- tumor M2, oligo 2.

Expression of SLC in the TRAMPC2 TME prolonged survival of tumor bearing mice

In order to establish that SLC expression delays tumor growth in a different experiment, 8 mice were injected with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells orthotopically and randomly divided into two groups. One group received doxycycline in their drinking water starting the day after the surgery. The mice were sacrificed when they showed signs of morbidity (they were not sacrificed all on the same day). Although tumors of doxycycline treated mice were bigger in size and weighed more when the mice were sacrificed, it appeared that SLC prolonged the survival of treated mice. As shown in Figure 34 the non-treated mice all died by day 32 after implantation, however, doxycycline treated mice lived up to 50 days. Therefore, expression of SLC in TRAMPC2 TME prolongs the survival of tumor bearing mice.



Figure 34. Inducible expression of SLC in the tumor microenvironment enhances survival in mice bearing orthotopic prostate tumors.

8 Mice were transplanted orthotopically with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells. 4 mice were given Dox in their drinking water the day after implantation. Tumor growth was monitored by palpation and mice were euthanized when tumors were palpable and mice showed signs of morbidity. Panel A: The average of tumor weights of the tumors from mice treated or not with doxycycline. Panel B: Survival curve of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 tumor bearing mice treated or not with Dox.

We also evaluated the metastasis to different organs like lymph nodes, lungs, pancreas and bone marrow (one mouse from the untreated group was found dead before we could access metatstatic disease). All draining cervical lymph nodes from untreated mice had metastatsis, whereas, only 2 lymph nodes from treated mice yielded tumor cell outgrowth. 50% (2/4) of the untreated control mice also had lung metastasis with one animal with both lung and pancreatic metastases. Only 1/4 of the treated mice had metastasis to lung and none of the treated mice had metastatis to the pancreas (table 3).

| metastasis location | No. of mice with metastasis/group | |
|---------------------|-----------------------------------|-------------|
| | Carrier treated | Dox treated |
| Lymph node | 3/3 | 2/4 |
| Lung | 2/3 | 1/4 |
| Pancreas | 1/3 | 0/4 |

Table 3. Frequency of lymph node, lung and pancreas metastasis in TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 orthotopic tumor bearing mice treated with doxycycline.

8 Mice were transplanted orthotopically with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 cells. 4 mice were given doxycycline in their drinking water the day after implantation. Tumor growth was monitored by palpation and mice were euthanized when tumors were palpable and mice showed signs of morbidity. Lymph nodes, lungs and pancreases were removed, diced and cultured as described previously. Organs with tumor metastases grew TRAMPC2 cells out of the organ piece and were harvested as a cell line. Demonstrating that these cell lines contained aneuploid DNA validated that the outgrowths represented tumor cells.

Next we wanted to determine whether SLC expression could induce tumor regression after the tumor became palpable. Therefore we injected 9 mice with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 orthotopically and divided them into three groups. One group received doxycycline from day 1, the second group from day 20 (after one of the mice had a palpable tumor) and the third group served as control. The survival curve of these mice is presented in Figure 35 panel A. One mouse from the control group did not grow tumor at all and was excluded from this graph. As shown in this Figure, control mice died by day 50. However, mice from doxycycline treated (both day 1 and day 20) lived only 4 days longer. Although the average tumor weight of the mice treated with doxycycline from day 1 was lower than both control group and mice treated with doxycycline from day 20, this difference was not significant (Fig. 35, panel B).



Figure 35. SLC does not inhibit growth of established TRAMPC2 tumor. 9 mice were injected with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 and divided in 3 groups. One group (2 mice) received doxycycline in their drinking water 1 day after surgery and the second group (4 mice) 20 days after surgery when one mouse in the group had a palpable tumor. The third group (3 mice) did not receive doxycycline and served as control (one mouse from this group did not grow a tumor). Panel A: The survival curve of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 tumor bearing mice treated or not with doxycycline. Panel B: The average tumor weight of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC-L2 tumor bearing mice treated or not with doxycycline.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Maturation of dendritic cells is inhibited by TRAMPC2 cells but not Gr-1⁺ cells

Dendritic cells play a major role in orchestrating immune responses. Immature DC are characterized by their ability to capture, process and load antigens to MHC class I- or class II- molecules (165). Following antigen uptake, DCs migrate to the secondary lymphoid organs where they mature, express markers like B7.1, B7.2 and CD40 molecules and become APCs that are able to select and activate naive antigen-specific T cells (183). The presence of DCs has been reported in numerous tumors (137). Despite the presence of such tumorinfiltrating DCs, tumor cell outgrowth often occurs indicating that immunity against tumor cells is either improperly induced or evaded by the tumor. This raises guestions regarding the status of TIDCs. Therefore we decided to use TRAMP transplantable murine prostate model to characterize DCs infiltrating these tumors. Dendritic cells infiltrating TRAMP tumors had lower expression of MHCII, B7.2 and CD40 molecules compared to splenic DCs. Furthermore CCR7, CD8 and PDL2 molecules were down-regulated in TIDCs compared to normal spleen DCs. Therefore, TRAMP tumor infiltrating DCs are considered phenotypically immature. Although a small percentage of TRAMP TIDCs express MHCII and costimulatory molecules, it may not be sufficient for T cell activation. Determining their level of functional activity requires isolation and purification of these cells. In

this study we tried different yet common methods to purify TIDCs. These methods included selective adherence, Nycodenz gradient centrifugation, discontinuous Percoll gradient centrifugation and finally anti-CD11c magnetic beads. However, all of these methods failed to enrich TRAMP TIDCs. Enrichment of TIDCs by percoll gradient centrifugation showed that splenic DCs were denser than TIDCs as they appeared in the interface of 70 and 40% percoll, whereas. TIDCs were localized primarily at he 20-40% interface (Fig. 5). Therefore, TRAMPC2 TIDCs do not only differ from splenic DCs in the expression of cell surface molecules but also they behave differently as shown by performing discontinuous percoll gradient centrifugation. Tumor cells are known to activate granulocytes by producing different cytokine such as TNF- α and IL-8. These cytokines are known to be elevated in the serum of cancer patients (189) and stimulate the oxidative burst (190). Although it has not been reported it is highly probable that other cells of the immune system could be equally affected by the same oxidative stress induced by tumor cells.

Numerous findings indicate that tumor-derived factors promote the immunosuppressive phenotype of DCs. Indeed, conditioned media from tumor cells lines can inhibit the *in vitro* differentiation of DCs from their precursors (170). After trying different techniques to enrich TIDCs we decided to determine the cell type responsible for immature phenotype of DCs in the TRAMP TME. When immature DCs were cultured alone the expression of MHCII and co-stimulatory and CD40 molecules were up-regulated compared to fresh DCs (Fig. 6). However, the presence of TRAMPC2 cells in the culture inhibited the

expression of these molecules. We also showed that TRAMPC2 cells inhibited DC maturation of DCs through direct contact. When contact of DCs with TRAMPC2 cells was prevented using transwells. TRAMPC2 cells failed to inhibit the expression of IA^b, B7.1 and B7.2 (Fig. 7). Although there are no reports about molecules involved in the prevention of DC maturation by tumor cells through direct contact we reported that TRAMPC2 cells inhibit up-regulation of class II antigens and co-stimulatory molecules by immature DCs through direct contact. Tumor cells have developed strategies to down-regulate immune responses. Previous studies have shown that tumor cells produce molecules that inhibit DC maturation. Some of these molecules include IL-10 (191, 192), vascular endothelial growth factor (170), PGE_2 (192), and $TGF-\beta$ (171). Furthermore, purified TIDCs were shown to be refractory to ex-vivo maturation stimuli because of autocrine production of IL-10 (137). This observation is consistent with their inability to induce appropriate allogeneic T cell activation (100). Taken together, our results and the above reports suggest that the TME is immunosuppressive for DC and has the ability to selectively modulate TIDCs.

We have previously shown that TRAMP tumors are infiltrated with immature myeloid cells (84) that are known to be immunosuppressive through different mechanisms (172). Immature myeloid cells (iMCs) are present in the bone marrow and spleen of healthy mice and differentiate into mature myeloid cells including granulocytes, macrophages and DCs in the presence of GM-CSF *in vitro* or after adoptive transfer to healthy, naive recipients *in vivo* (193). However, they accumulate in the spleen and, to some extent, in the lymph nodes of mice bearing many different tumors (194, 195). The functional activity of iMCs involves the inhibition of IFN-y production by CD8⁺ T cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in response to peptide epitopes presented by MHC class I molecules at the cell surface of iMCs (196). We (unpublished data) and others (197) found that oxidative stress, caused by the production of reactive oxygen species by iMCs, suppressed CD3Z expression by T cells. This effect was mediated by molecules such as hydrogen peroxide (198) that are involved in many signaling pathways and can also be responsible for immature phenotype of DCs in TME. Therefore we investigated the possibility of a contribution of myeloid cells to the immature phenotype in the TRAMP TME. Purified Gr-1⁺ granulocytes obtained from flt3ligand treated mice did not prevent maturation of DCs in vitro. But the combination of Gr-1⁺ and TRAMPC2 cells caused reduction in the expression of IA^b and B7.1 molecules that was not greater than reduction induced by only TRAMPC2 cells. Thus, TRAMPC2 cells seemed to be the major cell type that prevented TIDCs maturation and this was mediated through direct contact.

It has been reported by others that TIDCs in several transplantable and transgenic mouse tumor models had an immature phenotype and were refractory to activation with microbial or T cell-derived stimuli like LPS, IFN- γ , and anti-CD40 agonist antibody (137, 199). We showed that exposure to TRAMPC2 did not prevent immature DCs undergoing maturation when stimulated with LPS *in vitro*. Even though other factors may be involved in TRAMP TME, this indicates that TIDCs did not lose their capacity to mature when stimulated with a potent TLR4 ligand.

As discussed previously GM-CSF, SLC and CD40L can induce maturation of DCs. SLC secreted from TRAMPC2 cells partially reversed the downregulation of maturation markers induced by TRAMPC2 cells, but the level of maturation markers expression was still lower than the level of expression of these molecules when DCs were cultured alone. GM-CSF and CD40L were more potent in induction of DC maturation when secreted from TRAMPC2 cells as they completely reversed the down-regulation of maturation markers induced by TRAMPC2 cells. However, the effect of GM-CSF and CD40L did not exceed the maturation level of DCs cultured alone. Although this maturation level seems to be low compared to LPS induced maturation, this may be physiologically relevant *in vivo*. It has been shown ratio of DCs:T cells required to induce T cells proliferation was 1:40 using tumor RNA-pulsed DCs in a pancreatic cancer model (200). Therefore, even a low level of DCs maturation may be sufficient to induce an anti-tumor immune response.

Gene silencing through promoter methylation in the loss of transgene expression in TRAMPC2 transfected cells

Regulated expression of specific cytokines and chemokines was a crucial component of designing these studies that made our model more clinically relevant. The repressor protein of tetracycline regulated expression system was not detectable after TRAMPC1P3 cells that were transfected with the repressor protein were passed *in vitro*. Furthermore, when TRAMPC1P3 cells were transfected with both TR and the TO/SLC expression vectors, the inducible level

of expression was very low. These data led us to try TRAMPC2 cells that turned out to have higher transfection efficiency. Furthermore, TRAMPC2 cells transfected with TR and TO/SLC vectors had higher level of inducible expression. Other studies have also reported the difficulties with specific cell lines to generate stable inducible clones (201).

Although TRAMPC2 cells produced more SLC when induced with tetracycline compared to TRAMPC1P3 cells, the amount of protein produced varied from one passage to another and some lost the expression of the transgene altogether. Chromosome instability that is a common feature of human cancer and results in an uploidy could be one explanation for different amount of protein produced by transfected TRAMPC2 cells (202). Another explanation that was addressed in this study was gene silencing through promoter methylation (188). After transfected TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cells with low background and high inducible expression were passaged in vivo, some of the cell lines developed from tumors did not express SLC at all although they possessed the transgene as determined by PCR. Methylation of the CMV promoter was detected in these cell lines as well as in some of the tumor pieces. This assay could not detect methylation of CMV promoter if there were mixed population of cells with methylated and un-methylated promoter. Therefore it was not possible to detect methylation of promoter in cell lines that had low expression of SLC. Furthermore, the repressor protein is also expressed under the control of CMV promoter in the T-Rex system. Therefore high background expression of SLC in some of the cell lines could be due to methylation and silencing of the repressor

protein promoter. In the cell lines with no SLC expression where we detected CMV promoter methylation the repressor protein promoter was also methylated since this assay could not detect methylation of CMV promoter if there were mixed population of cells with methylated and un-methylated promoter. It has been demonstrated by others that the CMV promoter, a promoter most widely used for transfection, may be silenced in mouse (203) and human (204) cells after transfection.

Regulated expression of GM-CSF by TRAMPC2 cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*

Cytokine-modified cell-based vaccines are currently the major form of cancer vaccine tested clinically (205). Among the different cytokine genes used to modify tumor immunogenicity, GM-CSF is the most potent stimulator of systemic anti-tumor immunity when transduced into autologous tumors (55). The potency of GM-CSF in modulating an anti-tumor effect has been attributed to its role as an important growth and differentiation factor for DCs, at the vaccination site (59, 76). This made GM-CSF a good candidate to be tested for immunotherapy of TRAMPC2 prostate cancer model since TRAMPC2 tumors are infiltrated with a small number of DCs that are phenotypically immature. Therefore GM-CSF could both expand the number of DCs and induce their maturation. Furthermore, it has been shown that the introduction of GM-CSF into tumor cells produced the most active vaccine compared to cytokines such as IL-2 and IFN-γ or the co-stimulatory molecules like B7.1 that provides signal for T cell

activation in the absence of APCs (206, 207). Using different murine tumor models including B16 melanoma, CT-26 colon carcinoma, CMS-5 fibrosarcoma, RENCA renal cell carcinoma and WP-4 fibrosarcoma, Dranoff et al, showed that irradiated GM-CSF expressing tumor cells were more effective than irradiated cells alone in eliciting systemic immunity (55). TRAMPC2 cells transfected with GM-CSF could be induced to express GM-CSF in the presence of tetracycline. However the amount of GM-CSF produced by these cell lines never exceeded 500pg/ml/million cells that was low compared to levels of SLC produced by TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cells that produced 5000pg/ml/million cells. ELISPOT assays on cloned TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF cells revealed that <10% of the cells produced GM-CSF. This indicates that most of the cells lost inducible expression of GM-CSF but retained antibiotic resistant genes. Furthermore, the cell lines that were derived from TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF (clone 6) prostate tumors had very low or no expression of GM-CSF and eventually died when we tried to select the antibiotic resistant cells to expand for repeated in vivo growth. This behavior may reflect loss of the transgene or silencing of the promoter as discussed before. We could not establish a TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF that maintained regulated expression of GM-CSF after in vivo passage. Therefore, we decided to use TRAMPC2/TR/GM-CSF (clone 6) and study the effect of GM-CSF expression in the TME on tumor growth and metastasis. However, this cell line failed to grow in vivo although it grew before that be due to the fact that these cell lines are genetically very unstable and they change dramatically after in vitro or in vivo passages.

CD40L expressing TRAMPC2 cells were not tumorigenic in vivo

CD40L is expressed mainly by activated CD4+ T lymphocytes in highly regulated manner. At any one time a very limited number of circulating T cells are positive for CD40L expression (208). To date, the physiologic role(s) of CD40 on T cells has not been characterized, nor have the mechanisms by which CD40 affects T cell function been defined. However, after engagement of TCR with MHC-peptide complexes on the surface of APCs, T cells rapidly express CD40L. Then, CD40L binding to CD40 causes up-regulation of co-stimulatory/adhesion molecules [B7.1, B7.2, leukocyte function-associated molecule 3 (LFA-3) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1)] on the surface of DCs, which provides the second signal required to activate naive T cells, amplify the immune response and prevent anergy or tolerance induction (209). While CD40 itself cannot induce IL-2 production, it augments the CD3 signal and gives maximal stimulation together with CD3 and CD28 signals (210).

We developed an inducible TRAMPC2 cell line that expressed CD40L with addition of tetracycline. To study the extent to which CD40L expression modulates tumor growth, TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cells was implanted orthotopically into mice. However, after 3 months of observation, no tumors were detected in the prostate gland. This cell line had a low basal level of CD40L expression (11%). It is possible that this low background level of expression was sufficient to induce an immune response that caused the rejection of TRAMPC2 tumor. Grossman *et al.* showed that murine neuroblastoma cells that expressed CD40L grew slower than the parental cell line. They also showed that not all tumor cells needed to express CD40L to observe the growth inhibitory effect. In fact when only 1.4% of the injected cells were CD40L transfected the tumors were smaller than control (211). Expression of CD40L by tumor cells induced systemic immune response as the number of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells increased significantly in the spleen of CD40L treated mice compared to control (211). Therefore, limited background expression of CD40L by TRAMP tumor cells may have been sufficient to induce an anti-tumor immune response that prevented tumor growth.

A recent study by Dzojic *et al.*, showed that TRAMP-C2 cells that were transduced with an adenoviral vector encoding CD40L were not tumorigenic *in vivo*. They also showed that phenotype of CD40L expressing TRAMPC2 cells compared to the parental cells and they expressed more CD40. CD40L expression by TRAMPC2 cells reduced cell viability and induced apoptosis through activation of caspases. These effects were CD40-dependent since a neutralizing anti-CD40L antibody blocked the reduction in cell viability in a concentration-dependent manner (212). This could be another possible mechanism for the inability of TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L to grow *in vivo* although CD40 was not detectable on TRAMPC2 or TRAMPC2/TR/CD40L cell lines (data not shown).

In summary our studies demonstrated that TRAMP tumor infiltrating DCs are not only phenotypically immature but also fractionate differently than splenic DCs. We also showed that SLC, GM-CSF and CD40L could reverse the immunosuppressive effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DCs *in vitro* that made them good candidates for *in vivo* studies. Transplantation studies *in vivo* showed that SLC inhibited tumor growth and metastasis in an orthotopic TRAMP prostate cancer model. *In vivo* studies with GM-CSF or CD40L transfected TRAMPC2 cells were not successful due to either the genetic instability of TRAMPC2 cells that resulted in unstable expression of chemokines or the "leakiness" of the system that induced a tumor rejection response.

Expression of SLC in TME inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in the murine prostate cancer model

Dendritic cells, the most potent APCs, play a critical role in the induction of anti-tumor response through a series of functions including antigen capture and processing, up-regulation of co-stimulatory signals, and finally antigen presentation and activation of T cells (165). Efficient transport of DCs into T-cellrich areas of lymphoid organs is primarily mediated by SLC (213) through CCR7 receptor. Previous works demonstrated that the chemotactic activity of SLC for DCs and T cells could be used to generate anti-tumor immune responses (214-216) and all of these reports indicated that the anti-tumor effect of SLC was mediated by enhancing the infiltration of mature DCs and CD8⁺ T cells to the tumor. These data also suggested that modification of the TME could lead to effective T-cell priming and the generation of functional anti-tumor effector cells without interaction of DCs and T cells in lymphoid organs. Consistent with these reports we found that the expression of SLC in TRAMPC2 TME inhibited tumor

growth (Fig. 29). The mice were sacrificed when they all had tumors and the majority of the non-treated mice were sick. This could be the reason that there was not any significant difference in the percentage or composition of TILs from treated and non-treated group, and the infiltrate could be different at earlier time points (Fig. 31 and 32). TRAMPC2/TR/SLC cell lines had high inducible expression of SLC at the time of injection and the mice received tetracycline in their drinking water right after the surgery. Therefore expression of SLC in the TME could change the composition of TILs as the tumor began to establish and grow. However, by the time we sacrificed the mice and studied the infiltrates the cells lost the expression of SLC due to promoter methylation and silencing. Theresore there was not any difference between TILs of treated and control groups. It has been shown that when mice with 5-day-old lung cancer were administered with SLC for two weeks, the frequency of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells and CD11c⁺ DCs that infiltrated both the tumor and lymph nodes increased (136). Although SLC seemed to inhibit tumor growth when its expression started soon after tumor injection, it did not delay tumor growth when expression was induced after the appearance of palpable tumors (Fig. 35). Ochsenbein et al. showed that sarcoma cells expressing a strong viral tumor antigen were capable of inducing a protective cytotoxic T cell response if transferred as a single cell suspension. However, if they were transplanted as small tumor pieces, they did not induce a CTL response and tumors readily grew (217). Therefore, it seems that tumors with established microenvironment prevent presentation of tumor antigens in the draining lymph nodes and consequently, tumor specific T cells

can remain ignorant. Liang *et al.* showed that intra-tumoral injection of recombinant adeno-associated viruses vector (rAAV)-SLC into the established tumor also inhibited tumor growth, but the pre-transduced tumor cells, which expressed SLC from the time of administration, displayed a stronger anti-tumor response (218).

In the next study we asked the question whether SLC expression in TME would increase survival and decrease metastasis of TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumors. Therefore, mice were sacrificed when they became morbid at different time points. Treated mice lived longer and had less metastatic disease compared to non-treated mice. Consistent with our data, Liang et al showed that long-term and local expression of SLC in the TME mediated by rAAV-SLC caused delay in progression of ectopic Hepal-6 liver tumors and also reduced tumor weight in these mice compared to tumors that expressed GFP (218). They also showed that SLC generated systemic anti-tumor responses, accompanied by extensive infiltration of CD11c⁺ DCs and CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells into the tumor site, especially activated CD3⁺ CD69⁺ T cells (218). As mentioned before SLC is expressed in high endothelial venules (HEVs), the main entrance of lymphocyte into peripheral lymph nodes and spleen (133) that may help organize T cells/DCs co-localization and interaction. Immunohistochemical staining of tumor sections showed that infiltration of T cells and DCs into the tumor formed a new lymphoidlike tissue within the established tumor (218). Furthermore, expression of SLC in transgenic mice with islet β-cell-specific expression of SLC has been shown to trigger formation of lymphoid-like tissue in the pancreatic islets by recruiting the

lymphocytes and DCs to pancreatic islets (219). Thus, these results coincident with previous studies showed that local expression of SLC in the TME elicited anti-tumor effects by induction of lymphocyte infiltration as well as facilitating their interaction.

Although SLC is important in recruiting DCs and T cells and is classified as a CC chemokine (binds to CCR7 receptor), murine SLC has been shown to bind to CXC chemokine receptor CXCR3 (220). This is a property that SLC shares with two other angiostatic chemokines, interferon-inducible protein 10 (IP-10) and monokine induced by interferon- γ (MIG) (221). Therefore anti-tumor activity of SLC can also be associated with its angiostatic activity through binding to CXCR3 receptor. Arenberg *et al.*, showed that injection of SLC into the A549 human lung tumors in the severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) mice inhibited tumor growth and reduced metastasis when the number and size of metastatic loci was compared to control mice (222).

Many tumors produce chemokines, which may explain the presence of tumor-associated leukocytes. These chemokines may assist in immunosurveillance and help to eliminate the tumor (223, 224). However, they may also promote tumor growth and invasion. Chemo-attracted host-derived inflammatory cells that infiltrate tumor tissues can create an environment that favors tumor progression. They promote tumor angiogenesis and tumor progression by producing angiogenic factors and matrix-degrading enzymes, respectively (198, 225). Yang *et al.* demonstrated that tumors could use different mechanisms to promote tumor development and growth. They demonstrated that immature

granulocytes consist about 5-6% of the leukocytes infiltrating colorectal cancer (MC26) and Lewis lung carcinoma (3LL) tumors. The percentage of these cells also increased in tumor bearing spleen compared to normal spleen. Tumor growth was increased when tumor cells were co-injected with Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells purified from the spleen of tumor bearing mice suggesting that these cells promoted tumor growth. Furthermore, increased tumor angiogenesis, vascular maturation, and decreased tumor cell apoptosis and tumor necrosis were observed in tumors co-injected with Gr-1⁺CD11b⁺ cells that was mainly related to production of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP9) by these cells (226). Studies have shown that MMP9 functions as an angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis by releasing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) from the matrix (227). Importantly, deletion of MMP9 abolished the angiogenesis-promoting activity (226). Tumor associated macrophages can also release a number of potent growth and angiogenic factors such as platelet-derived growth factor, epidermal growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, and IL-8 (228-230). Furthermore, Lin et al., showed that the absence of macrophages from the TME in the mammary-tumor prone mouse model markedly delayed benign to malignant transition and pulmonary metastasis (231). We could not detect any major phenotypic differences between the infiltrates of tumors that expressed SLC and control tumors when morbid animals were evaluated. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that differences in the cellular composition of the infiltrate existed during early tumor growth of TRAMPC2 and TRAMPC2/SLC.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Dendritic cells are known as the most efficient antigen-presenting cell type with the ability to interact with T cells and initiate an immune response. Dendritic cells are receiving increasing scientific and clinical interest due to their key role in the immune response (71). However tumors have been shown to be immunosuppressive and prevent initiation of the immune response by different mechanisms. We showed that at least one possible mechanism for TRAMP tumor cells to escape immune recognition could be the immature phenotype of DCs in the TME. Maturation of DCs is a required step for T cell activation and induction of immune response. In this study we showed that although TRAMP TME is immunosuppressive and prevents maturation of tumor infiltrating DCs but these DCs are not refractory to activation by bacterial stimuli. This is important since the major goal of this study was to generate vaccines to induce an immune response by co-localizing DCs and T cells and/or inducing DC maturation. Although expression of CD40L and GM-CSF by TRAMPC2 cells caused DC maturation to some extent in vitro but these cell lines did not grow in vivo that could be due to the fact that these cell line had some background expression of the cytokine that could be enough to generate sufficient immune response to reject the tumor.

Expression of SLC *in vitro* did not induce DC maturation when it was secreted from TRAMPC2 tumor cells, however when it was expressed *in vivo* it delayed tumor growth and prolonged survival of tumor bearing mice. The mechanism of SLC function could be co-localization of DCs and T cells rather than induction of DC maturation. Furthermore, SLC reduced the frequency of metastasis. Expression of SLC in TRAMP TME did not have any effect on the growth of established tumors however this could be due to loss of SLC transgene expression through methylation of its promoter. It seemed that gene silencing through promoter methylation could be a possible mechanism for loss of transgene expression by TRAMPC2 cells therefore replacing the CMV promoter with a promoter that is less susceptible to methylation could actually prevent the loss of transgene expression by TRAMPC2 cells. The replacement of the promoter can help with the leakiness of these cell lines and lower the background expression of the cytokines. This is important specifically in case of CD40L and GM-CSF as the inability of these cell lines to grow in vivo could be due to immune response induction through the background expression.

We did not detect any difference between the infiltrate compositions of TRAMP tumors that expressed SLC or control group. We phenotyped the infiltrates when the mice had progressed disease and it seemed that the expression of SLC had role in preventing the establishment of tumors and did not affect the growth of established tumors. This could also be the result of promoter methylation that seemed to cause silencing of the SLC gene throughout the tumor growth. Therefore the infiltrate composition of treated and not treated mice could be different at earlier time points when the tumor is just established and tumor cells still secret SLC in the tetracycline treated mice and SLC gene is not silenced due to promoter methylation.
Flt3-L is known to be a haematopoetic growth factor for both myeloid and lymphoid precursors (108). Systemic injection of flt3-L into the mice with established TRAMP tumors induced growth inhibition and prolonged their survival (115). The tumor growth inhibition was correlated with the infiltration of mainly myeloid cells but not T cells (115). This therapy alone was not successful and did not induce long-term immunity because disease relapse occurred after the termination of treatment. Furthermore myeloid cells are known to be immunosuppressive and it has been shown that elimination of these cells improved CD4 and CD8 mediated tumor-specific immune response (232). On the other hand we showed that expression of SLC in TRAMP TME also enhanced the survival of tumor bearing mice and inhibited tumor growth. The major function of SLC is known to be attraction of DCs and T cells. Therefore combination of these therapies can induce a more potent immune response. To avoid consecutive daily injections transgenic mice that conditionally express murine flt3-L in the presence of tetracycline could be used (110). Expression of flt3-L in these transgenic mice led to dramatic increases in the number of DC in multiple tissues and expansion of different subsets of DCs including $CD8^+$ DCs (110). Treatment of flt3-L transgenic mice implanted with TRAMPC2/TR/SLC tumor cells with tetracycline would cause expression of both flt3-L and SLC. Flt3-L would expand the number of DCs and SLC that is expressed by the tumor cells would attract DCs and T cell in the TME. The interaction of these cells can induce a potent immune response to prevent tumor growth.

Delivering a therapeutic gene that encodes a molecule that directly or

indirectly kills tumor cells is an attractive approach in cancer gene therapy. Gene modified cancer vaccines are usually composed of autologous tumor cells stably transfected with an immunostimulatory gene (207). The original hypothesis was that the expression of cytokines or the co-stimulatory molecules would allow the tumor cell to provide all of the signals for activation of T cells, bypassing the need for host APCs (76, 206). However, preclinical models showed that introduction of GM-CSF that expands the number of DCs into tumor cells produced the most active vaccine (55). These cytokine-modified autologous tumor cell vaccines have been tested in clinical trials for several years (129). The manufacture of autologous tumor cell vaccines requires tumor cell cultures from each patient, transfection of these cells and selection of cells that express the transgene. To avoid this long process, other methods have been explored, including the use of allogeneic gene-modified tumor cell vaccines, transfection of autologous noncancerous cells that are easier to obtain and gene-modify (usually fibroblasts) or the use of other bystander cells coinjected with autologous tumor cells (233). These strategies that decrease vaccine production time could be applied to generate prostate cancer vaccines using flt3-L and/or SLC.

In summary our studies demonstrated that TRAMP tumor infiltrating DCs are not only phenotypically immature and this immature phenotype was induced by TRAMP tumor cells but not GR1⁺ cells infiltrating the tumor. We also showed that GM-CSF and CD40L could reverse the immunosuppressive effect of TRAMPC2 cells on DCs *in vitro* that made them good candidates for *in vivo* studies. *In vivo* studies with GM-CSF or CD40L transfected TRAMPC2 cells were

not successful due to either the genetic instability of TRAMPC2 cells that resulted in unstable expression of chemokines or the "leakiness" of the system that induced a tumor rejection response. SLC was not as effective as CD40L and GM-CSF to induce DC maturation *in vitro* however, transplantation studies *in vivo* showed that SLC inhibited tumor growth and metastasis in an orthotopic TRAMP prostate cancer model.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sporn, M.B. 1996. The war on cancer. *Lancet* 1377-1381.
- 2. Krikorian, J.G., C.S. Portlock, P. Cooney, and S.A. Rosenberg. 1980. Spontaneous regression of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a report of nine cases. *Cancer* 46:2093-2099.
- 3. Chen, C.D., D.S. Welsbie, C. Tran, S.H. Baek, R. Chen, R. Vessella, M.G. Rosenfeld, and C.L. Sawyers. 2004. Molecular determinants of resistance to antiandrogen therapy. *Nat Med* 10:33-39.
- 4. Basler, C.F. 2007. Influenza viruses: basic biology and potential drug targets. *Infect Disord Drug Targets* 282-293.
- 5. Nauts, H.C. 1989. Bacteria and cancer--antagonisms and benefits. *Cancer Surv* 713-723.
- Agarwala, S.S., D. Neuberg, Y. Park, and J.M. Kirkwood. 2004. Mature results of a phase III randomized trial of bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) versus observation and BCG plus dacarbazine versus BCG in the adjuvant therapy of American Joint Committee on Cancer Stage I-III melanoma (E1673): a trial of the Eastern Oncology Group. *Cancer* 100:1692-1698.
- Wallack, M.K., M. Sivanandham, C.M. Balch, M.M. Urist, K.I. Bland, D. Murray, W.A. Robinson, L.E. Flaherty, J.M. Richards, A.A. Bartolucci, and et al. 1995. A phase III randomized, double-blind multiinstitutional trial of vaccinia melanoma oncolysate-active specific immunotherapy for patients with stage II melanoma. *Cancer* 75:34-42.
- 8. Driessens, G., M. Hamdane, V. Cool, T. Velu, and C. Bruyns. 2004. Highly successful therapeutic vaccinations combining dendritic cells and tumor cells secreting granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Cancer Res* 64:8435-8442.
- 9. Livingston, P.O., E.J. Natoli, M.J. Calves, E. Stockert, H.F. Oettgen, and L.J. Old. 1987. Vaccines containing purified GM2 ganglioside elicit GM2 antibodies in melanoma patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 84:2911-2915.
- 10. Townsend, A.R., J. Rothbard, F.M. Gotch, G. Bahadur, D. Wraith, and A.J. McMichael. 1986. The epitopes of influenza nucleoprotein recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes can be defined with short synthetic peptides. *Cell* 44:959-968.
- 11. Bastin, J., J. Rothbard, J. Davey, I. Jones, and A. Townsend. 1987. Use of synthetic peptides of influenza nucleoprotein to define epitopes recognized by class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 165:1508-1523.
- 12. Schreiber, H., P.L. Ward, D.A. Rowley, and H.J. Stauss. 1988. Unique tumor-specific antigens. *Annu Rev Immunol* 6:465-483.
- 13. van der Bruggen, P., and B.J. Van den Eynde. 2006. Processing and presentation of tumor antigens and vaccination strategies. *Curr Opin Immunol* 18:98-104.

- 14. Wortzel, R.D., C. Philipps, and H. Schreiber. 1983. Multiple tumourspecific antigens expressed on a single tumour cell. *Nature* 304:165-167.
- MacKenzie, J., D. Gray, R. Pinto-Paes, L.F. Barrezueta, A.A. Armstrong, F.A. Alexander, D.J. McGeoch, and R.F. Jarrett. 1999. Analysis of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) nuclear antigen 1 subtypes in EBV-associated lymphomas from Brazil and the United Kingdom. *J Gen Virol* 80 (Pt 10):2741-2745.
- 16. Mandruzzato, S., F. Brasseur, G. Andry, T. Boon, and P. van der Bruggen. 1997. A CASP-8 mutation recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human head and neck carcinoma. *J Exp Med* 186:785-793.
- 17. Zelinski, D.P., N.D. Zantek, J.C. Stewart, A.R. Irizarry, and M.S. Kinch. 2001. EphA2 overexpression causes tumorigenesis of mammary epithelial cells. *Cancer Res* 61:2301-2306.
- 18. Brinckerhoff, L.H., L.W. Thompson, and C.L. Slingluff, Jr. 2000. Melanoma vaccines. *Curr Opin Oncol* 12:163-173.
- 19. Powell, D.J., Jr., and S.A. Rosenberg. 2004. Phenotypic and functional maturation of tumor antigen-reactive CD8+ T lymphocytes in patients undergoing multiple course peptide vaccination. *J Immunother* 27:36-47.
- Lee, K.H., E. Wang, M.B. Nielsen, J. Wunderlich, S. Migueles, M. Connors, S.M. Steinberg, S.A. Rosenberg, and F.M. Marincola. 1999. Increased vaccine-specific T cell frequency after peptide-based vaccination correlates with increased susceptibility to in vitro stimulation but does not lead to tumor regression. *J Immunol* 163:6292-6300.
- Kirkwood, J.M., J.G. Ibrahim, J.A. Sosman, V.K. Sondak, S.S. Agarwala, M.S. Ernstoff, and U. Rao. 2001. High-dose interferon alfa-2b significantly prolongs relapse-free and overall survival compared with the GM2-KLH/QS-21 vaccine in patients with resected stage IIB-III melanoma: results of intergroup trial E1694/S9512/C509801. J Clin Oncol 19:2370-2380.
- 22. Wolff, J.A., R.W. Malone, P. Williams, W. Chong, G. Acsadi, A. Jani, and P.L. Felgner. 1990. Direct gene transfer into mouse muscle in vivo. *Science* 1465-1468.
- 23. Triozzi, P.L., W. Aldrich, K.O. Allen, R.R. Carlisle, A.F. LoBuglio, and R.M. Conry. 2005. Phase I study of a plasmid DNA vaccine encoding MART-1 in patients with resected melanoma at risk for relapse. *J Immunother* 382-388.
- Rosenberg, S.A., J.C. Yang, R.M. Sherry, P. Hwu, S.L. Topalian, D.J. Schwartzentruber, N.P. Restifo, L.R. Haworth, C.A. Seipp, L.J. Freezer, K.E. Morton, S.A. Mavroukakis, and D.E. White. 2003. Inability to immunize patients with metastatic melanoma using plasmid DNA encoding the gp100 melanoma-melanocyte antigen. *Hum Gene Ther* 709-714.
- 25. Weber, J., W. Boswell, J. Smith, E. Hersh, J. Snively, M. Diaz, S. Miles, X. Liu, M. Obrocea, Z. Qiu, and A. Bot. 2008. Phase 1 trial of intranodal injection of a Melan-A/MART-1 DNA plasmid vaccine in patients with stage IV melanoma. *J Immunother* 215-223.

- 26. Nasu, Y., T. Saika, S. Ebara, N. Kusaka, H. Kaku, F. Abarzua, D. Manabe, T.C. Thompson, and H. Kumon. 2007. Suicide gene therapy with adenoviral delivery of HSV-tK gene for patients with local recurrence of prostate cancer after hormonal therapy. *Mol Ther* 834-840.
- 27. Morse, M.A., and H.K. Lyerly. 1998. Dendritic cell-based approaches to cancer immunotherapy. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 1617-1627.
- 28. Salgia, R., T. Lynch, A. Skarin, J. Lucca, C. Lynch, K. Jung, F.S. Hodi, M. Jaklitsch, S. Mentzer, S. Swanson, J. Lukanich, R. Bueno, J. Wain, D. Mathisen, C. Wright, P. Fidias, D. Donahue, S. Clift, S. Hardy, D. Neuberg, R. Mulligan, I. Webb, D. Sugarbaker, M. Mihm, and G. Dranoff. 2003. Vaccination with irradiated autologous tumor cells engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor augments antitumor immunity in some patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol* 624-630.
- Eggermont, A.M., S. Suciu, M. Santinami, A. Testori, W.H. Kruit, J. Marsden, C.J. Punt, F. Sales, M. Gore, R. Mackie, Z. Kusic, R. Dummer, A. Hauschild, E. Musat, A. Spatz, and U. Keilholz. 2008. Adjuvant therapy with pegylated interferon alfa-2b versus observation alone in resected stage III melanoma: final results of EORTC 18991, a randomised phase III trial. *Lancet* 117-126.
- Elias, E.G., J.L. Zapas, E.C. McCarron, S.L. Beam, J.H. Hasskamp, and W.J. Culpepper. 2008. Sequential administration of GM-CSF (Sargramostim) and IL-2 +/- autologous vaccine as adjuvant therapy in cutaneous melanoma: an interim report of a phase II clinical trial. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm* 285-291.
- 31. Lu, C., M.F. Vickers, and R.S. Kerbel. 1992. Interleukin 6: a fibroblastderived growth inhibitor of human melanoma cells from early but not advanced stages of tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89:9215-9219.
- 32. Daro, E., E. Butz, J. Smith, M. Teepe, C.R. Maliszewski, and H.J. McKenna. 2002. Comparison of the functional properties of murine dendritic cells generated in vivo with Flt3 ligand, GM-CSF and Flt3 ligand plus GM-SCF. *Cytokine* 17:119-130.
- 33. Kumar, S., H. Kishimoto, H.L. Chua, S. Badve, K.D. Miller, R.M. Bigsby, and H. Nakshatri. 2003. Interleukin-1 alpha promotes tumor growth and cachexia in MCF-7 xenograft model of breast cancer. *Am J Pathol* 163:2531-2541.
- 34. Young, M.R., M.A. Wright, Y. Lozano, M.M. Prechel, J. Benefield, J.P. Leonetti, S.L. Collins, and G.J. Petruzzelli. 1997. Increased recurrence and metastasis in patients whose primary head and neck squamous cell carcinomas secreted granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and contained CD34+ natural suppressor cells. *Int J Cancer* 74:69-74.
- 35. Kitadai, Y., Y. Takahashi, K. Haruma, K. Naka, K. Sumii, H. Yokozaki, W. Yasui, N. Mukaida, Y. Ohmoto, G. Kajiyama, I.J. Fidler, and E. Tahara. 1999. Transfection of interleukin-8 increases angiogenesis and

tumorigenesis of human gastric carcinoma cells in nude mice. *Br J Cancer* 81:647-653.

- Arenberg, D.A., S.L. Kunkel, P.J. Polverini, M. Glass, M.D. Burdick, and R.M. Strieter. 1996. Inhibition of interleukin-8 reduces tumorigenesis of human non-small cell lung cancer in SCID mice. *J Clin Invest* 97:2792-2802.
- 37. Loberg, R.D., L.L. Day, J. Harwood, C. Ying, L.N. St John, R. Giles, C.K. Neeley, and K.J. Pienta. 2006. CCL2 is a potent regulator of prostate cancer cell migration and proliferation. *Neoplasia* 8:578-586.
- Taichman, R.S., C. Cooper, E.T. Keller, K.J. Pienta, N.S. Taichman, and L.K. McCauley. 2002. Use of the stromal cell-derived factor-1/CXCR4 pathway in prostate cancer metastasis to bone. *Cancer Res* 62:1832-1837.
- Samuelsson, J., H. Hasselbalch, O. Bruserud, S. Temerinac, Y. Brandberg, M. Merup, O. Linder, M. Bjorkholm, H.L. Pahl, and G. Birgegard. 2006. A phase II trial of pegylated interferon alpha-2b therapy for polycythemia vera and essential thrombocythemia: feasibility, clinical and biologic effects, and impact on quality of life. *Cancer* 106:2397-2405.
- 40. Fay, J.W., H. Lazarus, R. Herzig, R. Saez, D.A. Stevens, R.H. Collins, Jr., L.A. Pineiro, B.W. Cooper, J. DiCesare, M. Campion, and et al. 1994. Sequential administration of recombinant human interleukin-3 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor after autologous bone marrow transplantation for malignant lymphoma: a phase I/II multicenter study. *Blood* 84:2151-2157.
- 41. Dranoff, G. 2004. Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* 4:11-22.
- 42. Thurner, B., I. Haendle, C. Roder, D. Dieckmann, P. Keikavoussi, H. Jonuleit, A. Bender, C. Maczek, D. Schreiner, P. von den Driesch, E.B. Brocker, R.M. Steinman, A. Enk, E. Kampgen, and G. Schuler. 1999. Vaccination with mage-3A1 peptide-pulsed mature, monocyte-derived dendritic cells expands specific cytotoxic T cells and induces regression of some metastases in advanced stage IV melanoma. *J Exp Med* 190:1669-1678.
- 43. Janeway, C.A., Jr., and R. Medzhitov. 2002. Innate immune recognition. *Annu Rev Immunol* 20:197-216.
- 44. Farrar, J.D., H. Asnagli, and K.M. Murphy. 2002. T helper subset development: roles of instruction, selection, and transcription. *J Clin Invest* 109:431-435.
- 45. Lenschow, D.J., T.L. Walunas, and J.A. Bluestone. 1996. CD28/B7 system of T cell costimulation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 14:233-258.
- 46. Rosenthal, A.S., and E.M. Shevach. 1973. Function of macrophages in antigen recognition by guinea pig T lymphocytes. I. Requirement for histocompatible macrophages and lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 138:1194-1212.

- 47. Sehajpal, P.K., V.K. Sharma, K.H. Stenzel, and M. Suthanthiran. 1993. Two-signal model for T-cell activation: molecular mechanisms. *Transplant Proc* 25:104-105.
- 48. Restifo, N.P., F. Esquivel, Y. Kawakami, J.W. Yewdell, J.J. Mule, S.A. Rosenberg, and J.R. Bennink. 1993. Identification of human cancers deficient in antigen processing. *J Exp Med* 177:265-272.
- 49. Neeley, Y.C., K.T. McDonagh, W.W. Overwijk, N.P. Restifo, and M.G. Sanda. 2002. Antigen-specific tumor vaccine efficacy in vivo against prostate cancer with low class I MHC requires competent class II MHC. *Prostate* 53:183-191.
- 50. Goldszmid, R.S., J. Idoyaga, A.I. Bravo, R. Steinman, J. Mordoh, and R. Wainstok. 2003. Dendritic cells charged with apoptotic tumor cells induce long-lived protective CD4+ and CD8+ T cell immunity against B16 melanoma. *J Immunol* 171:5940-5947.
- 51. Niederhuber, J.E. 1997. Cancer Vaccines: The Molecular Basis for T Cell Killing of Tumor Cells. *Oncologist* 2:280-283.
- 52. Nakajima, H., H.L. Park, and P.A. Henkart. 1995. Synergistic roles of granzymes A and B in mediating target cell death by rat basophilic leukemia mast cell tumors also expressing cytolysin/perforin. *J Exp Med* 181:1037-1046.
- 53. Caldwell, S.A., M.H. Ryan, E. McDuffie, and S.I. Abrams. 2003. The Fas/Fas ligand pathway is important for optimal tumor regression in a mouse model of CTL adoptive immunotherapy of experimental CMS4 lung metastases. *J Immunol* 171:2402-2412.
- 54. Maeurer, M.J., S.M. Gollin, D. Martin, W. Swaney, J. Bryant, C. Castelli, P. Robbins, G. Parmiani, W.J. Storkus, and M.T. Lotze. 1996. Tumor escape from immune recognition: lethal recurrent melanoma in a patient associated with downregulation of the peptide transporter protein TAP-1 and loss of expression of the immunodominant MART-1/Melan-A antigen. *J Clin Invest* 1633-1641.
- 55. Watzl, C., and E.O. Long. 2000. Exposing tumor cells to killer cell attack. *Nat Med* 867-868.
- 56. Igney, F.H., and P.H. Krammer. 2002. Death and anti-death: tumour resistance to apoptosis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 277-288.
- 57. Moretta, L., C. Bottino, D. Pende, M. Vitale, M.C. Mingari, and A. Moretta. 2004. Different checkpoints in human NK-cell activation. *Trends Immunol* 670-676.
- 58. Sinkovics, J.G., and J.C. Horvath. 2005. Human natural killer cells: a comprehensive review. *Int J Oncol* 5-47.
- 59. Smyth, M.J., K.Y. Thia, E. Cretney, J.M. Kelly, M.B. Snook, C.A. Forbes, and A.A. Scalzo. 1999. Perforin is a major contributor to NK cell control of tumor metastasis. *J Immunol* 6658-6662.
- 60. Medvedev, A.E., A.C. Johnsen, J. Haux, B. Steinkjer, K. Egeberg, D.H. Lynch, A. Sundan, and T. Espevik. 1997. Regulation of Fas and Fasligand expression in NK cells by cytokines and the involvement of Fasligand in NK/LAK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Cytokine* 394-404.

- 61. Greenberg, P.D., D.E. Kern, and M.A. Cheever. 1985. Therapy of disseminated murine leukemia with cyclophosphamide and immune Lyt-1+,2- T cells. Tumor eradication does not require participation of cytotoxic T cells. *J Exp Med* 161:1122-1134.
- 62. Dranoff, G., E. Jaffee, A. Lazenby, P. Golumbek, H. Levitsky, K. Brose, V. Jackson, H. Hamada, D. Pardoll, and R.C. Mulligan. 1993. Vaccination with irradiated tumor cells engineered to secrete murine granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor stimulates potent, specific, and long-lasting anti-tumor immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:3539-3543.
- 63. Hung, K., R. Hayashi, A. Lafond-Walker, C. Lowenstein, D. Pardoll, and H. Levitsky. 1998. The central role of CD4(+) T cells in the antitumor immune response. *J Exp Med* 188:2357-2368.
- 64. Probst, H.C., and M. van den Broek. 2005. Priming of CTLs by lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus depends on dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 174:3920-3924.
- 65. Norbury, C.C., D. Malide, J.S. Gibbs, J.R. Bennink, and J.W. Yewdell. 2002. Visualizing priming of virus-specific CD8+ T cells by infected dendritic cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 3:265-271.
- 66. Steinman, R.M. 1991. The dendritic cell system and its role in immunogenicity. *Annu Rev Immunol* 9:271-296.
- 67. Ingulli, E., A. Mondino, A. Khoruts, and M.K. Jenkins. 1997. In vivo detection of dendritic cell antigen presentation to CD4(+) T cells. *J Exp Med* 185:2133-2141.
- 68. Gajewski, T.F., M. Pinnas, T. Wong, and F.W. Fitch. 1991. Murine Th1 and Th2 clones proliferate optimally in response to distinct antigenpresenting cell populations. *J Immunol* 146:1750-1758.
- 69. Chang, T.L., C.M. Shea, S. Urioste, R.C. Thompson, W.H. Boom, and A.K. Abbas. 1990. Heterogeneity of helper/inducer T lymphocytes. III. Responses of IL-2- and IL-4-producing (Th1 and Th2) clones to antigens presented by different accessory cells. *J Immunol* 145:2803-2808.
- 70. Steinman, R.M., and M.C. Nussenzweig. 2002. Avoiding horror autotoxicus: the importance of dendritic cells in peripheral T cell tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99:351-358.
- 71. Mahnke, K., E. Schmitt, L. Bonifaz, A.H. Enk, and H. Jonuleit. 2002. Immature, but not inactive: the tolerogenic function of immature dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* 80:477-483.
- 72. Caux, C., C. Massacrier, B. Vanbervliet, B. Dubois, C. Van Kooten, I. Durand, and J. Banchereau. 1994. Activation of human dendritic cells through CD40 cross-linking. *J Exp Med* 180:1263-1272.
- 73. van Kooten, C., and J. Banchereau. 2000. CD40-CD40 ligand. *J Leukoc Biol* 67:2-17.
- 74. Ardeshna, K.M., A.R. Pizzey, S. Devereux, and A. Khwaja. 2000. The PI3 kinase, p38 SAP kinase, and NF-kappaB signal transduction pathways are involved in the survival and maturation of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Blood* 96:1039-1046.

- Saemann, M.D., C. Diakos, P. Kelemen, E. Kriehuber, M. Zeyda, G.A. Bohmig, W.H. Horl, T. Baumruker, and G.J. Zlabinger. 2003. Prevention of CD40-triggered dendritic cell maturation and induction of T-cell hyporeactivity by targeting of Janus kinase 3. *Am J Transplant* 3:1341-1349.
- 76. Shurin, M.R., Z.R. Yurkovetsky, I.L. Tourkova, L. Balkir, and G.V. Shurin. 2002. Inhibition of CD40 expression and CD40-mediated dendritic cell function by tumor-derived IL-10. *Int J Cancer* 101:61-68.
- 77. Banchereau, J., F. Bazan, D. Blanchard, F. Briere, J.P. Galizzi, C. van Kooten, Y.J. Liu, F. Rousset, and S. Saeland. 1994. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12:881-922.
- 78. Banchereau, J., F. Briere, C. Caux, J. Davoust, S. Lebecque, Y.J. Liu, B. Pulendran, and K. Palucka. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 767-811.
- Ito, T., M. Inaba, K. Inaba, J. Toki, S. Sogo, T. Iguchi, Y. Adachi, K. Yamaguchi, R. Amakawa, J. Valladeau, S. Saeland, S. Fukuhara, and S. Ikehara. 1999. A CD1a+/CD11c+ subset of human blood dendritic cells is a direct precursor of Langerhans cells. *J Immunol* 163:1409-1419.
- 80. Vremec, D., and K. Shortman. 1997. Dendritic cell subtypes in mouse lymphoid organs: cross-correlation of surface markers, changes with incubation, and differences among thymus, spleen, and lymph nodes. *J Immunol* 159:565-573.
- 81. Vremec, D., J. Pooley, H. Hochrein, L. Wu, and K. Shortman. 2000. CD4 and CD8 expression by dendritic cell subtypes in mouse thymus and spleen. *J Immunol* 164:2978-2986.
- den Haan, J.M., S.M. Lehar, and M.J. Bevan. 2000. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. *J Exp Med* 192:1685-1696.
- 83. Huang, A.Y., P. Golumbek, M. Ahmadzadeh, E. Jaffee, D. Pardoll, and H. Levitsky. 1994. Role of bone marrow-derived cells in presenting MHC class I-restricted tumor antigens. *Science* 264:961-965.
- Kurts, C., W.R. Heath, F.R. Carbone, J. Allison, J.F. Miller, and H. Kosaka. 1996. Constitutive class I-restricted exogenous presentation of self antigens in vivo. *J Exp Med* 184:923-930.
- 85. Sigal, L.J., S. Crotty, R. Andino, and K.L. Rock. 1999. Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to virus-infected non-haematopoietic cells requires presentation of exogenous antigen. *Nature* 398:77-80.
- 86. Lenz, L.L., E.A. Butz, and M.J. Bevan. 2000. Requirements for bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells in priming cytotoxic T cell responses to intracellular pathogens. *J Exp Med* 192:1135-1142.
- 87. Liu, Y.J., H. Kanzler, V. Soumelis, and M. Gilliet. 2001. Dendritic cell lineage, plasticity and cross-regulation. *Nat Immunol* 2:585-589.
- 88. Rissoan, M.C., V. Soumelis, N. Kadowaki, G. Grouard, F. Briere, R. de Waal Malefyt, and Y.J. Liu. 1999. Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. *Science* 283:1183-1186.

- 89. Grouard, G., M.C. Rissoan, L. Filgueira, I. Durand, J. Banchereau, and Y.J. Liu. 1997. The enigmatic plasmacytoid T cells develop into dendritic cells with interleukin (IL)-3 and CD40-ligand. *J Exp Med* 1101-1111.
- 90. Facchetti, F., E. Candiago, and W. Vermi. 1999. Plasmacytoid monocytes express IL3-receptor alpha and differentiate into dendritic cells. *Histopathology* 88-89.
- 91. Colonna, M., G. Trinchieri, and Y.J. Liu. 2004. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in immunity. *Nat Immunol* 1219-1226.
- 92. Jego, G., A.K. Palucka, J.P. Blanck, C. Chalouni, V. Pascual, and J. Banchereau. 2003. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. *Immunity* 19:225-234.
- 93. Nakano, H., M. Yanagita, and M.D. Gunn. 2001. CD11c(+)B220(+)Gr-1(+) cells in mouse lymph nodes and spleen display characteristics of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 194:1171-1178.
- 94. Werling, D., and T.W. Jungi. 2003. TOLL-like receptors linking innate and adaptive immune response. *Vet Immunol Immunopathol* 91:1-12.
- 95. Takeda, K., T. Kaisho, and S. Akira. 2003. Toll-like receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21:335-376.
- 96. Janssens, S., and R. Beyaert. 2002. A universal role for MyD88 in TLR/IL-1R-mediated signaling. *Trends Biochem Sci* 27:474-482.
- 97. Cao, Z., J. Xiong, M. Takeuchi, T. Kurama, and D.V. Goeddel. 1996. TRAF6 is a signal transducer for interleukin-1. *Nature* 383:443-446.
- 98. Karin, M., and Y. Ben-Neriah. 2000. Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. *Annu Rev Immunol* 18:621-663.
- 99. Kaisho, T., O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, K. Hoshino, and S. Akira. 2001. Endotoxin-induced maturation of MyD88-deficient dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 166:5688-5694.
- Doyle, S., S. Vaidya, R. O'Connell, H. Dadgostar, P. Dempsey, T. Wu, G. Rao, R. Sun, M. Haberland, R. Modlin, and G. Cheng. 2002. IRF3 mediates a TLR3/TLR4-specific antiviral gene program. *Immunity* 17:251-263.
- 101. Metlay, J.P., M.D. Witmer-Pack, R. Agger, M.T. Crowley, D. Lawless, and R.M. Steinman. 1990. The distinct leukocyte integrins of mouse spleen dendritic cells as identified with new hamster monoclonal antibodies. *J Exp Med* 171:1753-1771.
- Lindquist, R.L., G. Shakhar, D. Dudziak, H. Wardemann, T. Eisenreich, M.L. Dustin, and M.C. Nussenzweig. 2004. Visualizing dendritic cell networks in vivo. *Nat Immunol* 5:1243-1250.
- Hugues, S., L. Fetler, L. Bonifaz, J. Helft, F. Amblard, and S. Amigorena.
 2004. Distinct T cell dynamics in lymph nodes during the induction of tolerance and immunity. *Nat Immunol* 5:1235-1242.
- 104. Thurnher, M., C. Radmayr, R. Ramoner, S. Ebner, G. Bock, H. Klocker, N. Romani, and G. Bartsch. 1996. Human renal-cell carcinoma tissue contains dendritic cells. *Int J Cancer* 68:1-7.

- 105. Chaux, P., M. Moutet, J. Faivre, F. Martin, and M. Martin. 1996. Inflammatory cells infiltrating human colorectal carcinomas express HLA class II but not B7-1 and B7-2 costimulatory molecules of the T-cell activation. Lab Invest 74:975-983.
- 106. Nestle, F.O., G. Burg, J. Fah, T. Wrone-Smith, and B.J. Nickoloff. 1997. Human sunlight-induced basal-cell-carcinoma-associated dendritic cells are deficient in T cell co-stimulatory molecules and are impaired as antigen-presenting cells. *Am J Pathol* 150:641-651.
- 107. Chaux, P., N. Favre, B. Bonnotte, M. Moutet, M. Martin, and F. Martin. 1997. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells are defective in their antigenpresenting function and inducible B7 expression. A role in the immune tolerance to antigenic tumors. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 417:525-528.
- 108. Bell, D., P. Chomarat, D. Broyles, G. Netto, G.M. Harb, S. Lebecque, J. Valladeau, J. Davoust, K.A. Palucka, and J. Banchereau. 1999. In breast carcinoma tissue, immature dendritic cells reside within the tumor, whereas mature dendritic cells are located in peritumoral areas. *J Exp Med* 190:1417-1426.
- Buelens, C., F. Willems, A. Delvaux, G. Pierard, J.P. Delville, T. Velu, and M. Goldman. 1995. Interleukin-10 differentially regulates B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) expression on human peripheral blood dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* 25:2668-2672.
- 110. Gilboa, E., S.K. Nair, and H.K. Lyerly. 1998. Immunotherapy of cancer with dendritic-cell-based vaccines. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 46:82-87.
- Mayordomo, J.I., T. Zorina, W.J. Storkus, L. Zitvogel, C. Celluzzi, L.D. Falo, C.J. Melief, S.T. Ildstad, W.M. Kast, A.B. Deleo, and et al. 1995. Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells pulsed with synthetic tumour peptides elicit protective and therapeutic antitumour immunity. *Nat Med* 1:1297-1302.
- 112. Paczesny, S., J. Banchereau, K.M. Wittkowski, G. Saracino, J. Fay, and A.K. Palucka. 2004. Expansion of melanoma-specific cytolytic CD8+ T cell precursors in patients with metastatic melanoma vaccinated with CD34+ progenitor-derived dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 199:1503-1511.
- 113. Fearnley, D.B., L.F. Whyte, S.A. Carnoutsos, A.H. Cook, and D.N. Hart. 1999. Monitoring human blood dendritic cell numbers in normal individuals and in stem cell transplantation. *Blood* 93:728-736.
- 114. Brasel, K., T. De Smedt, J.L. Smith, and C.R. Maliszewski. 2000. Generation of murine dendritic cells from flt3-ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures. *Blood* 96:3029-3039.
- 115. Brasel, K., H.J. McKenna, P.J. Morrissey, K. Charrier, A.E. Morris, C.C. Lee, D.E. Williams, and S.D. Lyman. 1996. Hematologic effects of flt3 ligand in vivo in mice. *Blood* 88:2004-2012.
- 116. McKenna, H.J., K.L. Stocking, R.E. Miller, K. Brasel, T. De Smedt, E. Maraskovsky, C.R. Maliszewski, D.H. Lynch, J. Smith, B. Pulendran, E.R. Roux, M. Teepe, S.D. Lyman, and J.J. Peschon. 2000. Mice lacking flt3 ligand have deficient hematopoiesis affecting hematopoietic progenitor cells, dendritic cells, and natural killer cells. *Blood* 95:3489-3497.

- 117. Manfra, D.J., S.C. Chen, K.K. Jensen, J.S. Fine, M.T. Wiekowski, and S.A. Lira. 2003. Conditional expression of murine Flt3 ligand leads to expansion of multiple dendritic cell subsets in peripheral blood and tissues of transgenic mice. *J Immunol* 170:2843-2852.
- 118. Favre-Felix, N., M. Martin, E. Maraskovsky, A. Fromentin, M. Moutet, E. Solary, F. Martin, and B. Bonnotte. 2000. Flt3 ligand lessens the growth of tumors obtained after colon cancer cell injection in rats but does not restore tumor-suppressed dendritic cell function. *Int J Cancer* 86:827-834.
- Esche, C., V.M. Subbotin, C. Maliszewski, M.T. Lotze, and M.R. Shurin.
 1998. FLT3 ligand administration inhibits tumor growth in murine melanoma and lymphoma. *Cancer Res* 58:380-383.
- 120. Lynch, D.H., A. Andreasen, E. Maraskovsky, J. Whitmore, R.E. Miller, and J.C. Schuh. 1997. Flt3 ligand induces tumor regression and antitumor immune responses in vivo. *Nat Med* 3:625-631.
- 121. Alsheikhly, A.R., J. Zweiri, A.J. Walmesley, A.J. Watson, and S.E. Christmas. 2004. Both soluble and membrane-bound forms of Flt3 ligand enhance tumor immunity following "suicide" gene therapy in a murine colon carcinoma model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 53:946-954.
- 122. Ciavarra, R.P., K.D. Somers, R.R. Brown, W.F. Glass, P.J. Consolvo, G.L. Wright, and P.F. Schellhammer. 2000. Flt3-ligand induces transient tumor regression in an ectopic treatment model of major histocompatibility complex-negative prostate cancer. *Cancer Res* 60:2081-2084.
- 123. Morse, M.A., S. Nair, M. Fernandez-Casal, Y. Deng, M. St Peter, R. Williams, A. Hobeika, P. Mosca, T. Clay, R.I. Cumming, E. Fisher, P. Clavien, A.D. Proia, D. Niedzwiecki, D. Caron, and H.K. Lyerly. 2000. Preoperative mobilization of circulating dendritic cells by Flt3 ligand administration to patients with metastatic colon cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 18:3883-3893.
- 124. Ciavarra, R.P., R.R. Brown, D.A. Holterman, M. Garrett, W.F. Glass, 2nd, G.L. Wright, Jr., P.F. Schellhammer, and K.D. Somers. 2003. Impact of the tumor microenvironment on host infiltrating cells and the efficacy of flt3-ligand combination immunotherapy evaluated in a treatment model of mouse prostate cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 52:535-545.
- 125. Mosca, P.J., A.C. Hobeika, K. Colling, T.M. Clay, E.K. Thomas, D. Caron, H.K. Lyerly, and M.A. Morse. 2002. Multiple signals are required for maturation of human dendritic cells mobilized in vivo with Flt3 ligand. *J Leukoc Biol* 72:546-553.
- 126. Davis, I.D., Q. Chen, L. Morris, J. Quirk, M. Stanley, M.L. Tavarnesi, P. Parente, T. Cavicchiolo, W. Hopkins, H. Jackson, N. Dimopoulos, T.Y. Tai, D. MacGregor, J. Browning, S. Svobodova, D. Caron, E. Maraskovsky, L.J. Old, W. Chen, and J. Cebon. 2006. Blood dendritic cells generated with Flt3 ligand and CD40 ligand prime CD8+ T cells efficiently in cancer patients. *J Immunother* 29:499-511.
- 127. Durie, F.H., T.M. Foy, S.R. Masters, J.D. Laman, and R.J. Noelle. 1994. The role of CD40 in the regulation of humoral and cell-mediated immunity. *Immunol Today* 15:406-411.

- 128. Borrow, P., A. Tishon, S. Lee, J. Xu, I.S. Grewal, M.B. Oldstone, and R.A. Flavell. 1996. CD40L-deficient mice show deficits in antiviral immunity and have an impaired memory CD8+ CTL response. *J Exp Med* 183:2129-2142.
- 129. O'Sullivan, B., and R. Thomas. 2003. CD40 and dendritic cell function. *Crit Rev Immunol* 83-107.
- 130. Cella, M., D. Scheidegger, K. Palmer-Lehmann, P. Lane, A. Lanzavecchia, and G. Alber. 1996. Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. J Exp Med 184:747-752.
- 131. Serba, S., J. Schmidt, N. Wentzensen, E. Ryschich, and A. Marten. 2007. Transfection with CD40L induces tumoursuppression by dendritic cell activation in an orthotopic mouse model of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *Gut*
- 132. Inaba, K., M. Inaba, N. Romani, H. Aya, M. Deguchi, S. Ikehara, S. Muramatsu, and R.M. Steinman. 1992. Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *J Exp Med* 176:1693-1702.
- 133. Ruef, C., and D.L. Coleman. 1990. Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor: pleiotropic cytokine with potential clinical usefulness. *Rev Infect Dis* 12:41-62.
- Chiba, S., A. Tojo, T. Kitamura, A. Urabe, K. Miyazono, and F. Takaku.
 1990. Characterization and molecular features of the cell surface receptor for human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Leukemia* 4:29-36.
- 135. Mach, N., S. Gillessen, S.B. Wilson, C. Sheehan, M. Mihm, and G. Dranoff. 2000. Differences in dendritic cells stimulated in vivo by tumors engineered to secrete granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor or Flt3-ligand. *Cancer Res* 60:3239-3246.
- 136. Soiffer, R., T. Lynch, M. Mihm, K. Jung, C. Rhuda, J.C. Schmollinger, F.S. Hodi, L. Liebster, P. Lam, S. Mentzer, S. Singer, K.K. Tanabe, A.B. Cosimi, R. Duda, A. Sober, A. Bhan, J. Daley, D. Neuberg, G. Parry, J. Rokovich, L. Richards, J. Drayer, A. Berns, S. Clift, L.K. Cohen, R.C. Mulligan, and G. Dranoff. 1998. Vaccination with irradiated autologous melanoma cells engineered to secrete human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor generates potent antitumor immunity in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95;13141-13146.
- 137. Ciavarra, R.P., D.A. Holterman, R.R. Brown, P. Mangiotti, N. Yousefieh, G.L. Wright, Jr., P.F. Schellhammer, W.F. Glass, and K.D. Somers. 2004. Prostate tumor microenvironment alters immune cells and prevents longterm survival in an orthotopic mouse model following flt3-ligand/CD40ligand immunotherapy. *J Immunother* 27:13-26.
- 138. Bai, X.F., J.X. Gao, J. Liu, J. Wen, P. Zheng, and Y. Liu. 2001. On the site and mode of antigen presentation for the initiation of clonal expansion of

CD8 T cells specific for a natural tumor antigen. *Cancer Res* 61:6860-6867.

- Forster, R., A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf, and M. Lipp. 1999. CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* 99:23-33.
- 140. Gunn, M.D., S. Kyuwa, C. Tam, T. Kakiuchi, A. Matsuzawa, L.T. Williams, and H. Nakano. 1999. Mice lacking expression of secondary lymphoid organ chemokine have defects in lymphocyte homing and dendritic cell localization. *J Exp Med* 189:451-460.
- 141. Sallusto, F., P. Schaerli, P. Loetscher, C. Schaniel, D. Lenig, C.R. Mackay, S. Qin, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1998. Rapid and coordinated switch in chemokine receptor expression during dendritic cell maturation. *Eur J Immunol* 28:2760-2769.
- 142. Potsch, C., D. Vohringer, and H. Pircher. 1999. Distinct migration patterns of naive and effector CD8 T cells in the spleen: correlation with CCR7 receptor expression and chemokine reactivity. *Eur J Immunol* 29:3562-3570.
- 143. Sharma, S., M. Stolina, J. Luo, R.M. Strieter, M. Burdick, L.X. Zhu, R.K. Batra, and S.M. Dubinett. 2000. Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine mediates T cell-dependent antitumor responses in vivo. *J Immunol* 164:4558-4563.
- 144. Vicari, A.P., C. Chiodoni, C. Vaure, S. Ait-Yahia, C. Dercamp, F. Matsos, O. Reynard, C. Taverne, P. Merle, M.P. Colombo, A. O'Garra, G. Trinchieri, and C. Caux. 2002. Reversal of tumor-induced dendritic cell paralysis by CpG immunostimulatory oligonucleotide and anti-interleukin 10 receptor antibody. J Exp Med 196:541-549.
- 145. Saijo, Y., M. Tanaka, M. Miki, K. Usui, T. Suzuki, M. Maemondo, X. Hong, R. Tazawa, T. Kikuchi, K. Matsushima, and T. Nukiwa. 2002. Proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 beta promotes tumor growth of Lewis lung carcinoma by induction of angiogenic factors: in vivo analysis of tumorstromal interaction. *J Immunol* 469-475.
- 146. Frey, A.B. 2006. Myeloid suppressor cells regulate the adaptive immune response to cancer. *J Clin Invest* 116:2587-2590.
- 147. Hynes, N.E., N. Kennedy, U. Rahmsdorf, and B. Groner. 1981. Hormoneresponsive expression of an endogenous proviral gene of mouse mammary tumor virus after molecular cloning and gene transfer into cultured cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 78:2038-2042.
- 148. Klock, G., U. Strahle, and G. Schutz. 1987. Oestrogen and glucocorticoid responsive elements are closely related but distinct. *Nature* 329:734-736.
- 149. Kothary, R., S. Clapoff, S. Darling, M.D. Perry, L.A. Moran, and J. Rossant. 1989. Inducible expression of an hsp68-lacZ hybrid gene in transgenic mice. *Development* 105:707-714.
- 150. Campbell, S.J., F. Carlotti, P.A. Hall, A.J. Clark, and C.R. Wolf. 1996. Regulation of the CYP1A1 promoter in transgenic mice: an exquisitely

sensitive on-off system for cell specific gene regulation. *J Cell Sci* 109 (Pt 11):2619-2625.

- Jones, S.N., P.G. Jones, H. Ibarguen, C.T. Caskey, and W.J. Craigen.
 1991. Induction of the Cyp1a-1 dioxin-responsive enhancer in transgenic mice. *Nucleic Acids Res* 19:6547-6551.
- 152. Jones, P.A., W. Gevers, and A.O. Hawtrey. 1973. Evidence for the binding of the carcinogen 3-methylcholanthrene to both the purine and the pyrimidine bases of hamster fibroblast deoxyribonucleic acid. *Biochem J* 135:375-378.
- 153. Kenny, P.A., T. Enver, and A. Ashworth. 2002. Retroviral vectors for establishing tetracycline-regulated gene expression in an otherwise recalcitrant cell line. *BMC Mol Biol* 3:13.
- 154. Favre, D., V. Blouin, N. Provost, R. Spisek, F. Porrot, D. Bohl, F. Marme, Y. Cherel, A. Salvetti, B. Hurtrel, J.M. Heard, Y. Riviere, and P. Moullier. 2002. Lack of an immune response against the tetracycline-dependent transactivator correlates with long-term doxycycline-regulated transgene expression in nonhuman primates after intramuscular injection of recombinant adeno-associated virus. *J Virol* 76:11605-11611.
- 155. Eger, K., M. Hermes, K. Uhlemann, S. Rodewald, J. Ortwein, M. Brulport, A.W. Bauer, W. Schormann, F. Lupatsch, I.B. Schiffer, C.K. Heimerdinger, S. Gebhard, C. Spangenberg, D. Prawitt, T. Trost, B. Zabel, C. Sauer, B. Tanner, H. Kolbl, U. Krugel, H. Franke, P. Illes, P. Madaj-Sterba, E.O. Bockamp, T. Beckers, and J.G. Hengstler. 2004. 4-Epidoxycycline: an alternative to doxycycline to control gene expression in conditional mouse models. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 323:979-986.
- 156. Lee, P., G. Morley, Q. Huang, A. Fischer, S. Seiler, J.W. Horner, S. Factor, D. Vaidya, J. Jalife, and G.I. Fishman. 1998. Conditional lineage ablation to model human diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95:11371-11376.
- 157. Furth, P.A., L. St Onge, H. Boger, P. Gruss, M. Gossen, A. Kistner, H. Bujard, and L. Hennighausen. 1994. Temporal control of gene expression in transgenic mice by a tetracycline-responsive promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91:9302-9306.
- Greenberg, N.M., F. DeMayo, M.J. Finegold, D. Medina, W.D. Tilley, J.O. Aspinall, G.R. Cunha, A.A. Donjacour, R.J. Matusik, and J.M. Rosen. 1995. Prostate cancer in a transgenic mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:3439-3443.
- 159. Ludlow, J.W. 1993. Interactions between SV40 large-tumor antigen and the growth suppressor proteins pRB and p53. *FASEB J* 866-871.
- Foster, B.A., J.R. Gingrich, E.D. Kwon, C. Madias, and N.M. Greenberg. 1997. Characterization of prostatic epithelial cell lines derived from transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate (TRAMP) model. *Cancer Res* 57:3325-3330.
- 161. Kwon, E.D., B.A. Foster, A.A. Hurwitz, C. Madias, J.P. Allison, N.M. Greenberg, and M.B. Burg. 1999. Elimination of residual metastatic prostate cancer after surgery and adjunctive cytotoxic T lymphocyte-

associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) blockade immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:15074-15079.

- 162. Somers, K.D., R.R. Brown, D.A. Holterman, N. Yousefieh, W.F. Glass, G.L. Wright, Jr., P.F. Schellhammer, J. Qian, and R.P. Ciavarra. 2003. Orthotopic treatment model of prostate cancer and metastasis in the immunocompetent mouse: efficacy of flt3 ligand immunotherapy. Int J Cancer 107:773-780.
- 163. Gaiger, A., V. Reese, M.L. Disis, and M.A. Cheever. 2000. Immunity to WT1 in the animal model and in patients with acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood* 96:1480-1489.
- 164. Fasso, M., R. Waitz, Y. Hou, T. Rim, N.M. Greenberg, N. Shastri, L. Fong, and J.P. Allison. 2008. SPAS-1 (stimulator of prostatic adenocarcinomaspecific T cells)/SH3GLB2: A prostate tumor antigen identified by CTLA-4 blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 3509-3514.
- 165. Zhang, L., J.R. Conejo-Garcia, D. Katsaros, P.A. Gimotty, M. Massobrio, G. Regnani, A. Makrigiannakis, H. Gray, K. Schlienger, M.N. Liebman, S.C. Rubin, and G. Coukos. 2003. Intratumoral T cells, recurrence, and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. N Engl J Med 348:203-213.
- 166. Nestle, F.O., A. Farkas, and C. Conrad. 2005. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic vaccination against cancer. *Curr Opin Immunol* 17:163-169.
- 167. Lechmann, M., S. Berchtold, J. Hauber, and A. Steinkasserer. 2002. CD83 on dendritic cells: more than just a marker for maturation. *Trends Immunol* 273-275.
- 168. Fujimoto, Y., L. Tu, A.S. Miller, C. Bock, M. Fujimoto, C. Doyle, D.A. Steeber, and T.F. Tedder. 2002. CD83 expression influences CD4+ T cell development in the thymus. *Cell* 755-767.
- 169. Trombetta, E.S., M. Ebersold, W. Garrett, M. Pypaert, and I. Mellman. 2003. Activation of lysosomal function during dendritic cell maturation. *Science* 1400-1403.
- 170. O'Neill, D.W., S. Adams, and N. Bhardwaj. 2004. Manipulating dendritic cell biology for the active immunotherapy of cancer. *Blood* 2235-2246.
- 171. Marsland, B.J., P. Battig, M. Bauer, C. Ruedl, U. Lassing, R.R. Beerli, K. Dietmeier, L. Ivanova, T. Pfister, L. Vogt, H. Nakano, C. Nembrini, P. Saudan, M. Kopf, and M.F. Bachmann. 2005. CCL19 and CCL21 induce a potent proinflammatory differentiation program in licensed dendritic cells. *Immunity* 493-505.
- 172. Banchereau, J., and R.M. Steinman. 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* 392:245-252.
- 173. Mbow, M.L., N. Zeidner, N. Panella, R.G. Titus, and J. Piesman. 1997. Borrelia burgdorferi-pulsed dendritic cells induce a protective immune response against tick-transmitted spirochetes. *Infect Immun* 65:3386-3390.
- 174. Gabrilovich, D.I., S. Nadaf, J. Corak, J.A. Berzofsky, and D.P. Carbone. 1996. Dendritic cells in antitumor immune responses. II. Dendritic cells grown from bone marrow precursors, but not mature DC from tumor-

bearing mice, are effective antigen carriers in the therapy of established tumors. *Cell Immunol* 111-119.

- 175. Esche, C., A. Lokshin, G.V. Shurin, B.R. Gastman, H. Rabinowich, S.C. Watkins, M.T. Lotze, and M.R. Shurin. 1999. Tumor's other immune targets: dendritic cells. *J Leukoc Biol* 336-344.
- 176. Schmielau, J., and O.J. Finn. 2001. Activated granulocytes and granulocyte-derived hydrogen peroxide are the underlying mechanism of suppression of t-cell function in advanced cancer patients. *Cancer Res* 61:4756-4760.
- 177. Gabrilovich, D.I., H.L. Chen, K.R. Girgis, H.T. Cunningham, G.M. Meny, S. Nadaf, D. Kavanaugh, and D.P. Carbone. 1996. Production of vascular endothelial growth factor by human tumors inhibits the functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 1096-1103.
- 178. de Caestecker, M. 2004. The transforming growth factor-beta superfamily of receptors. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* 1-11.
- 179. Serafini, P., I. Borrello, and V. Bronte. 2006. Myeloid suppressor cells in cancer: recruitment, phenotype, properties, and mechanisms of immune suppression. *Semin Cancer Biol* 16:53-65.
- 180. De Smedt, T., B. Pajak, E. Muraille, L. Lespagnard, E. Heinen, P. De Baetselier, J. Urbain, O. Leo, and M. Moser. 1996. Regulation of dendritic cell numbers and maturation by lipopolysaccharide in vivo. *J Exp Med* 1413-1424.
- 181. Kwon, E.D., B.A. Foster, A.A. Hurwitz, C. Madias, J.P. Allison, N.M. Greenberg, and M.B. Burg. 1999. Elimination of residual metastatic prostate cancer after surgery and adjunctive cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) blockade immunotherapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:15074-15079.
- Luther, S.A., A. Bidgol, D.C. Hargreaves, A. Schmidt, Y. Xu, J. Paniyadi, M. Matloubian, and J.G. Cyster. 2002. Differing activities of homeostatic chemokines CCL19, CCL21, and CXCL12 in lymphocyte and dendritic cell recruitment and lymphoid neogenesis. *J Immunol* 424-433.
- 183. Ridge, J.P., F. Di Rosa, and P. Matzinger. 1998. A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ T-helper and a T-killer cell. *Nature* 393:474-478.
- 184. Caux, C., C. Dezutter-Dambuyant, D. Schmitt, and J. Banchereau. 1992. GM-CSF and TNF-alpha cooperate in the generation of dendritic Langerhans cells. *Nature* 360:258-261.
- 185. Zhou, L.J., and T.F. Tedder. 1996. CD14+ blood monocytes can differentiate into functionally mature CD83+ dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93:2588-2592.
- 186. Reddy, A., M. Sapp, M. Feldman, M. Subklewe, and N. Bhardwaj. 1997. A monocyte conditioned medium is more effective than defined cytokines in mediating the terminal maturation of human dendritic cells. *Blood* 90:3640-3646.
- 187. Buelens, C., V. Verhasselt, D. De Groote, K. Thielemans, M. Goldman, and F. Willems. 1997. Human dendritic cell responses to

lipopolysaccharide and CD40 ligation are differentially regulated by interleukin-10. *Eur J Immunol* 27:1848-1852.

- 188. Jakob, T., P.S. Walker, A.M. Krieg, M.C. Udey, and J.C. Vogel. 1998. Activation of cutaneous dendritic cells by CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides: a role for dendritic cells in the augmentation of Th1 responses by immunostimulatory DNA. *J Immunol* 161:3042-3049.
- 189. Hartmann, G., G.J. Weiner, and A.M. Krieg. 1999. CpG DNA: a potent signal for growth, activation, and maturation of human dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96:9305-9310.
- 190. Cella, M., M. Salio, Y. Sakakibara, H. Langen, I. Julkunen, and A. Lanzavecchia. 1999. Maturation, activation, and protection of dendritic cells induced by double-stranded RNA. *J Exp Med* 189:821-829.
- Terheyden, P., P. Straten, E.B. Brocker, E. Kampgen, and J.C. Becker. 2000. CD40-ligated dendritic cells effectively expand melanoma-specific CD8+ CTLs and CD4+ IFN-gamma-producing T cells from tumorinfiltrating lymphocytes. *J Immunol* 164:6633-6639.
- 192. Romani, N., A. Lenz, H. Glassel, H. Stossel, U. Stanzl, O. Majdic, P. Fritsch, and G. Schuler. 1989. Cultured human Langerhans cells resemble lymphoid dendritic cells in phenotype and function. *J Invest Dermatol* 93:600-609.
- 193. Chen, X., Q. Tao, H. Yu, L. Zhang, and X. Cao. 2002. Tumor cell membrane-bound heat shock protein 70 elicits antitumor immunity. *Immunol Lett* 84:81-87.
- 194. Kim, S., Z.G. Fridlender, R. Dunn, M.R. Kehry, V. Kapoor, A. Blouin, L.R. Kaiser, and S.M. Albelda. 2008. B-cell depletion using an anti-CD20 antibody augments antitumor immune responses and immunotherapy in nonhematopoetic murine tumor models. *J Immunother* 446-457.
- 195. Escher, G., A. Hoang, S. Georges, U. Tchoua, A. El-Osta, Z. Krozowski, and D. Sviridov. 2005. Demethylation using the epigenetic modifier, 5azacytidine, increases the efficiency of transient transfection of macrophages. *J Lipid Res* 46:356-365.
- 196. Chen, Z., P.S. Malhotra, G.R. Thomas, F.G. Ondrey, D.C. Duffey, C.W. Smith, I. Enamorado, N.T. Yeh, G.S. Kroog, S. Rudy, L. McCullagh, S. Mousa, M. Quezado, L.L. Herscher, and C. Van Waes. 1999. Expression of proinflammatory and proangiogenic cytokines in patients with head and neck cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 1369-1379.
- 197. Menegazzi, R., R. Cramer, P. Patriarca, P. Scheurich, and P. Dri. 1994. Evidence that tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF)-induced activation of neutrophil respiratory burst on biologic surfaces is mediated by the p55 TNF receptor. *Blood* 287-293.
- 198. Chen, Q., V. Daniel, D.W. Maher, and P. Hersey. 1994. Production of IL-10 by melanoma cells: examination of its role in immunosuppression mediated by melanoma. *Int J Cancer* 755-760.
- 199. Stolina, M., S. Sharma, Y. Lin, M. Dohadwala, B. Gardner, J. Luo, L. Zhu, M. Kronenberg, P.W. Miller, J. Portanova, J.C. Lee, and S.M. Dubinett.

2000. Specific inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 restores antitumor reactivity by altering the balance of IL-10 and IL-12 synthesis. *J Immunol* 361-370.

- 200. Kusmartsev, S., and D.I. Gabrilovich. 2003. Inhibition of myeloid cell differentiation in cancer: the role of reactive oxygen species. *J Leukoc Biol* 186-196.
- 201. Bronte, V., M. Wang, W.W. Overwijk, D.R. Surman, F. Pericle, S.A. Rosenberg, and N.P. Restifo. 1998. Apoptotic death of CD8+ T lymphocytes after immunization: induction of a suppressive population of Mac-1+/Gr-1+ cells. *J Immunol* 5313-5320.
- 202. Li, Q., P.Y. Pan, P. Gu, D. Xu, and S.H. Chen. 2004. Role of immature myeloid Gr-1+ cells in the development of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res* 1130-1139.
- 203. Gabrilovich, D.I., M.P. Velders, E.M. Sotomayor, and W.M. Kast. 2001. Mechanism of immune dysfunction in cancer mediated by immature Gr-1+ myeloid cells. *J Immunol* 5398-5406.
- 204. Otsuji, M., Y. Kimura, T. Aoe, Y. Okamoto, and T. Saito. 1996. Oxidative stress by tumor-derived macrophages suppresses the expression of CD3 zeta chain of T-cell receptor complex and antigen-specific T-cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 13119-13124.
- 205. Kusmartsev, S., Y. Nefedova, D. Yoder, and D.I. Gabrilovich. 2004. Antigen-specific inhibition of CD8+ T cell response by immature myeloid cells in cancer is mediated by reactive oxygen species. *J Immunol* 989-999.
- 206. Chaux, P., N. Favre, M. Martin, and F. Martin. 1997. Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cells are defective in their antigen-presenting function and inducible B7 expression in rats. *Int J Cancer* 619-624.
- 207. Schmidt, T., C. Ziske, A. Marten, S. Endres, K. Tiemann, V. Schmitz, M. Gorschluter, C. Schneider, T. Sauerbruch, and I.G. Schmidt-Wolf. 2003. Intratumoral immunization with tumor RNA-pulsed dendritic cells confers antitumor immunity in a C57BL/6 pancreatic murine tumor model. *Cancer Res* 8962-8967.
- 208. Welman, A., C. Cawthorne, J. Barraclough, N. Smith, G.J. Griffiths, R.L. Cowen, J.C. Williams, I.J. Stratford, and C. Dive. 2005. Construction and characterization of multiple human colon cancer cell lines for inducibly regulated gene expression. *J Cell Biochem* 1148-1162.
- 209. Pollack, J.R. 2006. Chromosome instability leaves its mark. *Nat Genet* 973-974.
- 210. Loser, P., G.S. Jennings, M. Strauss, and V. Sandig. 1998. Reactivation of the previously silenced cytomegalovirus major immediate-early promoter in the mouse liver: involvement of NFkappaB. *J Virol* 180-190.
- 211. Grassi, G., P. Maccaroni, R. Meyer, H. Kaiser, E. D'Ambrosio, E. Pascale, M. Grassi, A. Kuhn, P. Di Nardo, R. Kandolf, and J.H. Kupper. 2003. Inhibitors of DNA methylation and histone deacetylation activate cytomegalovirus promoter-controlled reporter gene expression in human glioblastoma cell line U87. *Carcinogenesis* 1625-1635.

- 212. Copier, J., and A. Dalgleish. 2006. Overview of tumor cell-based vaccines. Int Rev Immunol 297-319.
- 213. Fearon, E.R., D.M. Pardoll, T. Itaya, P. Golumbek, H.I. Levitsky, J.W. Simons, H. Karasuyama, B. Vogelstein, and P. Frost. 1990. Interleukin-2 production by tumor cells bypasses T helper function in the generation of an antitumor response. *Cell* 397-403.
- 214. Dranoff, G. 1998. Cancer gene therapy: connecting basic research with clinical inquiry. *J Clin Oncol* 2548-2556.
- 215. Noelle, R.J., M. Roy, D.M. Shepherd, I. Stamenkovic, J.A. Ledbetter, and A. Aruffo. 1992. A 39-kDa protein on activated helper T cells binds CD40 and transduces the signal for cognate activation of B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 6550-6554.
- 216. Costello, R.T., J.A. Gastaut, and D. Olive. 1999. What is the real role of CD40 in cancer immunotherapy? *Immunol Today* 20:488-493.
- 217. Munroe, M.E., and G.A. Bishop. 2007. A costimulatory function for T cell CD40. *J Immunol* 671-682.
- 218. Grossmann, M.E., M.P. Brown, and M.K. Brenner. 1997. Antitumor responses induced by transgenic expression of CD40 ligand. *Hum Gene Ther* 1935-1943.
- 219. Dzojic, H., A. Loskog, T.H. Totterman, and M. Essand. 2006. Adenovirusmediated CD40 ligand therapy induces tumor cell apoptosis and systemic immunity in the TRAMP-C2 mouse prostate cancer model. *Prostate* 831-838.
- Saeki, H., A.M. Moore, M.J. Brown, and S.T. Hwang. 1999. Cutting edge: secondary lymphoid-tissue chemokine (SLC) and CC chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7) participate in the emigration pathway of mature dendritic cells from the skin to regional lymph nodes. *J Immunol* 2472-2475.
- Kirk, C.J., D. Hartigan-O'Connor, B.J. Nickoloff, J.S. Chamberlain, M. Giedlin, L. Aukerman, and J.J. Mule. 2001. T cell-dependent antitumor immunity mediated by secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine: augmentation of dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* 2062-2070.
- 222. Nomura, T., H. Hasegawa, M. Kohno, M. Sasaki, and S. Fujita. 2001. Enhancement of anti-tumor immunity by tumor cells transfected with the secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine EBI-1-ligand chemokine and stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha chemokine genes. *Int J Cancer* 597-606.
- 223. Sharma, S., M. Stolina, L. Zhu, Y. Lin, R. Batra, M. Huang, R. Strieter, and S.M. Dubinett. 2001. Secondary lymphoid organ chemokine reduces pulmonary tumor burden in spontaneous murine bronchoalveolar cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res* 6406-6412.
- 224. Ochsenbein, A.F., P. Klenerman, U. Karrer, B. Ludewig, M. Pericin, H. Hengartner, and R.M. Zinkernagel. 1999. Immune surveillance against a solid tumor fails because of immunological ignorance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2233-2238.

- 225. Liang, C.M., C.P. Zhong, R.X. Sun, B.B. Liu, C. Huang, J. Qin, S. Zhou, J. Shan, Y.K. Liu, and S.L. Ye. 2007. Local expression of secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine delivered by adeno-associated virus within the tumor bed stimulates strong anti-liver tumor immunity. *J Virol* 9502-9511.
- 226. Fan, L., C.R. Reilly, Y. Luo, M.E. Dorf, and D. Lo. 2000. Cutting edge: ectopic expression of the chemokine TCA4/SLC is sufficient to trigger lymphoid neogenesis. *J Immunol* 3955-3959.
- 227. Soto, H., W. Wang, R.M. Strieter, N.G. Copeland, D.J. Gilbert, N.A. Jenkins, J. Hedrick, and A. Zlotnik. 1998. The CC chemokine 6Ckine binds the CXC chemokine receptor CXCR3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 8205-8210.
- 228. Kanegane, C., C. Sgadari, H. Kanegane, J. Teruya-Feldstein, L. Yao, G. Gupta, J.M. Farber, F. Liao, L. Liu, and G. Tosato. 1998. Contribution of the CXC chemokines IP-10 and Mig to the antitumor effects of IL-12. *J Leukoc Biol* 384-392.
- 229. Arenberg, D.A., A. Zlotnick, S.R. Strom, M.D. Burdick, and R.M. Strieter. 2001. The murine CC chemokine, 6C-kine, inhibits tumor growth and angiogenesis in a human lung cancer SCID mouse model. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 587-592.
- 230. Mantovani, A., B. Bottazzi, F. Colotta, S. Sozzani, and L. Ruco. 1992. The origin and function of tumor-associated macrophages. *Immunol Today* 265-270.
- 231. Pikarsky, E., R.M. Porat, I. Stein, R. Abramovitch, S. Amit, S. Kasem, E. Gutkovich-Pyest, S. Urieli-Shoval, E. Galun, and Y. Ben-Neriah. 2004. NF-kappaB functions as a tumour promoter in inflammation-associated cancer. *Nature* 461-466.
- 232. Coussens, L.M., and Z. Werb. 2002. Inflammation and cancer. *Nature* 860-867.
- 233. Yang, L., L.M. DeBusk, K. Fukuda, B. Fingleton, B. Green-Jarvis, Y. Shyr, L.M. Matrisian, D.P. Carbone, and P.C. Lin. 2004. Expansion of myeloid immune suppressor Gr+CD11b+ cells in tumor-bearing host directly promotes tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell* 409-421.
- 234. Bergers, G., R. Brekken, G. McMahon, T.H. Vu, T. Itoh, K. Tamaki, K. Tanzawa, P. Thorpe, S. Itohara, Z. Werb, and D. Hanahan. 2000. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 triggers the angiogenic switch during carcinogenesis. *Nat Cell Biol* 737-744.
- 235. Lewis, J.S., R.J. Landers, J.C. Underwood, A.L. Harris, and C.E. Lewis. 2000. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by macrophages is up-regulated in poorly vascularized areas of breast carcinomas. *J Pathol* 150-158.
- 236. Schoppmann, S.F., A. Fenzl, K. Nagy, S. Unger, G. Bayer, S. Geleff, M. Gnant, R. Horvat, R. Jakesz, and P. Birner. 2006. VEGF-C expressing tumor-associated macrophages in lymph node positive breast cancer: impact on lymphangiogenesis and survival. *Surgery* 839-846.

- 237. Yuan, A., J.J. Chen, P.L. Yao, and P.C. Yang. 2005. The role of interleukin-8 in cancer cells and microenvironment interaction. *Front Biosci* 853-865.
- 238. Lin, E.Y., A.V. Nguyen, R.G. Russell, and J.W. Pollard. 2001. Colonystimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. *J Exp Med* 727-740.
- 239. Kusmartsev, S., F. Cheng, B. Yu, Y. Nefedova, E. Sotomayor, R. Lush, and D. Gabrilovich. 2003. All-trans-retinoic acid eliminates immature myeloid cells from tumor-bearing mice and improves the effect of vaccination. *Cancer Res* 4441-4449.
- 240. Ribas, A., L.H. Butterfield, J.A. Glaspy, and J.S. Economou. 2003. Current developments in cancer vaccines and cellular immunotherapy. *J Clin Oncol* 2415-2432.

APPENDICES

A. ADDITIONAL REAGENTS:

Tumor digestion buffer (in 20ml 1X PBS):

20mg/20ml Collagenase Type I (Sigma)

0.20mg/20ml DNase I (Sigma)

50U/20ml Hylauronidase (Sigma)

Red blood cell lysis buffer:

Reagent 1: 15gr NH₄Cl added to 1L of sterile, distilled water.

Reagent 2: 12.5ml Na₂HPO₄ (0.5M)

3.9ml sterile NaH_2PO_4 (0.5M)

The solution was brought up to 240ml with sterile water. The pH was adjusted to

7.2 using concentrated HCl and filter sterilized.

To prepare the red blood lysis buffer:

1 part reagent1 was mixed with 1 part reagent 2 and stored at 4°C.

Wash buffer for flow cytometery:

0.1% Goat serum

0.01% sodium azide in 1X PBS

B: ANTIBODIES

Optimal concentrations of antibodies used for flow cytometry:

| Antibody | Concentration/10 ⁶ cells | Source |
|-------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------|
| APC-GR1 | 0.1µg | eBioscience |
| FITC-CD8a | 0.13µg | eBioscience |
| PE-F4/80 | 0.13µg | eBioscience |
| APC-CD11c | 0.1µg | eBioscience |
| Cy7-B220 (CD45R) | 0.13µg | eBioscience |
| Biotin-anti-GR1 | 0.1µg | eBioscience |
| FITC-MHC class II | 0.5ug | eBioscience |
| FITC-MHC class I | 0.5ug | eBioscience |
| Cy7-CD86 | 0.1ug | Biolegend |
| PE-CD80 | 0.1ug | eBioscience |
| PE-CD40 | 0.1ug | eBioscience |
| PE-B7-DC (PD-L2) | 0.1ug | eBioscience |
| PE-CCR7 | 0.1ug | eBioscience |
| PE-CD154 (CD40L) | 0.1ug | eBioscience |

NAZITA YOUSEFIEH

712 Rocky Run Court, Virginia Beach, Va. 23462 E-mail: nazitaali@yahoo.com or yousefn@evms.edu

Education:

09.2000- 09.2008: PhD Degree in Biomedical Science, Old Dominion University and Eastern Virginia Medical School, Norfolk, Va., USA.

Title of thesis: Gene therapy to modulate prostate tumor microenvironment using tet-repressor system.

09.1996 - 02.1999: M.S. Degree in Biochemistry, Middle East Technical University (METU), Faculty of Arts & Science, Department of Biochemistry, ANKARA-TURKEY (CGPA 3.64).

Title of thesis: Synthesis and Characterization of a Cyclodextrin based artificial Enzyme.

09.1989 - 09.1993: B.S. Degree in Chemistry, Shahid Beheshti University, Department of Chemistry, TEHRAN- IRAN (CGPA 2.99).

09. 1984 - 07. 1988: High School Degree from Bu Ali Sina High School, TEHRAN- IRAN.

Publications:

1- Somers KD, Brown RR, Holterman DA, Yousefieh N, Glass WF, Wright GL Jr, Schellhammer PF, Qian J, Ciavarra RP. Orthotopic treatment model of prostate cancer and metastasis in the immunocompetent mouse: efficacy of flt3 ligand immunotherapy. Int J Cancer. 2003 Dec 10;107(5):773-80.

4- Yousefieh N, Jones C, Ciavarra RP. Impact of the prostate tumor microenvironment on host cell ROS production: identification and molecular characterization of effector molecules. *(manuscript in preparation)*

5- Yousefieh N, Ciavarra RP. Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine inhibited tumor growth and metastasis of prostate tumor when expressed in the tumor microenvironment. *(manuscript in preparation)*

Presentations:

1- Poster presentation, Experimental Biology 2008, San Diego Yousefieh N, Ciavarra R.P.

Title: CCL21 (SLC) inhibits primary prostate tumor growth and metastases 2- Oral presentation, The American Association of Immunologists meeting 2008, Yousefieh N, Ciavarra R.P.

Title: CCL21 (SLC) inhibits primary prostate tumor growth and metastases

Award:

The American Association of Immunologists trainee abstract award, 2008